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Retail Product Portfolio
For Products Approved Through

g ‘
June 30, 2003

Product

Manufacturer

‘Disease State

‘National

Distributors*®

Chronic Granulomatous Disease,

Actimmune® InterMune, Inc. ' Severe Malignant Osteopetrosis, Three
| Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis
Adagen® Enzon, Inc. Sc.vere Combined Immunodeficiency Exclusive to Accredo Health
Disease
Aldurazyme® | Genzyme Corporation MPS. 1 (Hurler, Furler-Scheie, and Two
' Scheie)
Aralast™ Baxter Healthcare Corporation | Alpha-1 Antitrypsin Deficiency Three
Avonex® ‘ Biogen, Inc. - Multiple Sclerosis Not Restricted
Cervical Dystonia .
® g
Botox Allergan, Inc. Cerebral Palsy Syndrome Not Restricted
Cerezyme® " Genzyme Corporation - Gaucher Disease Two
Clotting Factor All Manufacturers Hemophilia Not Restricted
Enbrel® Amgen Inc. Rheumatoid Arthritis Not Restricted
Fabrazyme® Genzyme Corporation | Fabry Disease Two
Flolan® GlaxoSmithKline Ple Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Two 7
]

Growth Hormone

Genentech, Inc.

| Growth Hormone Deficiency

. Not Restricted

Autoimmune Disorders & Primary

Not Restricted J

L

ViG All Manufacturers - Immunodeficiency Disease
Swedish Orphan International
Orfadin® AB distributed by Rare | Hereditary Tyrosinemia Type I | Exclusive to Accredo Health
Disease Therapeutics, Inc. ‘
: . ]
Remodulin® United T.h erapeutics Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Three ‘1
Corporation
Synagis® MedImmune, Inc. Respiratory Syncytial Virus | Three
Tracleer® | Actelion Pharmaceuticals Ltd. | Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Three
Xolair® Genentech, Inc. Moderate/Severe Asthma

Five

*Many biopharmaceutical manufacturers restrict dispensing privileges to one or only a few specialty pharmacies to
take advantage of the dedicated service and attention of a pharmacy like Accredo Health.




COMPARISON OF 50 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN* Revenues
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Cor Ofate business standards. Early in 1998, the Company adopted a
p “Code of Ethics and Business Conduct.” Qur organization-
‘ G Ove rn a n C e wide program, overseen by the Corporate Compliance
‘ Committee and a member of senior management who serves
Recent corporate scandals have increased the focus on as our Compliance Officer, provides strict guidelines for our
corporate compliance and disclosure. With the passage employees to follow, ensures all employees understand what
of the Sarbanes-0xley Act of 2002, all public companies is expected of them through mandatory training sessions, and
are required to establish standards, follow new rules for monitors and documents behaviors. Qur high standards of
disclosure, and set in place checks and balances for executive integrity are put into daily practice, affecting every aspect of
conduct. Accredo has always been committed to solid, ethical our business.

'includes the additional bad debt expense recorded in the March 2003 quarter related to the accounts receivable of the SPS division, which is more fully
discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K included in the back pocket.

2 On page 14 of this Annual Report is an explanation and reconcitiation of net income under GAAP to EBITDA.

Percentages represent growth rate over previous fiscal year.
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David D. Stevens
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

In meeting

each of these
opportunities
and challenges,
our management and employee teams applied new
ideas and innovative solutions with the same focus and
determination that built our Company. Today, we are
continuing to build on this success and are poised to

increase our revenues, earnings, and market share.

Growth

At the start of fiscal year 2003, we were in the early
stages of successfully integrating the newly acquired
Specialty Pharmaceutical Services (SPS) division
of Gentiva Health Services, Inc. This acquisition,
completed in June 2002, significantly advanced our

growth and development strategies.

Our market position improved during the year

because we:

* Integrated a significantly accretive transaction.

* Substantially enhanced our national decentralized
pharmacy network through the addition of the
SPS branches.

* Increased patient numbers within nine of our
product lines, creating significant economies of
scale while providing substantial market share

As I reflect on this past fiscal year, I realize that it

was one of the most eventful in the history of Accredo
Health, Incorporated (NASDAQ; ACDO). We experienced
substantial growth, tremendous challenges, unexpected

developments, and rewarding accomplishments.

opportunities. We now have seven product lines
which each should exceed $100 million

in annual revenues.

Acquired five additional products through the SPS
acquisition and launched five new products during
the fiscal year, lessening our dependence on any
single product.

Strengthened our No. 1 market position in several
product lines, including hemophilia and IVIG,
which allowed us to take advantage of market
supply opportunities and increasing demand.

Addressed our need to establish local access to
clinical expertise, products, and services by adding
the national SPS branches.

+ Increased our revenues, EBITDA’, and cash flow.

Challenges

The SPS integration was demanding in its scope and
immediacy. We acquired a pharmacy division with
both acute and chronic therapies. But, in keeping with
our focus and mission, we strategically retained only a

small number of chronic medications.

Once the acute business was divested, we downsized
or merged operations and facilities. Many employees
were relocated to existing or newly-acquired facilities,
and service sites were changed for approximately

10,000 patients.




We doubled our revenues, tripled our employee base,

and quadrupled our pharmacy locations. All of this was
accomplished while maintaining the highest level of
satisfaction for our patients, manufacturing partners, payors,

and physicians.

Unexpected Developments

Through the best efforts of our employees, we met these
challenges, realigned our operations, and successfully
implemented the SPS acquisition. Although we were able
to accomplish virtually all of our acquisition goals, we were
surprised to discover a number of issues that impacted the
ability to collect the SPS division accounts receivable. These

issues required us to record additional bad debt expense in the

March 2003 quarter.

Accomplishments
We grew our revenues by 110 percent and increased our gross

margins by 26 percent.

The addition of the SPS branches helped us expand our
decentralized service model at our Accredo Therapeutics
subsidiary. This enhances our capabilities to serve more
manufacturers in the future with drug therapies requiring

a local presence.

We were selected by four manufacturers to help launch and
support five new products: Baxter Healthcare Corporation —
Aralast™; Genentech, Inc. — Xolair®; Genzyme Corporation
- Aldurazyme® and Fabrazyme®; and, InterMune, Inc.

- Actimmune®,

The SPS acquisition created new relationships with biotech
manufacturers, payors, physicians, and patients. In addition,

it helped increase our product lines to 18 as of June 30, 2003.

We substantially increased our sales force from approximately
30 to 100 representatives, therefore creating an enhanced

infrastructure for future product promotion.

We continued to focus on margins by selling the infertility
business and discontinuing the sale of several wholesale

products acquired from SPS.

The Board of Directors approved a three-for-two stock split
which resulted in one additional share of common stock being
issued for every two shares held by shareholders of record at
the close of business day on November 15, 2002.

We migrated from six different application platforms to one
integrated system enabling all employees to work together no

matter their location across the country.

Looking Ahead

As we begin fiscal year 2004, our goal is to continue to

strengthen our market leadership position by:

+ Growing market share for each medication we dispense.

+ Maintaining or becoming No. 1 in sales in each of our
product lines.

* Adding new products from the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) pipeline that have the ability to be

long-term market leaders.

+ Maintaining our margins by increasing productivity and
managing the product mix.

* Providing solutions to payors through the strength of our
biopharmaceutical manufacturer relationships.

* Seeking acquisitions that increase our financial and
strategic position.

We will continue to evaluate all of our product lines to
determine the optimum means for achieving solid revenue
growth while maintaining gross profit margin and improving

profitability.

Each year, we face the challenges of our marketplace. While
these challenges are formidable, we remain excited about the
future of our specialty pharmacy sector and our ability to
make a positive difference in the lives of our patients.

We appreciate your participation in our success.

David D. Stevens
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



We didn't grow to serve ourselves — we grew
to better serve our patients, physicians, payors,
and manufacturing partners.

GROWTH

and Excitement

Who says you can't hear a smile Accredo Health is well positioned for
through the phone? At Accredo Health future g rowth.

we understand what it means to put a In 2001 and 2002, many of the potential biotech drugs awaiting

friendly face to the helpful voice you approval from the FDA were delayed. We met our revenue and
earnings expectations by concentrating on growth in same store sales.

hear every day. No matter which member We augmented this success with acquisitions of competitors, which

of the care team you are talking to increased our market share and added new products to our portfolio.

— Clinical Case Manager, Community Since the appointment of a new FDA commissioner in November

Advocate, Pharmacist, or Reimbursement 2002, the number of new biotech drug approvals that fit our niche

criteria has significantly increased. While we will continue to
Specialist — we want you to know us by emphasize same store sales, these new drugs should contribute to our

. ability to continue to grow our revenues and net income.
name. This is Aimee.
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Accredo’s
Criteria
Primarily Injectable:
Patients often have a fear
of needles. Accredo helps
them overcome these
self-injection hurdles with
a variety of educational

programs and emotional
support.

Chronic: Generally these
drugs treat diseases for
which there is no cure and
require lifetime therapy
commitment.

Possible Reactions;
Patients need assistance
in avoiding potential

side effects and adverse
reactions.

Expensive: Accredo drugs
typically fall in the cost
range of $8,000 to $300,000
per year per patient.

Unstable: Accredo
companies specialize

in maintaining rigid
temperature requirements
during shipping and
storage, along with
counseling end-users on
specific reconstitution
instructions to help ensure
these drugs remain stable
and intact.

Regulatory Issues:

The Food and Drug
Administration often places
restrictions and clinical
monitoring requirements as
stipulations of approval.

During fiscal year 2003, Accredo added

five newly approved drugs to our portfolio
through relationships with manufacturers:
Actimmune® from InterMune, Inc. for the
treatment of chronic granulomatous disease
and osteopetrosis; Aldurazyme® from
Genzyme Corporation for the treatment of
MPS 1; Aralast™ from Baxter Healthcare
Corporation used in the treatment of Alpha-1
Antitrypsin Deficiency; Fabrazyme® also from
Genzyme Corporation for the treatment of
Fabry disease; and Xolair® from Genentech,
Inc. for the treatment of allergic asthma. These
additions increased our product portfolio to 18
products as of June 30, 2003. We expect this
approval trend to continue in fiscal year 2004,
accelerating our growth through the addition

of new products.

The Key to Our Success

As a provider of specialized retail pharmacy
and related services to biopharmaceutical
manufacturers, Accredo serves patients
with long-term, chronic diseases. From the
beginning, we decided to concentrate on a

tew market leading medications rather than

dispense all biotech medications, as do many

of our competitors. By focusing on our clinical
expertise, we provide higher levels of service to
our patients and make a positive difference in

their lives.

During FDA Phase Il clinical trials, we

begin to consider drugs that may be awarded

orphan product designation or may prove to

have superior advantages in the marketplace.

We are selective and turn down more products
than we accept. The medications in our current
portfolio represent the market-leading products

in their classes.

Many of the world’s biotech leaders choose to
contract with Accredo Health because of our
proven history of success in the faunch and
support of some of the most successful biotech
drugs. Manufacturers select Accredo because
we can significantly enhance their market
penetration and revenue growth through our

service structure,

Accredo Health offers complete pre- and post-

product launch services including:

* Specific clinical programs providing patient
education, training, and superior outcomes.

* Ongoing communication with the patient
to help ensure compliance and persistence
in medication administration.

Services and programs to help differentiate
the manufacturers’ products or make them
more accessible in the marketplace.

Clinical and reimbursement hotlines to
answer questions regarding therapy or
individual benefits and coverage.

Support for manufacturers’ patient
assistance, replacement drug and other
programs.

Home care coordination for therapies that
may need training or administration in the
patient’s home.

Timely data and analysis from therapy-
focused teams to help manufacturers
forecast trends and take advantage of
opportunities.

Industry
Fact

There are more than 370 biotech drug products and vaccines

currently in clinical trials targeting more than 200 diseases.

July 30, 2003, BIO, Biotechnology Industry Statistics, wvaw.bip.org/er/statistics.asp.



SERVICE
Model

Rayoers!

Referrals

Direct Delivery ¢
~— Primarily to=%1

Patients' Homes }
-

Once we determine that the drug meets our
unique niche characteristics, we design a service
model to meet the specific needs of the product.
In exchange for Accredo Health selling only ‘
one product in a therapeutic category, the
manufacturer often enters into a preferred
relationship and agrees to provide our Company
the kowest cost of goods, support from their
sales representatives, and compensation for
services specific to their product. With this
additional revenue from the manufacturer, we
are able to provide higher levels of service to the

patient, payor, and physician,

Our service begins with a team of pharmacists,
insurance specialists, and customer service
representatives dedicated exclusively to one drug
or a related group of therapies. These teams are
assigned to patient groups geographically or by
insurance provider. Some of these teams are
further enhanced by the assignment of nurses
who case-manage a number of clinical issues
facing the patient. This team-based formula
enables the patients and healthcare providers

to form trusting relationships with us as we

provide long-term therapy support.

Accredo Health’s reimbursement teams

research patients’ benefits and file claims each

Referrals

month to relieve both patients and physicians
of the paperwork hassle. Pharmacy teams
counsel patients to help them understand their
medication, integrate it into their personal lives,
overcome therapy hurdles, and become more

compliant and persistent in their therapy.

When you combine this expertise and personal
attention with our nationwide service ability,
numerous managed care contracts, product-line
specific support services, and our coast-to-coast
facilities, we have what we consider to be the

best formula for success in our industry.

The products we distribute typically have a cost
ranging from $8,000 to $300,000 per year, per
patient. We believe our 18 products represent

a significant percentage of managed care

companies’ biotech medication budgets.

Accredo Health is paid for products and services
in two ways. First, we are paid for dispensing
medications to patients similar to a typical

retail pharmacy. We are also often paid by the
manufacturer to provide additional services.
Our services help simplify the difficult and
often challenging medication process for patients
with chronic diseases and help ensure they

receive and take their medication as prescribed.




To support managed care companies’ commitment to provide a

quality experience for their patient and physician clients, we offer:

* Complete pharmacy and reimbursement support.
» Rapid initiation of therapy, reducing days of hospitalization.

* Appointment or testing reminder services to help ensure the
patients are taking their medications as prescribed.
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+ Case management services to help coordinate total treatment
plans so our patients receive effective care.

* Self-empowerment education to encourage patients and their
caregivers to manage their therapy from home, often alleviating

emergency room visits or hospital stays.

* Superior clinical outcomes providing lower costs to the payors.
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The ATl National Customer Support Center
is staffed 24 hours-a-day, seven days-a-

week by registered nurses.



Industry
Fact

Of the biotech medicines on the market, 70 pvercent

paﬁégg

Accredo’s three subsidiaries have many similarities. All serve
patients with chronic, long-term illnesses who may require clinical
monitoring. All medications we dispense are expensive, are usually
injectable, have potential side effects, and have strict storage and
administration guidelines.

However, our subsidiaries are unique in that each is strategically positioned to serve the
specific needs of the therapies they provide. This focus allows our three management teams

and dedicated work forces to concentrate on their specific drug therapies and to provide

optimal service and expertise.

Same might think Christie's diagnosis of pulmanary arterial hypertension meant she had to

give up something she truly loves — teaching. With the help of Accredo Therapeutics’ staff,
her treatment schedule, and her own determinaticn, she is still able to share joy in one

of her favorite places - the classroom.

were approved in the last six years.

July 30, 2003, BI0, Biotechnology Industry Statistics,
www.bio.org/er/statistics.asp.




‘ A\J \_;j&ﬁ ID{) Accredo Therapeutics, Inc. (ATI) was formed to address
THABAL YIS the need for a decentralized service model. While ATI

dispenses a majority of its pulmonary arterial hypertension

products from a centralized distribution facility, its patients require a substantial
amount of initial training, access to emergency inventory, and ongoing clinical
intervention provided through a nationwide network of local pharmacies. This
local presence also allows for pharmacy services and nursing support for IVIG
and Alpha-1 patients who require a higher level of clinical expertise to administer

therapy in their home.

The ATI National Customer Support Center provides nationwide clinical support
for its PAH patients. Staffed 24 hours-a-day, seven days-a-week by registered
nurses, ATT is the only PAH therapy provider with a call center dedicated to

serving this community.

William is a blur of activity. Whether it is playing soccer, running with his
twin sister, or wrestling with his baby brother, he is always on the go.

There is no way he is going to let his hemophilia siow him down.

Look at that smile! By looking at Jake, you'd never know he needed
IVIG treatment. Isn't that the point of effective therapy? Boys will

be boys. .. Jake shouldn't have to be any different.

The Hemophilia Health Services, Inc. (HHS) staff

concentrates exclusively on one therapy. With more

than 300 employees across the nation, FHHS is the largest
national healthcare company dedicated exclusively to the care of people with
bleeding disorders. It dispenses from two national distribution facilities and
also has dedicated staff in its branches to accommodate local patient support.
HHS has purchasing relationships with all manufacturers to ensure patient

choice and a constant supply of product.




Once a volleyball player for his
national team, Hossein now spends
most of his time serving up bottles
to his san, Aiden John. His Avonex®
therapy allows him to do that with
ease, not letting multiple sclerosis
get in the way of his enjoyment of

his little one.

JR, Nova Factor, Inc. (NFI) dispenses products

NOVA BACTCR,

Her
DEANSAY

nationally through two centralized facilities,
usually into the home, where patients are trained
to reconstitute and inject themselves without nursing support. NFI
primarily dispenses drugs where it has preferred relationships with
manufacturers and typically does not sell competing products.
Patients are assigned therapy-specific tearns, which may be
differentiated by geography or payor to create smaller teams and
foster closer relationships. Patients and healthcare providers have a
team of caring experts who are dedicated to their well-being and are

knowledgeable about the disease state.

Clinical Business Solutions (CBS) offers a broad spectrum of
outsourcing services for the manufacturer, insurance company, or
contract research organization. Registered nurses across the country
and at the CBS centralized call center provide a variety of support
for pre- and post-approval market research studies, clinical trials,
home or office injection training, patient registries, clinical sales, and

physician detailing.




The success of Accredo Health'’s recent acquisitions and growth has been
a direct result of our continuous focus on our original corporate strategy
— to concentrate on a few unique, costly drugs that have shipping and

storage requirements, along with exceptional patient support needs.

We have strengthened our position in the marketplace. Our enhanced
capabilities allow us to better serve our patient, physician, managed care,

and manufacturing clients.

Going forward, we'll stay true to our original vision and continue to
strengthen our position as a leading provider of niche retail pharmacy

services to the biopharmaceutical industry.

Before Synagis®, the infant mortality rate due to respiratory
syncytial virus was quite high. Now, Trevor can look forward

to playgrounds, school, and a promising career.




Shareholder Iinformation

Stock Price

Common Stock Price Range

Year Ended June 30

2003 High Low
First quarter $36.29  $24.87
Second quarter $38.65  $25.19
Third quarter $39.67  $21.02
Fourth quarter $2631  $11.95
2002 High Low
First quarter $26.17  $18.40
Second quarter $27.87  $19.84
Third quarter $38.59  $25.35
Fourth quarter $43.21 $28.00

The Company has no plans to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

Transfer Agent & Registrar
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
6201 15th Street * Brooklyn, NY 11219

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
100 Peabody Place * Memphis, TN 38103

Stock Listing and Shareholders

Accredo Health, Incorporated is traded on the Nasdaq National
Market System under the Symbol ACDO. The approximate number of
shareholders on September 30, 2003, was 19, 173.

Annual Meeting

The Accredo Health annual meeting of shareholders will be held on
Tuesday, November 25, 2003, at 9:00 a.m. at the offices of the Company,
1640 Century Center Parkway, Memphis, TN 38134.

Fiscal Year
Accredo Health, Incorporated’s fiscal year ends June 30.

Supplemental Information

For copies of the Form 10-K report filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission or for additional information about
Accredo Health, please contact: Investor Relations, Accredo Health,
Incorporated, 1640 Century Center Parkway, Suite 101, Memphis, TN
38134-8849,

901.381.7442. email: kfinney@AccredoHealth.com

Trademark Information

Actimmune (interferon gamma 1-b) is a registered trademark of
InterMune, Inc. ‘

Adagen (pegademase bovine) is a registered trademark of Enzon, Inc.

Aldurazyme (laronidase) is a registered trademark of Genzyme
Corporation.

Aralast [alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor (human)] is a trademark of

Alpha
Therapeutics Corporation.

Avonex (interferon beta-1a) is a registered trademark of Biogen, Inc.

Botox (botulinum toxin Type A) is a registered trademark of
Allergan, Inc.

Cerezyme (imiglucerase for injection) is a registered trademark of
Genzyme Corporation.

Enbrel (etanercept) is a registered trademark of Amgen Inc.

Fabrazyme (agalsidase beta) is a registered trademark of
Genzyme Corporation.

Flolan (epoprostenol sodium) is a registered trademark of
GlaxoSmithKline Ple.

Orfadin (nitisinone) is a registered trademark of Swedish Orphan
International AB distributed by Rare Disease Therapeutics, Inc.

Remodulin (trepostinil sodium) is a registered trademark of United
Therapeutics Corporation.

Synagis (palivizumab) is a registered trademark of MedImmune, Inc.

Tracleer (bosentan) s a registered trademark of Actelion
Pharmaceuticals Ltd.

Xolair (omalizumab) for subcutaneous injection is a registered
trademark of Genentech, Inc.

2 When we refer to EBITDA, we mean net income before minority interest, interest expense {income), income tax expense and depreciation and amortization. We
have included EBITDA because we consider it to be a good indication of our ability to generate cash flow in order to liquidate our liahilities and reinvest in our
company. EBITDA is not a measurement of financial performance under generally accepted accounting principles and should not be considered a substitute for
netincome as a measure of performance or to cash flow as a measure of liguidity. A reconciliation of net income under GAAP to EBITDA for the years ended

June 30 is as foliows (in thousands):

2000 2001 2002 2003
Net income $ 9,896 $ 17,255 $ 29,760 $ 29,535
Minority interest in income of consolidated joint venture 177 692 1,273 2,044
Interest expense (income), net 2,136 (2,770) (359) 9,564
Income tax expense 6,508 11,333 19,025 18,252
Depreciation and amartization 3,397 4,263 3,675 10,386
EBITDA $ 22,114 $ 30,773 $ 53,374 $ 69,781
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Thomas W. Bell, Jr.
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and Secretary
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Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
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Kenneth R. Masterson

Director
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and Secretary, FedEx® Corporation
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Director
Partner, Delphi Ventures

David D. Stevens

Director, Chairman,

and Chief Executive Officer
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The Company’s 10-K for fiscal year ended June 30, 2003 is an integral part
of this Annual Report to Shareholders and is included in this pocket. The

10-K includes Selected Consolidated Financial Data, the Company’s Financial

Statements, Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Risk Factors,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations and Business Description.
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In addition to historical information, this Annual Report contains
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the “safe harbor”
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such
statements may be identified by words such as anticipate, believe, estimate,
expect, intend, predict, hope or similar expressions. Such statements,
which include estimated financial information or results, are based on
management’s current expectations and are subject to a number of factors
and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from
those described in the forward-looking statements, including, without
limitation, the loss of a biopharmaceutical relationship, our inability to

sell existing products, the ability to successfully integrate acquisitions, the
impact of pharmaceutical industry regulation, the difficulty of predicting
FDA and other regulatory authority approvals, the regulatory environment
and changes in healthcare policies and structure, the outcome of litigation,
acceptance and demand for new pharmaceutical products and new
therapies, the impact of competitive products and pricing, the ability to
obtain products from suppliers, reliance on strategic alliances, the ability
to expand through joint ventures and acquisitions, the ability to maintain
pricing arrangements with suppliers that preserve margins, the need for
and ability to obtain additional capital, the seasonality and variability of
operating results, the Company’s ability to implement its strategies and
achieve its objectives and the risks and uncertainties described in reports
filed by Accredo Health with the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including
without limitation, cautionary statements made in Accredo’s 2003 Annual
Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Risk Factors.”



SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

- FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission File Number 000-25769

Accredo Health, Incorporated

{Exact name of company as specified in its .charter)

Delaware 62-1642871
(State or other jurisdiction of (IR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

1640 Century Center Pkwy, Suite 101, Memphis, Tennessee 38134
(Address, including Zip Code, of principal executive offices}
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PART I

This report contains “forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements relate to expectations,
beliefs, future plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concerning matters
that are not historical facts or that necessarily depend upon future events. In some cases, you can identify
forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” “plan,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “potential,” and similar expressions. Specifically,
this report contains, among others, forward-looking statements about:

. » our expectations regarding financial condition or results of operations for periods after June 30, 2003;
+ our future sources of and needs for liquidity and capital resources;
+ our critical accounting policies;
» our expectations regarding the size and growth of the market for our products and services;
» our business strategies and our ability to grow our business;
» the implementation or interpretation of current or future regulations and legislation; and

« our ability to maintain contracts and relationships with biopharmaceutical manufacturers such as
Biogen, Genzyme, MedIlmmune, GlaxoSmithKline and Genentech.

The forward-looking statements contained in this report reflect our current views about future events, are
based on assumptions and are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Many important factors
could cause actual results or achievements to differ materially from any future results or achievements
expressed in or implied by our forward-looking statements. Many of the factors that will determine future
events or achievements are beyond our ability to control or predict. Important factors that could cause actual
results or achievements to differ materially from the results or achievements reflected in our forward-looking
statements include, among other things, the risk factors beginning on page 17 hereof.

You should read this report, the information incorporated by reference into this report and the documents
filed as exhibits to this report completely and with the understanding that our actual future results or
achievements may be materially different from what we expect or anticipate.

The forward-looking statements contained in this report reflect our views and assumptions only as of the
date this report is signed. Except as required by law, we assume no responsibility for updating any forward-
looking statements.

We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements. In addition, with respect
to all of our forward-looking statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking
statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Item 1. Business

Overview

We are one of the largest providers of specialty retail pharmacy services in the United States. We sell a
limited number of high cost drugs for the recurring treatment of chronic and potentially life threatening
diseases. We provide services on behalf of biopharmaceutical manufacturers to our patients, and we are paid
for our products and services in two ways. We are paid for dispensing medications to patients similar to a
typical retail pharmacy, and we are also often paid by the manufacturer to provide additional services. Qur
services help simplify the difficult and often challenging medication process for patients with a chronic disease
and help ensure that patients receive and take their medication as prescribed. Our services benefit
biopharmaceutical manufacturers by accelerating patient acceptance of new drugs, facilitating patient
compliance with the prescribed treatment, addressing difficult reimbursement issues and capturing valuable
clinical information about a new drug’s effectiveness.




Our services include specialty retail pharmacy services, clinical services, reimbursement services and
delivery services. We provide overnight, temperature-controlled delivery of all drugs and supplies necessary for
patients to self-administer their drug dosages safely and effectively in the privacy of their homes. Our
pharmacists and customer service staff talk frequently with patients over the telephone, help them comply
with prescribed treatment schedules and educate them about ways to manage their complex diseases more
effectively. Our reimbursement specialists manage the complicated paperwork that is required to collect
payment for the patient’s medication from insurance compames managed care plans and governmental
payors.

We sell a limited number of drugs to our patients. We mainly focus our services on injéctable drugs that:
+ are used on a recurring basis to treat chronic and potentially life-threatening diseases;
» are expensive, with annual costs generally ranging from approximately $8,000 to $360,000 per patient;

+ are complex and clinically challenging with the potential for side effects or adverse reactions; and

e require temperature control or other specialized handling. {

We have agreements with fourteen biopharmaceutical manufacturers to buy drugs and'to provide varying
degrees of specialty retail pharmacy services for our nineteen primary products. Although most of our
agreements that involve specialty retail pharmacy services are not exclusive, we generally are a recommended
provider of the manufacturer’s drug to patients and physicians. These agreements also contain favorable
pricing from the manufacturer and in many cases compensate us for our specialized services.

Accredo Health, Incorporated, was incorporated in Delaware in 1996. Our principal executive offices are
located at 1640 Century Center Parkway, Sulte 101, Memphis, Tennessee 38134. Our telephone number at
that address is 901-385-3688. ‘

Products and Services

We offer the following products and services: !

Sale and Delivery of Drugs. We sell and provide timely delivery of drugs and ancillary supplies directly
to the patient or the patient’s physician in packaging specially designed to maintain appropriate temperatures.
The package typically contains all of the supplies required for administration in the patient’s home or in other
alternate sites. Substantially all products are shipped from our four primary pharmacy locations in Memphis,
Tennessee; Charlotte, North Carolina; Nashville, Tennessee and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvanig. We also maintain
30 satellite pharmacy locations across the United States. We ship our products primarily via FedEx.

Specialty Retail Pharmacy Services. We offer customized services to biopharmaceﬁtical manufacturers
designed to meet specific needs that arise at various stages in the life cycles of their products.

Prior to product launch, we offer:
« consulting services related to strategic pricing decisions;

« analyses and information to assist manufacturers in evaluating payor mix and pricing strategies for their

new drugs; ‘

« testing of a manufacturer’s packaging to assess maintenance of product temperatures and to determine
whether the packaging system will meet the product’s unique needs during normaL shipping conditions;

+ advice on injection and infusion supplies related to the drug therapy and assistance in procuring
supplies and customized packaging for infusion supply kits; and ‘

!

» clinical guidelines that assist nurses and caregivers in learning how to safely and cjffectively administer
a drug, including sterilization techniques, supplies needed and infusion time required.
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Following product launch, we offer:

« clinical hotlines that allow the physician or patient caregiver to inquire about product usage, adverse
drug reactions and other clinical questions;

» reimbursement hotlines for patients and health care professionals;

» support for manufacturers’ patient assistance programs for patients without the financial ability to
otherwise acquire needed drugs and services;

» replacement drug and supply programs that replenish patients’ inventory of products or supplies that
become damaged;

» home care coordination programs that provide patient assistance in training, identify home care
providers and transfer clinical information to all caregivers; and

« triage services that refer patients to the appropriate provider based on the patients’ insurance provider
network.

Results of our interaction with patients, which is primarily via telephone, are coded to protect privacy and
tracked to compile valuable information, including side effects, drug interactions, administration problems,
supply issues, physician prescription habits and reasons for therapy discontinuation and non-compliance.

We will also report on adverse drug reactions, log the occurrence, and complete an initial preliminary
report of the occurrence to assist manufacturers in completing adverse event reports in a timely manner. We
can also create a wide variety of additional reports that can be customized to meet specific manufacturers’
needs. Examples of reports include sales by physician, sales by zip code, sales trending, first time patient
orders, Medicaid and Medicare sales, inventory status and reasons for patient discontinuations. Due to the
nature of the data we collect, we have established procedures designed to ensure compliance with laws
regarding confidentiality of patient information.

Clinical Services. We work with the patient and the patient’s physician to implement the prescribed
plan of care. Each patient is assigned to a team consisting of a pharmacist, a customer service representative
and a reimbursement specialist, and with certain therapies, a Registered Nurse. Generally, each patient’s team
members specialize only in that patient’s disease and work only with payors and providers in that patient’s
geographic region. In helping to implement the prescribed plan of care; we:

¢ help patients understand their medication and treatment program;

+ help patients manage potential side effects and adverse reactions that may occur so that patients are
less likely to discontinue therapy;

* help coordinate backup care in the event of a medical emergency; and
« help patients establish an inventory management and record keeping system.

In addition, we assist patients and their families in coping with a variety of difficult emotional and social
challenges presented by their diseases, participate in patient advocacy organizations, assist in the formation of
patient support groups, advocate legislation to advance patient interests and publish npewsletters and
educational materials for our patients.

Reimbursement Services. By focusing on specific chronic diseases, we have developed significant
expertise in managing reimbursement issues related to the patient’s condition and treatment program. Due to
the long duration and high cost of therapy generally required to treat chronic disorders, the availability of
adequate health insurance is a continual concern for chronically ill patients and their families. Generally, we
contact the payor prior to each shipment to determine the patient’s health plan coverage and the portion of
costs that the payor will reimburse. Our reimbursement specialists review issues such as pre-certification or
other prior approval requirements, lifetime limits, pre-existing condition clauses, and the availability of special
state programs. By identifying coverage limitations as part of an initial consultation, we can assist the patient
in planning for alternate coverage, if necessary. From time to time, we negotiate with payors to facilitate or
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expand coverage for the chronic diseases we serve. In addition, we accept assignment of benefits from
numerous payors, which substantially eliminates the claims submission process for most patients.

Disease Markets and Related Products

Many of the biopharmaceutical drugs that we sell, including growth hormones, anti-hémophilic factor,
intravenous immunoglobin (IVIG) and other blood-related products, are available from multiple sources.
Currently, we sell and provide our specialty services primarily with respect to 19 products. The drugs we sell
with respect to seven core disease markets account for over 85% of our revenues. These seven disease markets
and the drugs that we sell to service these markets are described below.

With respect to drugs that we sell for our seven core disease markets, Synagis® and Cerezyme® are only
available from single sources. We have also agreed with Biogen to not sell drugs that compete with
AVONEXS® for the treatment of Multiple Sclerosis. There are other drugs that we do not sell that are similar
to or that compete with some of the other drugs that we sell. |

Hemophilia. Hemophilia is an inherited, genetic, lifelong bleeding disorder caused by the absence or
inactivity of an essential blood clotting protein or “factor.” Two major disease categories exist, hemophilia A,
or Factor VIII deficiency, and hemophilia B, or Factor IX deficiency. It is estimateﬂ that there are
approximately 20,000 people with hemophilia in the United States, and presently there is no known cure.
Individuals with hemophilia may suffer from bleeding episodes that can occur spontaneously or as a result of
physical activity or trauma. While small surface cuts can usually be treated with a pressure bandage, the most
frequent complication of hemophilia is internal bleeding into muscles and joints, which can cause arthritis and
debilitating orthopedic problems. More serious complications include internal bleeding i 1n the head, neck,
spinal cord or internal organs, which can cause death.

Hemophilia is generally treated by infusing anti-hemophilic factor concentrates intravenously when the
symptoms of a bleed are detected. This therapy is generally administered by the patient or his or her family
members, without the assistance of a nurse, in response to bleeding episodes. Approximately 60% of the
persons with hemophilia in the United States have a severe form of the disorder as measured by the level of
factor naturally present in the body. In general, the more severe the factor deficiency, the more frequently the
bleeding episodes may occur. On average, someone with severe hemophilia will need to infuse factor weekly.
In many individuals with severe hemophilia, factor therapy is administered prophylactlcally to maintain high
enough circulating factor levels to minimize the risk of bleeding. |

Many hemophilia patients contracted hepatitis or human immunodeficiency virus, commonly known as
HIV, as a result of contaminated blood derivative therapies they received prior to the mid-1980’s. It is
estimated that approximately one-half of the hemophilia population who received anti- hemqphlhc factor prior
to the mid-1980°s was exposed to HIV and is at risk of developing acquired immune deficiency syndrome,
commonly known as AIDS. We offer medications used in treating AIDS as a convenience to our hemophilia
patients that have contracted HIV. In the early 1990’s, recombinant clotting factor, é biotechnological
alternative to plasma-derived factor, was introduced and to date has proved to be as effective as the blood-
derived products with virtually no risk of viral transmission. Current utilization reflects increased use of
recombinant and monoclonal products by physicians because of the advantages of increased purity.

|

There are currently six major suppliers of Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approved products
used for treating hemophilia. We purchase products from all six suppliers. Historically, no supplier has been
responsible for a majority of our hemophilia product purchases. However, the majority of our hemophilia
product was purchased in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2002 and 2003 from Baxter Healthcare Corporation.

We have entered into hemophilia distribution agreements with Baxter Healthcare Corporation and
Aventis Behring LLC naming us as a non-exclusive hemophilia specialty pharmacy provider of hemophilia
products to home care patients in the United States and Puerto Rico. These agreements provide for minimum
purchase commitments by us and our acquisition cost of the drugs is based upon the volume of product we
purchase. ‘ i




Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension (PAH) is a chronic pulmonary
disease for which there is no known cure. Patients with this disease experience an increase in pulmonary
arterial pressure that results in symptoms such as dyspnea, palpitations and syncope. Generally, PAH impacts
adults between the ages of 20 and 40. It is estimated that 1 to 2 out of every 1 million Americans will develop
Primary Pulmonary Hypertension, a common form of PAH, and approximately 400 persons per year in the
United States will be diagnosed with some form of PAH. Once diagnosed, PAH patients receive therapy for
the remainder of their lifetime or until they receive a lung transplant. This disease is treated with one, or a
combination, of the following three products:

¢ Flolan®, which is an epoprosternol sodium product manufactured by GlaxoSmithKline;
+ Tracleer™, which is a bosentan product manufactured by Actelion Pharmaceuticals U.S., Inc.; and

+ Remodulin®, which is a treprostinil sodium product manufactured by United Therapeutics
Corporation. '

~ We have agreements with GlaxoSmithKline for the sale of Flolan®, United Therapeutics Corporation for
the sale of Remodulin®, and Actelion Pharmaceuticals U.S., Inc. for the sale of Tracleer ™. These agreements
have multiple year terms, may be terminated without cause on 90 to 365 days prior notice and obligate us to
provide varying degrees of specialized services.

Autoimmune Disorders and Primary Immunodeficiency Disease. Autoimmune disorders describe a
group of chronic diseases in which the body treats its own tissues or cells as if they were foreign substances and
produces antibodies to attack and destroy those tissues or cells. Most autoimmune disorders currently are
incurable and tend to become progressively severe. Various therapies, including IVIG, are administered to
minimize the effects of autoimmune disorders and the severity of their associated symptoms. Although
typically administered via infusion in a hospital or physician’s office, IVIG can be administered at home by
patients who require repeated treatment.

Primary Immunodeficiency diseases (PID) are a group of disorders caused by an absence or malfunction
of a component of the immune system. The component most often missing or malfunctioning is antibodies or
immunoglobulins. Due to the lack of antibodies these patients have an increased susceptibility to life
threatening infections and chronic lung disease. Primary immunodeficiencies can occur at any age. IVIG
treatment replaces the antibodies missing or malfunctioning. Currently there is no other alternative therapy.

Because IVIG is collected and processed from human donors, the IVIG product market can be
somewhat limited by supply constraints. We have supply contracts with all five major suppliers of IVIG in the
United States, including volume commitment purchase contracts with Baxter Healthcare Corporation and
Aventis Behring LLC. Historically, no supplier is responsible for a majority of our IVIG product purchases.

Multiple Sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis is a progressive neurological disease in which the body loses the
ability to transmit messages among nerve cells, leading to a loss of muscle control, paralysis and, in some
cases, death. Patients with active relapsing Multiple Sclerosis experience an uneven pattern of disease
progression characterized by periods of stability interrupted by flare-ups of the disease. Industry sources
estimate that Multiple Sclerosis affects between 250,000 and 350,000 people in the United States, approxi-
mately two-thirds of whom are women. Disease onset typically occurs in young adults between the ages of 20
and 40. Of the patients diagnosed with Multiple Sclerosis in the United States, about 90% of patients initially
have relapsing Multiple Sclerosis and about half of those patients go on to develop a progressive form of the
disease. About 10% of patients exhibit a progressive form of the disease at onset. Industry sources estimate
that of the persons currently affected by Multiple Sclerosis in the United States, approximately 50% have a
relapsing form of the disease, and approximately 50% have a progressive form. There are currently four FDA-
approved products used for treating relapsing Multiple Sclerosis: '

* AVONEXE®, which is manufactured by Biogen, Inc.;
» Betaseron®, which is manufactured by Chiron Corporation;

» Copaxone®, which is manufactured by Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Limited,;
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» Rebif®, which is manufactured by Serono, S.A. ‘
AVONEX® is generally administered via a single intramuscular injection once per week.

Effective September 1, 2002, we entered into amended and restated agreements with Biogen pursuant to
which we are a preferred distributor of AVONEX® and provide various services and information to Biogen.
The agreements are for a term ending December 31, 2005. Our agreements with Biogen are terminable by
gither party in the event of a breach. Our agreements provide that as long as we are the only preferred home
delivery service provider approved by Biogen, we may not, without Biogen’s approval, sell any products that
compete with AVONEX® for the treatment of Multiple Sclerosis. In some circumstancesr‘ we may not sell
competing products for a year following the termination of the agreements. We do not have exclusive rights to
sell AVONEX®, and Biogen has reserved the right under our agreements to sell AVONEX® directly or to
appoint other providers of AVONEX®, but any such action would eliminate our exclusivity obligations.

Gaucher Disease. Gaucher Disease is a seriously debilitating, sometimes fatal, genetic disorder caused
by a deficiency of an important enzyme in the body called glucocerebrosidase. This deficiency results in the
accumulation of the glucocerebroside lipid in the cells of organs in the body. The disease is characterized by
an enlarged liver or spleen, anemia, bleeding problems, fatigue, bone and joint pain and other orthopedic
complications such as repeated fractures and bone erosion. Type I Gaucher Disease is the most common form
of Gaucher Disease, affecting about 90% of all Gaucher patients. Genzyme’s Ceredase® and Cerezyme®
products are FDA-approved products used for treating Type 1 Gaucher Disease. Cerezyme® is the newer

®
product, and we have very few patients receiving Ceredase®. :

We have a longstanding relationship with Genzyme relating to Cerezyme®, Cerezym§® is administered
by intravenous infusion. Dosing frequencies vary, but a typical dosing regimen involves administration once
every two weeks. Pursuant to our current agreements with Genzyme, we are a preferred distributor of
Cerezyme® in the United States and its Territories and provide various information and{ other services to
Genzyme. The pricing of Cerezyme® under our agreements with Genyzme, as well as the scope and pricing of
services that we provide, are subject to periodic review. Our agreements with Genzyme are for a term ending
September 30, 2003. The agreements automatically renew on an annual basis unless elther party provides
90 days prior notice of non-renewal, and are terminable by either party for any reason \yrth 90 days prior
notice. In addition, the agreements provide that, during the term of the agreements and for a period of five
years after their termination, we may not sell any prescription drug for the treatment of Gaucher Disease other
than Cerezyme®. We do not have exclusive rights to sell Cerezyme®. Genzyme has rcserved the right under
the agreements to sell Cerezyme® directly or to appoint other distributors of this product

Growth Hormone-Related Disorders. A major treatable cause of growth delay in chﬂdren is growth
hormone deficiency. It is estimated that there are approximately 20,000 pediatric patients 1n the United States
who are candidates for growth hormone therapy. The market for growth hormone products is relatively
mature, and currently five manufacturers sell eleven FDA-approved growth hormone products for a variety of
indications. However, a majority of patients currently being treated with growth hormone products use one of
Genentech’s growth hormone products, Protropin®, Nutropin®, Nutropin AQ® or Nutropin Depot™, the first
long-acting dosage form of recombinant human growth hormone. |

We have purchasing relationships with all five manufacturers of growth hormone products used in the
United States, including a longstanding relationship with Genentech. Typically, patients or family members
administer growth hormone products at home without the presence of a nurse. Most growth hormone products
requrre administration by injection several times per week, and in some cases daily. In contrast, Nutropin
Depot™ may be administered as infrequently as monthly or bi- -monthly. We have entered into an amended

and restated national distribution agreement with Genentech in which we also provide compliance programs,
nursing coordination, various information and other services relating to Genentech’s human growth hormone
products, Protropin®, Nutropin®, Nutropin AQ® and Nutropin Depot ™ in the United States. The pricing of
Protropin®, Nutropin®, Nutropin AQ® and Nutropin Depot'™ under the distribution agreement, as well as the
scope and pricing of the services provided by us, are subject to adjustment depending on the Company
meeting certain performance criteria. The distribution agreement has a term expiring December 31, 2006. The
agreement may be terminated by Genentech if we have change of control and may be tdrminated by either
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party following 90-days notice. We do not have exclusive rights to distribute Protropin®, Nutropin®, Nutropin
AQ® and Nutropin Depot™. Genentech has reserved the right under our agreement to sell. these drugs
directly or to appoint other distributors of these drugs.

Respiratory Syncytial Virus. Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) is a serious lower respiratory tract
disease that primarily attacks pediatric patients. RSV is the most common cause of pneumonia and
bronchiolitis in infants and children. Approximately two-thirds of infants are infected with RSV during the
first year of life, and almost all have been infected by age two. It has been estimated that, nationwide, there are
approximately 300,000 children at risk of RSV each year and approximately 90,000 hospitalizations due to
RSV infections. '

Synagis® (palivizamab), a drug manufactured by MedImmune, Inc. has been shown to significantly
reduce RSV hospitalizations in pediatric patients at risk of the disease. Clinical studies have shown that
preventive treatment with Synagis® was associated with a 55% reduction in overall hospitalizations due to
RSV. Physicians prescribe Synagis® to immunize infants who are at high risk for serious lung impairment.
Synagis® is typically administered by intramuscular injection once a month over a six month period.

RSV is seasonal, with the disease striking primarily during the period of October through April. Our
distribution agreement with MedImmune renews on an annual basis upon the mutual consent of the parties
and is terminable by either party for any reason on 30 days notice. We do not have the exclusive right to sell
Synagis®, although we were a national preferred assignment of benefits distributor of the drug for the 2002-
2003 respiratory syncytial virus season. We have recently renewed our agreement with MedImmune to
continue as one of three national preferred assignment of benefits distributors for the 2003-2004 season.

Suppliers

We primarily dispense growth hormones, anti-hemophilic factor, IVIG, other blood-related products and
other drugs obtained from the following sources:

» Actelion Pharmaceuticals U.S., Inc., with respéct to TracleerTM;
+ Allergan, Inc., with respect to Botox®,

+ Aventis Behring, LLC, with respect to Zemaira™;

« Baxter Healthcare Corporation with respect to Aralast™;

+ Biogen, Inc., with respect to AVONEXS,

+ Enzon, Inc., with respect to Adagen®;

» Genentech, Inc. with respect to Xolair™;

+ Genzyme Corporation, with respect to Ceredase®, Cerezyme®, Aldurazyme® and Fabrazyme®,
» GlaxoSmithKline PLC, with respect to Flolan®;

+ Immunex Corporation, with respect to Enbrel®,

+ InterMune, Inc., with respect to Actimmune®;

» MedImmune, Inc. with respect to Synagis®;

» Rare Disease Therapeutics, Inc., with respect to Orfadin®; and
+ United Therapeutics Corporation, with respect to Remodulin®.
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Although there are four other manufacturers of FDA-approved growth hormone products, Genentech’s
products collectively enjoy a market share that exceeds the aggregate of all other individual manufacturers of
growth hormone products. Accordingly, in the event that one or more of our current supphers of products
(other than IVIG and other blood-related products) were to cease selling products to us, our business,
financial condition and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

Our agreements with our key suppliers generally may be canceled by either party, without cause, upon
between 30 and 365 days prior notice. In addition, our agreements with our suppliers generally provide that
during the term of the agreements (and, in some instances, for as much as five years after termination of the
agreements), we may not distribute any competing products. We generally do not have any exclusive rights to
dispense our products, and our suppliers have generally reserved the right under their agreements with us to
distribute their products directly or to appoint other distributors of their products. See “Risk Factors — We
are highly dependernt on our relationships with a limited number of biopharmaceutical manufacturers and
“Business — Disease Markets and Related Products.”

- We have supply relationships with all six major suppliers of clotting factor and all five major suppliers of
IVIG in the United States, and historically no supplier has been responsible for a majority of our hemophilia
or IVIG product purchases. However, the majority of our hemophilia product was purchased for the years
ended June 30, 2002 and 2003 from Baxter Healthcare Corporation.

Relationships with Medical Centers
At June 30, 2003, we had joint ventures with four medical centers (or their aﬂiliateg):
+ Children’s Home Care located in Los Angeles, California; ,
+ Alternative Care Systems, Inc. located in Dalias, Texas;
+ Cook Children’s Home Health located in Ft. Worth, Texas; and
« Children’s Hospital located in Washington D.C.

In our typical joint venture arrangement, we and the medical center (or its affiliate) form a joint venture
entity to which we provide specialty retail pharmacy services. Under the terms of the joint venture agreement,
we manage the sales, marketing, and provision of specialty pharmacy services in exchange for a monthly
management fee and the reimbursement of some expenses. We share in the profits and losses of the joint
venture entity with the medical center (or its affiliate) in proportion to our respective capital contributions and
receive a management fee for our management services. The agreements generally have initial terms of
between one and five years and contain restrictive covenants and rights of first refusal.

In addition to joint venture relationships, we have entered into management agreements with other
childrens hospitals and adult medical centers (or their affiliates) to provide specialty retail pharmacy services.

Under our management agreements, we provide goods and services used in the hospitals’ or joint
ventures’ specialty retail pharmacy business, including drugs and related supplies, patient education, clinical
consultation, and reimbursement services. While the payment terms under such management agreements may
vary, we are generally reimbursed for our costs and are paid a monthly management fee generally calculated as
a percentage of revenues. These agreements usually have terms of between one and five years and are
terminable by either party, with or without cause, with between one and twelve months prior notice. See “Risk
Factors — If our relationships with some medical centers are disrupted, our business could be harmed.”

Acquisition of Specialty Pharmaceuticals Division of Gentiva Health Services, Inc. |

On June 13, 2002, we acquired substantially all of the assets of the Specialty Pharmaceuticals Services
Division, or SPS business, of Gentiva Health Services, Inc. (Gentiva). The aggregate purchase price paid was
$463.8 million (including $13.8 million of acquisition related costs) and consisted of $217.1 million in cash
and 7,591,464 shares of our common stock valued at $246.7 million. As part of the acquisition, we acquired
100% of the outstanding stock of three Gentiva subsidiaries that were engaged exclusivel)jf in the SPS business.
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Payors

The following table sets forth the approximate percentages of the Company’s gross patient revenue
attributable to various payor categories for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003. This table
reflects the acquisition of the SPS business only since June 14, 2002. The percentage of the SPS business
reimbursed by Medicare and Medicaid was higher than the comparable percentage of Accredo’s business.
Therefore, the payor mix after the acquisition reflects an increase in the percentage of revenue attributable to
Medicare and Medicaid and a decrease in the percentage of revenue attributable to private payors.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

June 30, 2001 June 30, 2002 June 30, 2003
Private payors (including self pay) (1) .............. 81% 79% 73%
Medicaid and other state programs................. 17% 19% 20%
Medicare and other federal programs............... 2% 2% 1%
Total ... 100% 100% 100%

(1) Includes sales to private physician practices, whose ultimate payor is typically Medicare, which
accounted for approximately 4%, 3% and 1% of gross patient revenue, respectively, for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003.

The primary trend in the United States health care industry is toward cost containment. The increasing
prevalence of managed care, centralized purchasing decisions, consolidation among and integration of health
care providers, and competition for patients has affected, and continues to affect, pricing, purchasing, and
usage patterns in health care. Decisions regarding the use of a particular drug treatment are increasingly
influenced by large private payors, including managed care organizations, pharmacy benefit managers, group
purchasing organizations, regional integrated delivery systems, and similar organizations, and are based
increasingly on economic considerations including product cost and whether a product reduces the cost of
treatment. Efforts by payors to eliminate, contain or reduce costs through coverage exclusions, lower
reimbursement rates, greater claims scrutiny, closed provider panels, restrictions on required formularies,
claim delays or denials and other similar measures could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Some payors set lifetime limits on the amount reimbursable to patients for medical costs. Some of our
patients may reach these limits because of the high cost of -their medical treatment and associated
pharmaceutical regimens. Some payors may attempt to further control costs by selecting some firms to be
their exclusive providers of pharmaceutical or other medical product benefits, If any such arrangements were
with our competitors, we would be unable to be reimbursed for purchases made by such patients.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from governmental programs such as Medicare and
Medicaid. Such programs are highly regulated and subject to frequent and substantial changes and cost
containment measures. In recent years, changes in these programs have 11m1tcd and reduced reimbursement to
providers.

Many government payors, including Medicare and Medicaid, pay us directly or indirectly at the drug’s
average wholesale price (AWP) or at a percentage off AWP. The Department of Health and Human
Services, Office of Inspector General (OIG) has raised concerns since 1992 about how certain manufacturers
have established AWP for certain Medicare covered drugs. Federal and state agencies continue to examine
perceived discrepancies between reported AWP of drugs and the actual manufacturers selling price.

In February 2000, First DataBank, Inc., which reports AWP to Medicaid programs, announced that it
will report based on market prices rather than prices submitted by manufacturers. As a result, a number of
state Medicaid agencies have lowered the amount of reimbursement that they pay for certain drugs, including
clotting factor.

In September 2001, the OIG issued a report titled “Medicaid’s Use of Revised Average Wholesale
Prices,” which in part summarized the results of a joint investigation conducted by the United States
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Department of Justice and the National Association of Medicaid Control Fraud Units of actual wholesale
pricing data for 51 drugs. The report concluded the current method of determining AWP was “fundamentally
flawed.” In response to this report, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) indicated it
would continue to look for administrative and legislative solutions to the problem of accurately determining
AWP. On September 16, 2002, the OIG revised its August, 2001 report entitled “Medicaid Pharmacy —
Actual Acquisition Costs of Brand Name Prescription Drug Products”. In its revised report, OIG estimates
that pharmacies reczive an average 17% discount on drugs purchased from wholesalers. |

There has been an increase in the number of suits instituted by private consumer groups and state
attorney generals against drug manufacturers over prescription drug pricing alleging, in part, fraud through
manipulating the AWP. The eventual effect of such suits, if any, on the AWP is unknows.

Recent Medicare prescription drug benefit bills in both houses of Congress, as well ;is a proposed rule
issued by CMS offer changes to the way the federal government pays for certain Part B drugs. With respect to
Medicare, the Senate is proposing to reduce clotting factor reimbursement from AWP minus 5% to AWP
minus 15% while the House is proposing a new rate of Average Selling Price plus 12%. On August 15, 2003,
CMS proposed a new rule that would revise the methodology for determining payment for Part B covered
drugs and biologicals. In the proposed rule, CMS offered four alternative approaches. According to CMS,
depending upon which program is adopted, the new payment methodology could be in; place as early as
January 1, 2004, Similarly, California’s Medicaid program, MediCal, recently adopted a plan that will shift
away from use of the discounted AWP, instead using Average Selling Price plus 20% for hemophilia factors.
California has not yet determined exactly how it will calculate Average Selling Price. ‘Other states have
proposed or are considering similar changes to their pharmacy payment plans. We expect that these
developments will reduce prices and margins on some of the drugs that we distribute.

A number of states are also considering other types of legislation designed to reduce their Medicaid
expenditures and provide universal coverage and additional care for some populations, including proposals to
impose additional taxes on providers to help finance or expand such programs. Some states may require us to
maintain a licensed pharmacy in their states in order to qualify for reimbursement underistate-administered
reimbursement plans. Any of these changes could result in significant reductions in payment levels for drugs
handled and services provided by us, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

At least thirteen states have implemented “preferred drug list” programs, under which drugs would not
appear on an approved and reimbursable Medicaid formulary unless the Medicaid programs receive significant
discounts or other concessions. The drug industry has instituted litigation to halt thes¢ programs but the
outcome of this litigation is unknown. If the states prevail in these lawsuits, then this could result in reductions
in the reimbursement we receive from Medicaid programs for our services and could materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. *

Hemophilia treatment centers may purchase factor from manufacturers at a discount under a government
program established in 1992 which extended the Medicaid best price rebate program to hemophilia treatment
centers. Manufacturers that sell outpatient drugs to hemophilia treatment centers agree with the Department
of Health and Human Services (DHHS) that they will not charge a price for covered outpatient drugs that is
higher than a statutorily set amount. We do provide contract pharmacy services to'several hemophilia
treatment centers, but we do not directly own or operate a hemophilia treatment center that is eligible for this
special pricing: This places us at a competitive disadvantage as a provider of factor, except where our affiliated
medical centers are eligible for the special pricing. Under DHHS guidelines, an eligible hemophilia treatment
center may obtain factor at this special pricing and use a contract pharmacy to dispense it to the center’s
patients. However, if a hemophilia treatment center does not comply with DHHS guidelines or sells factor
bought at this special pricing to patients who are not patients of the center, it may incur civil penalties or
liability to drug manufacturers for the amount of the discount that the center received from the manufacturer.

We expect that these developments will reduce prices and margins on some of the drugs that we
distribute.

'
0
|
!
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Competition

The specialty pharmacy industry is highly competitive and is undergoing consolidation. The industry is
fragmented, with many public and private companies focusing on different product or customer niches. Some
of our current and potential competitors include:

* specialty pharmacy distributors, such as Caremark Therapeutic Services, and Priority Healthcare
Corporatlon

» specialty pharmacy divisions of national wholesale drug distributors;,
» pharmacy benefit management companies; .

. hospitalQbascd pharmacies;

+ retail pharmacies;

» home infusion therapy companies;

+ manufacturers that sell their products both to distributors and directly to users, including clinics and
physician offices;

+ comprehensive hemophilia treatment centers; and
+ other alternative site health care providers.

Some of our competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing and managerial resources than we
have.

While competition is often based primarily on price and quality of care and service, it can also be affected
by the ability to develop and maintain relationships with patients and referral sources, depth of product line,
technical support systems, specific patient requirements and reputation. There can be no assurance that
competitive pressures will not have a material adverse affect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Government Regulation

Federal and state governments heavily regulate the drug and medical supply industry. Manufacturers,
distributors, health care providers and patlents are all subject to these regulations. Particular government
attention currently focuses on:

» manufacturer calculated and reported average wholesale pricing
+ the payment of inducements for patient referrals;

« prohibited financial relationships with physicians;

+ joint venture and management arrangeménts;

» product discounts;

+ inducements given to patients; and

» professional licensing.

The laws are very broad, the regulations are complicated, and in many cases the courts interpret them
differently. This makes compliance difficult. Federal and state civil and criminal fines and penalties may be
imposed on persons who violate these laws. While we structure our transactions in a manner we believe
complies with all laws, a violation could result in fines or criminal penalties, which could reduce our
profitability. The following are particular areas of government regulation that apply to our business.

Licensing and Registration. A number of state laws require that we be licensed as an in-state pharmacy.
We also currently ship prescription drugs to many other states that require us to be licensed as an out-of-state
pharmacy. We believe that we substantially comply with all state licensing laws applicable to our business.
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Some pharmacy associations and state boards of pharmacy are attempting to protect local pharmacies by
restricting the activities of out-of-state pharmacies. In addition, some states impose limits on financial
incentives paid to insurance companies and other payors offering managed drug programs. Restnctlons on our
operations imposed by these Jaws could reduce our profitability. |

Laws enforced by the federal Drug Enforcement Agency, as well as some similar state agencies, require
our pharmacy locations to individually register in order to handle controlled substances, including prescription
drugs. A separate registration is required at each principal place of business where the applicént manufactures,
distributes, or dispenses controlled substances. Federal and state laws also require that we follow specific
labeling and record-keeping requirements for controlled substances. We maintain federal and state controlled
substance registrations for each of our facilities that require it, and follow procedures intended to comply with
all such record-keeping requirements.

Pharmacists and Nursing Licenses. Our nurses must obtain state licenses to p’rovide1 teaching services
and the hands on nursing which we provide to some of our patients, and our pharmacistsj must obtain state
licenses to dispense drugs. Our pharmacists and nurses are licensed in those states where their activity requires
it. Pharmacists and nurses must also comply with professional practice rules. We believe' that the activities
undertaken by our nurses or pharmacists comply with all apphcable laws or rules govcrnmg the practice of
pharmacy, nursing or medicine.

Pharmacy Counseling. Federal law requires that states offering Medicaid prescription drug benefits
implement a drug use review program. The program requires “before and after” drug use reviews, the use of
predetermined standards, and patient education. Its purpose is to improve the quality of care by ensuring drug
prescriptions are medically necessary, and not likely to cause adverse effects. Participating states must develop
standards for pharmacy counseling. These standards apply as well to non-resident pharmac1es like us. We
believe our pharmacists monitor these requirements, and provide the necessary counsehng

Federal Mail Order. Federal law imposes standards for: ’ j

I

« the labeling, packaging and repackaging, advertising and adulteration of prescription drugs; and
|
 the dispensing of controlled substances and prescription drugs.

The Federal Trade Commission and the United States Postal Service regulate mail order drug sellers.
The law requires truth in advertising, a reasonable supply of drugs to fill orders, and a right to a refund if an
order cannot be filled within thirty days. We believe that we substantially comply with all of these
requirements.

Prescription Drug Marketing Act.  This federal law exempts many drug and medical devices from federal
labeling and packaging requirements, as long as they are not adulterated or misbranded and were prescribed by
a physician. The law also prohibits the sale, purchase or trade of drug samples that are not intended for sale or
intended to promote the sale of the drug. Records must be kept of drug sample distribution, and proper storage
and maintenance methods used. To the extent that this law applies to us, we believe that we comply with the
documentation, record-keeping and storage requirements. J

Anti-Kickback and Self-Referral. We are subject to the federal Medicare Anfi Kickback law that
prohibits oﬁ‘enng, paying, soliciting or receiving, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kmd remuneration to
induce or in exchange for: ;

, i
» the referral of patients covered by Medicare, Medicaid or other government healthcare reimbursement
programs; or

» the leasing, purchasing, ordering or arranging for or recommending the lease, purchase or order of any
item, good, facility or service covered by the programs. ‘

. 3 . . . . . . . . . .‘ . .
Violations by individuals or entities are punishable by criminal fines, civil penalties, imprisonment, or
exclusion from participation in the reimbursement programs. Sanctions imposed under this law on us, our
business partners. (such as drug suppliers), or our customers could reduce our business and our profits.
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Many states have similar state laws, which, if violated, could result in similar penalties. Courts have not
applied the Anti-Kickback law or similar state laws consistently, and some courts have found a violation if
only one purpose of an otherwise acceptable arrangement was to induce referrals.

Recently, the OIG issued a Special Advisory. Bulletin focused on complex contractual joint ventures that
could potentially violate the anti-kickback statute. In this bulletin, the OIG discussed the characteristics that
potentially indicate a prohibited arrangement. Some of these characteristics are present in our existing joint
ventures. As a result, some of our joint ventures may be restructured.

DHHS published a set of “safe harbor” regulations and continues to publish clarifications to the safe
harbors. Arrangements that fully comply with a safe harbor are deemed not to violate the Anti-Kickback law.
We have several business arrangements (for example, our joint venture and management arrangements with
medical centers, service arrangements with physicians and product pricing arrangements with suppliers) that
do not satisfy all of the requirements necessary to fall within the safe harbors. Failure to satisfy a safe harbor
does not mean that a transaction is necessarily illegal. The law requires the government to evaluate the intent
in each situation. We believe our business arrangements comply with the Anti-Kickback law, the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and similar state laws. However, if we are
found to violate any of these laws, we could suffer penalties, fines, or possible exclusion, which could reduce
our revenues and profits. ‘

OIG Fraud Alerts and Advisory Opinions. The OIG periodically issues Fraud Alerts and Advisory
Opinions identifying practices it believes may violate federal fraud and abuse laws. One Fraud Alert addresses
joint venture and contractual arrangements between health care providers. Another concerns prescription drug
marketing practices. Drug marketing activities may implicate the federal fraud and abuse laws because the
cost of drugs are often reimbursed by Medicare and Medicaid. According to the Fraud Alert, questionable
practices may include payments to pharmacists to recommend a particular drug or product. One Advisory
Opinion indicates that management fees calculated as a percentage of net revenues, where marketing services
are included, could implicate the federal fraud and abuse laws if the fee is intended to induce patient referrals.
We believe our business arrangements comply with federal fraud and abuse laws. However, if we are found to
have violated any of these laws, we could suffer penalties, fines or possible exclusion from the Medicare,
Medicaid or other governmental programs, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

State Consumer Protection Laws. A number of states are involved in enforcement actions involving
pharmaceutical marketing programs, including programs offering incentives for pharmacists to dispense one
product rather than another. State consumer protection laws generally prohibit false advertising, deceptive
trade practices and the like. A number of the states have requested that the FDA exercise greater regulatory
oversight in the area of pharmaceutical promotional activities by pharmacists. It is not possible to determine
whether the FDA will act in this regard or what effect, if any, FDA involvement would have on our operations.

The Stark Law. Federal law prohibits physicians from making a referral for certain health items or
services if they, or their family members, have a financial relationship with the entity receiving the referral. No
bill may be submitted in connection with a prohibited referral. Violations are punishable by civil monetary
penalties upon both the person making the referral and the provider rendering the service. Such persons or
entities are also subject to exclusion from Medicare and Medicaid. The Stark Law applies to our products and
services, and we believe our relationships comply with the law. However, if our practices are found to violate
the Stark Law, we may be subject to sanctions or be required to alter or discontinue some of our practlces
This could reduce our revenues or profits.

Beneficiary Inducement. HIPAA penalizes the offering of remuneration or other inducements to
beneficiaries of federal health care programs to influence the beneficiaries’ decision to seek specific
governmentally reimbursable items- or services, or to choose a particular provider. HIPAA excludes items
provided to promote-the delivery of preventive care. The statutory exception would apply where *‘such care is
provided or directly supervised by the medical provider that has provided the incentive.”

The OIG recently issued final regulations concerning inducements to beneficiaries. Under the new
regulations, permissible incentives are those given in connection with preventive care, including pre and post
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natal care, and services described in the U.S. Preventive Service Task Force’s Guide to Preventive Care. OIG
also believes that items of nominal value given to beneficiaries are permissible even if not related to preventive
care. However, permissible incentives would not include cash or cash equivalents. We from time to time
provide some items at no charge to our patients in connection with their drug therapies, not all of which are
included on the list of items specifically stated not to violate the new regulations. However, we believe that
those items are allowed by the underlying statute. A determination that we violated the regulanons or the
statute, however, could result in sanctions that reduce our revenue or profits.

\

The False Claims Act. We are also subject to federal and state laws prohibiting indiﬁduals or entities
from knowingly and willfully making claims for payment to Medicare, Medicaid, or other third party payors
that contain false or fraudulent information. These laws provide for both criminal and civil penalties. Health
care providers who submit claims which they knew or should have known were false, fraudulent, or for items
or services that were not provided as claimed, may be excluded from Medicare and Medicaid participation,
required to repay previously collected amounts, and subject to substantial civil monetary penalties.

I

Government Investigations. The government increasingly examines arrangements between health care
providers and potential referral sources to ensure that they are not designed to exchange ‘remuneration for
patient care referrals. Investigators are increasingly willing to look behind formalities of busmess transactions
to determine the underlying purpose of payments. Enforcement actions have increased and are highly
publicized. Any investigation may cause publicity that would cause potential customers to avoid us, reducing
potential revenues and profits. {’

In addition to investigations and enforcement actions initiated by governmental agencies, we could be the
subject of an action brought under the False Claims Act by a private individual on behalf of the government.
Actions under the False Claims Act, commonly known as ‘“whistleblower” lawsuits are geherally filed under
seal to allow the government adequate time to investigate and determine whether it will intervene in the
action, and defendant health care providers are often without knowledge of such actions until the government
has completed its investigation and the seal is lifted.

Confidentiality, Privacy and HIPAA. Federal and state laws protect confidentiality (r>f medical records
and information. We maintain medical records for each patient to whom we dispense difugs. We are thus
subject to some of these medical record and patient confidentiality laws, including HIPAA. As part of the
Administrative Simplification provision of HIPAA, DHHS published final regulations governing electronic
transactions involving health information on August 17, 2000. These regulations are commonly referred to as
the Transaction Standards Rule. The Transaction Standards Rule establishes standards forithe most common
health care transactions. Under the new standards, any party transmitting or receiving health transactions
electronically must send and receive data in a single format, rather than the large number of different data
formats currently used. The Transaction Standards Rule applies to us in connection with submitting and
processing health claims. The Transaction Standards Rule also applies to many of our payors and to our
relationships with those payors. We submitted an extension plan to DHHS describing how we would come
into compliance with the Transaction Standards Rule. We will be required to comply‘ with the uniform
standards for data reporting, formatting, and coding by October 16, 2003.

On December 28, 2000, DHHS published final regulations implementing HIPAA that adopted standards
for the privacy of individually identifiable health information (Privacy Rules). The regulatlons cover health
care providers, health care clearinghouses and health plans (Covered Entities). The Privacy Rule imposes
significant administrative and financial obligations on companies that use or disclose individually identifiable
information relating to the health of a patient.

Earlier this year, DHHS published final regulations implementing that portion of HIPAA governing the
security of health information. Most Covered Entities will be required to comply with these regulations by
April 21, 2005. We are rev1ew1ng these regulations and may be required to change some of our practices to
comply w1th them.

The HIPAA regulations impose criminal penalties on wrongful disclosure of protecjted health informa-
tion. We maintain procedures and provide training to our employees in an effort to corply with all of the
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medical record and patient confidentiality laws to which we are subject. We intend to comply with the privacy
provisions of HIPPA. While we attempt to comply with all confidentiality requirements, a violation of any
confidentiality law could subject -us to sanctions that could reduce revenues or profits.

In addition to its provisions regarding the confidentiality of patient health information described above,
HIPAA also imposes criminal penalties for fraud against any health care benefit program, for theft or
embezzlement involving health care and for false statements in connection with the payment of any health
benefits. These HIPAA fraud and abuse provisions apply not only to federal programs, but also to private
health benefit programs. HIPAA also broadened the authority of the OIG to exclude participants from federal
health care programs. Although we do not know of any current violations of the fraud and abuse provisions of
HIPAA, if we were found to be in violation of these provisions, the government could seek penalties against us
including exclusion from participation in government payor programs. Significant fines could cause liquidity
problems and adversely affect our results of operations.

Balanced Budget Act. Each state operates a Medicaid program funded in part by the Federal
government. The states may customize their programs within federal limitations. Each state program has its
own payment formula and recipient eligibility criteria. In recent years, changes in Medicare and Medicaid
programs have resulted in limitations on, and reduced levels of, payment and reimbursement for a substantial
portion of health care goods and services. For example, the Federal Balanced Budget Act of 1997 (even after
the restoration of some funding in 1999) will continue to cause significant reductions in spending levels for the
Medicare and Medicaid programs. A more recent example is the action of a number of state Medicaid
agencies to reduce their reimbursement rates in response to the new AWP prices published by First DataBank,
Inc.

Laws governing Medicare, Medicaid, TriCare/CHAMPUS and other governmental programs may
change, and various administrative rulings, interpretations and determinations make compliance difficult. Any
changes may materially increase or decrease program payments or the cost of providing services. Final
determinations of government program reimbursement often require years, because of audits, providers’ rights
of appeal and numerous technical requirements. We believe we make adequate provision for adjustments.
However, future reductions in reimbursement could reduce our revenues and profits.

Reform. The U.S. health care industry continues to undergo significant change. We anticipate that
Congress and state legislatures will continue to review and assess alternative health care delivery systems and
payment methods and that public debate of these issues will likely continue in the future. We cannot predict
which, if any, reform proposals will be adopted. Future changes in the nature of the health care system could
reduce revenues and profits.

Employees

As of June 30, 2003, we had 1,756 full-time and 420 part-time employees. Our employees include
approximately 144 full-time and 53 part-time pharmacists. Our employees are not represented by a labor
union, and we believe we have good relations with our employees.

Liability Insurance

Providing health care services and products entails an inherent risk of liability. In recent years,
participants in the health care industry have become subject to an increasing number of lawsuits, many of
which involve large claims and significant defense costs. We may from time to time be subject to such suits as
a result of the nature of our business. We maintain general liability insurance, including professional and
product liability, in an amount deemed adequate by our management. There can be no assurance, however,
that claims in excess of, or beyond the scope of, our insurance coverage will not arise. In addition, our
insurance policies must be renewed annually. Although we have not experienced difficulty in obtaining
insurance coverage in the past, there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so in the future on
acceptable terms or at all.
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Internet Website !

The Company’s Internet website can be found at www.accredohealth.com. The bompany makes
available free of charge on or through our internet website, access to our annual report on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed pursuant
to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after sucﬁ material is filed,
or furnished, to the Securities and Exchange Commission. !
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RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties we describe below before investing in Accredo.
The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only risks and uncertainties that could develop. Other
risks and uncertainties that we have not predicted or evaluated could also affect our company.

If any of the following risks occur, our earnings, financial condition or business could be materially
harmed, and the trading price of our common stock could decline, resulting in the loss of all or part of your
investment.

We are highly dependent on our relationships with a limited number of biopharmaceutical suppliers and
the loss of any of these relationships could significantly impact our ability to sustain or grow our
revenues. ‘

We derive a substantial percentage of our revenue and profitability from the sale of hemophilia product
and IVIG that we primarily purchase from Baxter Healthcare Corporation, Aventis Behring, LLC, Wyeth
Pharmaceuticals and Bayer Corporation. Approximately 38% of our revenue in the fiscal year ended June 30,
2003 was derived from the sale of IVIG and hemophilia product. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2002
and 2003, the majority of our hemophilia product was purchased from Baxter Healthcare Corporation. We
also derive a substantial percentage of our revenue and profitability from our relationships with Biogen,
Genzyme, GlaxoSmithKline and MedImmune. QOur revenue derived from these relationships represented
approximately 40% of our revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003.

Our agreements with these suppliers are short-term and cancelable by either party without cause on 30 to
365 days prior notice. These agreements also generally limit our ability to handle competing drugs during and,
in some cases, after the term of the agreement, but allow the supplier to distribute through channels other than
us. Further, these agreements provide that pricing and other terms of these relationships be periodically
adjusted for changed market conditions or required service levels. Any termination or adverse adjustment to
any of these relationships could have a material adverse effect on a significant portion of our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our ability to grow could be limited if we do not expand our existing base of drugs or if we lose
patients.

We primarily sell 19 products. We focus almost exclusively on a limited number of complex and
expensive drugs that serve small patient populations. The drugs that we sell with respect to the following core
disease markets account for approximately 89% of our revenues, with the drugs for hemophilia and
autoimmune disorders constituting approximately 38% of our revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003:

» Hemophilia, Autoimmune Disorders, PID and Hereditary Emphysema

* Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

Multiple Sclerosis

» Enzyme Deficiencies

¢ Growth Hormone-Related Disorders
+ Respiratory Syncytial Virus

Due to the small patient populations that use the drugs we handle, our future growth is highly dependent
on expanding our base of drugs. Further, a loss of patient base or reduction in demand for any reason of the
drugs we currently handle could have a material adverse effect on a significant portion of our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Our business would be harmed if demand for our products and services is reduced.
Reduced demand for our products and services could be caused by a number of circumst}ances, including:
» patient shifts to treatment regimens other than those we offer; ;
* new treatments or methods of delivery of existing drugs that do not require our spec1alty products and
services;

« a recall of a drug;

« adverse reactions caused by a drug;

« the expiration or challenge of a drug patent;

« competing treatment from a new drug or a new use of an existing drug or orphan dfug status;

« the loss of a managed care or other payor relationship covering a number of high revenue patients;
» the cure of a disease we service; or

+ the death of a high-revenue patient.

There is substantial competition in our industry, and we may not be able to compete sucéessfully.

The specialty pharmacy industry is highly competitive and is continuing to become more competitive.
Most of the drugs, supplies and services that we provide are also available from our competltors Our current
and potential competitors include:

* other specialty pharmacy distributors;

* specialty pharmacy divisions of wholesale drug distributors; J
+ pharmacy benefit management companies (PBM); !
* hospital-based phafmacies; ’ ‘ x
« retail pharmacies;

+ home infusion therapy companies;

« manufacturers that sell their products both to distributors and directly to users;
» comprehensive hemophilia treatment centers; and

» other alternative site health care providers.

Many of our competitors have substantially greater resources and more established operations and
infrastructure than we have. We are particularly at risk from any of our suppliers deciding to pursue its own
distribution and services and not outsource these needs to companies like us. A significant factor in effective
competition will be our ability to maintain and expand relationships with managed care companies, pharmacy
benefit managers and other payors who can effectively determine the pharmacy source for their enrollees.

Entry by PBMs into the specialty pharmacy market and consolidation in the industry could affect our
ability to serve patients. :

On September 2, 2003, Caremark Rx, Inc. announced that it had signed a definitive Merger Agreement
with AdvancePCS. Both of these firms are our competitors and the two companies combined will form the
nation’s second largest pharmacy benefit manager, processing drug claims for about 95 million individuals with
about 600 million prescriptions filled per year. We expect that there will be further consolidation among
specialty pharmacy providers. As pharmacy benefits managers acquire specialty pharmacy capability, it is
likely that they will attempt to cancel their relationships with entities that compete with the PBM specialty
pharmacy operations, and to cause the PBM patients to obtain their drugs from the PBM'’s specialty
pharmacy.
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Our business could be harmed by changés in Medicare or Medicaid.

Changes in the Medicare, Medicaid or similar government programs or the amounts paid by those
programs for our services may adversely affect our earnings. Such programs are highly regulated and subject to
frequent and substantial changes and cost containment measures. In recent years, changes in these programs
have limited and reduced reimbursement to providers. Recent Medicare prescription drug benefit bills in both
houses of Congress, -as well as a proposed rule issued by CMS, offer changes to the way the federal
government pays for certain Part B drugs. 'Such proposals range from deeper discounts to AWP to a
competitive acquisition program. On August 15, 2003, CMS proposed a new rule that would revise the
methodology for determining payment for Part B covered drugs and biologicals. In the proposed rule, CMS
offered four alternative approaches. According to CMS, depernding upon which program is adopted, the new
payment methodology could be in place as early as January 1, 2004, Although these proposals from CMS and
Congress are not final , we expect that these developments will ultxmately reduce prices and margins on some
of thc drugs that we distribute.

In order to deal with budget shortfalls some states are attempting to create state- administered
prescription drug discount plans, limit the number of prescriptions per person that are covered, raising
Medicaid co-pays and deductibles, proposing more restrictive formularies and proposing reductions in
pharmacy reimbursement rates. For example, -California’s Medicaid program, MediCal, recently adopted a
plan that will shift away from use of the discounted AWP, instead using Average Selling Price plus 20% for
hemophilia factors. California has not yet determined exactly how it will calculate Average Selling Price.
MediCal is also considering implementing a reduced price for other drugs. Any reduction in the reimburse-
ment from MediCal as a result of this new plan could adversely impact revenues and profitability from the sale
of drugs to patients covered by MediCal by us or our two partnerships in California. Any reductions in
amounts reimbursable by government programs for our services or changes in regulations governing such
rclmbursements could matcnally and adversely affect our busmcss financial condition and results of
operations. :

Changes in average wholesale prices could reduce our pricing and margins.

Many government payors, including Medicare and Medicaid, pay us directly or indirectly at a percentage
off the drug’s AWP. We have also contracted with a number of private payors to sell drugs at AWP or at a
percentage off AWP. AWP for most drugs is compiled and published by several private companies, including
First DataBank, Inc. In February 2000, First DataBank published a Market Price Survey of 437 drugs, which
was significantly lower than the historic AWP for a number of the clotting factor and IVIG products that we
sell. A number of state Medicaid agencies have revised their payment methodology as a result of the Market
Price Survey. :

Recent Medicare prescription drug benefit billsin both houses of Congress, as well as a proposed rule
issued by CMS, offer changes to the way the federal government pays for certain Part B drugs. Such proposals
range from deeper discounts to AWP to a competitive acquisition program. On August 15, 2003, CMS
proposed a new rule that would revise the methodology for determining payment for Part B covered drugs and
biologicals. In the proposed rule, CMS offered four alternative approaches. According to CMS, depending
upon which program is adopted, the new payment methodology could be in place as early as January 1, 2004,
Although these proposals from CMS and Congress are not final, we expect that these developments will
ultimately reduce prices and margins on some of the drugs that we distribute. '

Various federal and state government agenéies have been investigating whether the reported AWP of
many drugs, including some that we sell, is an appropriate or accurate measure of the market price of the
drugs. There are also several whistleblower lawsuits pending against various drug manufacturers that have
been reported in the business press. These government investigations and lawsuits involve allegations that
manufacturers reported artificially inflated AWP prices of various drugs to First DataBank.

We cannot predict the eventual results of government proposals, investigations, lawsuits or the changes
made by First DataBank. If government payors or private payors revise their pricing based on new methods of
calculating the AWP for drugs we handle or implement reimbursement methodology based on some value
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. other than AWP, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condltlon and results of
operation, including reducing the pricing and margins on certain of our products. i

Our business will suffer if we lose relationships with payors. ‘

We are highly dependent on reimbursement from non-governmental payors.. For the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003, we derived approximately 81%, 79% and 73% respectively of our gross patient
revenue from non-governmental payors (including self-pay), which included 4%, 3% and 1%, respectively for
those periods, from sales to private physician practices whose ultimate payor is typically Medicare.

Many payors seek to limit the number of providers that supply drugs to their enroliees. For example, we
were selected by Aetna, Inc. as one of three providers of injectable medications. We received approximately
7% of our total revenues from Aetna in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003 and approximately 3% of our total
revenues in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003 from various relationships with Gentlva including the
distribution of specialty pharmaceuticals through the CareCentrix division of Gentiva’s homc health business.
From time to time, payors with whom we have relationships require that we and our competitors bid to keep
their business, and there can be no assurance that we will be retained or that our margins will not be adversely
affected when that happens. The loss of a payor relationship, for example, our relationship ‘with Aetna, Inc.
and affiliates (which is terminable on 90 days notice) or our relationship with the Gentiva CareCentrix
division, or an adverse change in the financial condition of a payor like Aetna, could result in the loss of a
significant number of patients and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations, ;
We incurred additional debt to acquire the SPS business of Gentlva Health. Services, Inc' which may
limit our future financial flexibility. * :

The current level of our debt will have several important effects on our future operatlons including,
among others:

A significant portion of our cash flow from operations will be dedicated to the payment of principal on
the debt and will not be avallable for other purposes; { ' !

+ Our debt covenants will require us to meet financial tests, and may impose other limitations that may
limit our flexibility in planmng for and reacting to changes in our busmess mcludlng possible
acquisition opportunities; . : ,

 Qur ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expendltures acqulsmons general
corporate and other purposes may be limited; ‘

+ Failure to meet our debt covenants could result in foreclosure by our lenders or an increase in the
interest rate or admlmstratlve fees associated with our debt; ‘

+ We may be at a competitive disadvantage to similar companies that have less debt; and

» Our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions may increase. 1

Our business could be harmed if payors decrease or delay their payments to us or seek to recoup
payments already made.

f

Our profitability depends on payment from govemmental and non—govemmental payors, and we could be
materially and adversely affected by cost containment trends in the health care industry or by financial
difficulties suffered by non-governmental payors. Cost containment measures affect pricing, purchasing and
usage patterns in health care. Payors also influence decisions regarding the use of a particilar drug treatment
and focus on product cost in light of how the product may impact the overall cost of treatment. Further, some
payors, including large managed care organizations and some private physician practices, have recently
experienced financial trouble. The timing of payments and our ability to collect from payors also affects our
revenue and profitability. Payors also have contractual rights to audit our books and records to determine if
they have overpaid us. If we are unable to collect from payors or if payors fail to pay us in a timely manner, or
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if payors seek to recoup payments already made to us, it could have a material adverse effect on our business
and financial condition.

If any of our relationships with medical centers are disrupted or cancelled, our business could be harmed.

We have joint venture relationships with four medical centers that provide services primarily related to
hemophilia, growth hormone-related disorders and RSV. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2001, 2002 and
2003, we derived approximately 4% of our income before income taxes from equity in the net income of
unconsolidated joint ventures.

Since April 2000, we have owned 80% of one of our joint ventures with Children’s Home Care, Inc. and
the financial results of this joint venture are included in our consolidated financial results. This consolidated
joint venture represented approximately 10% of our income before income taxes for the fiscal years ended
June 30, 2001 and 2002 and 17% of our income before income taxes for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003.

Recently, the OIG issued a Special Advisory Bulletin focused on complex contractual joint ventures that
could potentially violate the anti-kickback statute. In this bulletin, the OIG discussed the characteristics that
potentially indicate a prohibited arrangement. Some of these characteristics are present in our existing joint
ventures. As a result, some of our joint ventures may be restructured. .

In addition to joint venture relationships, we also provide pharmacy management services to several
medical centers.

Our agreements with medical centers have terms of between one and five years, and may be cancelled by
either party without cause upon notice of between one and twelve months. Adverse changes in our
relationships with those medical centers could be caused, for example, by:

+ changes caused by consolidation within the hospital industry;

» changes caused by regulatory uncertainties inherent in the structure of the relationships; or restrictive
changes to regulatory requirements.

Any termination or adverse change of these relationships could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

If additional providers obtain access to favorable PHS pricing for drugs we handle, our business could be
harmed.

The federal pricing program of the Public Health Service, commonly known as PHS, allows hospitals and
hemophilia treatment centers to obtain discounts on clotting factor. While we are able to access PHS pricing
through our contracts to provide contract pharmacy services to hemophilia treatment centers, we are not
eligible to participate directly in these programs. Increased competition from hospitals and hemophilia
treatment centers that have such favorable pricing may reduce our profit margins.

Our acquisition and joint venture strategy may not be successful, which could cause our business and
future growth prospects to suffer.

As part of our growth strategy, we continue to evaluate acquisition and joint venture opportunities, but we
cannot predict or provide assurance that we will complete any future acquisitions or joint ventures.
Acquisitions and joint ventures involve many risks, including:

« difficulty in identifying suitable candidates and negotiating and consummating acquisitions on attrac- -
tive terms;

difficulty in assimilating the new operations;
*» increased transaction costs;

« diversion of our management’s attention from existing operations;,
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« dilutive issuances of equity securities that may negatively impact the market price of our stock;

|
t

« increased debt; and “
« increased amortization expense related to intangible assets that would decrease our earnings.
[

We could also be exposed to unknown or contingent liabilities resulting from the pre-acquisition
operations of the entities we acquire, such as liability for failure to comply with health care or relmbursement
laws. We also face exposure if Gentiva is not able to fulfill its indemnification obligations undér the terms of
our asset purchase agreement. The purchase price we paid to Gentiva for the SPS business v{vas distributed
directly to the shareholders of Gentiva, and should any significant payment be required, Gentiva may not have
sufficient funds and may not be able to obtain the funds to satisfy its potential indemnification dbligation to us.
We may suffer impairment of assets or have to bear a liability for which we are entitled to 1ndemmﬁcat10n but

are unable to collect. ;

'
|

Fluctuations in our quarterly financial results may cause our stock price to decline. ,

Our results of operations may fluctuate on a quarterly basis, which could adversely affect thc market price
of our common stock. Our results may fluctuate as a result of:

+ lower prices paid by Medicare or Medicaid for the drugs that we sell, including lower prices resulting
from recent revisions in the method of establishing AWP; ?

* below-expected sales or delayed launch of a new drug;
« price and term adjustments with our drug suppliers; }
« increases in our operating expenses in anticipation of the launch of a new drug; ;
¢ product shortagés;

+ inaccuracies in our estimates of the costs of ongoing programs; the timing and inf’tcgration of our

acquisitions; |

 changes in our estimates used to prepare our financial statements;

+ effectiveness of our sales force; |
I
|

» changes in governmental regulations;

+ the annual renewal of deductibles and co-payment fequirements that affect patient ordering patterns;
*» our provision of drugs to treat seasonal illnesses, such as RSV;

» physician prescribing patterns; |
» general political and economic conditions;

+ interest rate fluctuations; and

« adverse experience in collection of accounts receivable. f
|
Our business would be harmed if the biopharmaceutical industry reduces research, develmeent and

production of the tvpes of drugs that are compatible with the services we provide. i

Our business is highly dependent on continued research, development, manufacturmg and marketing
expenditures of biopharmaceutical companies, and the ability of those companies to develop, supply and
generate demand for drugs that are compatible with the services we provide. Our business wpuld be materially
and adversely affected if those companies stopped outsourcing the services we provide or failed to support
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existing drugs or develop new drugs. Our business could also be harmed if the biopharmaceutical industry
undergoes any of the following developments:

» supply shortages;
« adverse drug reactions;
s drug recalls;
+ increased competition afnong biopharmaceutical companies;
* an inability of drug companies to finance product development because of capital shortages;
¢ a decline in product research, development or marketing;
+ a reduction in the retail price of drugs from governmental or private market initiatives;
¢ changes in the FDA approval process; or
» governmental or private initiatives that would alter how drug manufacturers, health care providers or
pharmacies promote or sell products and services.
Our business could be harmed if the supply of any of the products that we distribute becomes scarce.

The biopharmaceutical industry is susceptible to product shortages. Some of the products that we
distribute, such as anti-hemophilic factor, IVIG and some other blood-related products, are collected and
processed from human donors. Accordingly, the supply of these products is highly dependent on human
donors and their availability has been constrained from time to time. For example, an industry wide
recombinant factor VIII product shortage existed for some time, as a result of the manufacturers being unable
to increase production to meet rising global demand, and has only recently returned to normal levels. If these
products, or any of the other drugs that we distribute, are in short supply for long periods of time, our business
could be harmed. :

If some of the drugs that we provide lose their “orphan drug” status, we could face more competition.
g p g

Our business could also be adversely affected by the expiration or challenge to the orphan drug status that
has been granted by the FDA to some of the drugs that we handle. When the FDA grants orphan drug status,
it will not approve a second drug for the same treatment for a period of seven years unless the new drug is
chemically different or clinically superior. Not all of the drugs that we sell which are related to our core
disease states have orphan drug status.

Despite orphan drug status, there are competing products on the market for Nutropin® Depot.
Tracleer™, Remodulin® and Flolan® also compete in the treatments of PAH. The loss of orphan drug status,
or approval of new drugs notwithstanding orphan drug status, could result in additional competitive drugs
entering the market, which could harm our business.

We rely heavily on a single shipping provider, and our business would be harmed if our rates are
increased or our provider is unavailable.

Almost all of our revenues result from the sale of drugs we deliver to our patients and principally all of our
products are shipped by a single carrier, FedEx. We depend heavily on these outsourced shipping services for
efficient, cost effective delivery of our product. The risks associated with this dependence include:

» any significant increase in shipping rates;

» strikes or other service interruptions by our primary carrier, FedEx, or by another carrier that could
affect FedEx; or

« spoilage of high cost drugs during shipnﬁcnt, since our drugs often require special handling, such as
refrigeration.
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Disruptions in commercial activities such as those following the September 2001 terrorist attacks on the
U.S. may adversely impact our results of operations, our ability to raise capital or our future growth.

Our operations have been and could again be harmed by terrorist attacks on the U.S:. For example,
transportation systems and couriers that we rely upon to deliver our drugs have been and could again be
disrupted, thereby causing a decrease in our revenues. In addition, we may experience a rise in operating costs,
such as costs for transportation, courier services, insurance and security. We also may experience delays in
payments from payors, which would harm our cash flow. The U.S. economy in general may be adversely

- affected by terrorist attacks or by any related outbreak of hostilities. Any such economic downturn could
adversely impact our results of operations, impair our cost of or ability to raise debt or equity capltal or impede
our ability to continue growing our business.

If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, our business will be harmed.

Our rapid growth over the past several years has placed a strain on our resources, and if we cannot
effectively manage our growth, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially-
and adversely affected. We have experienced a large increase in the number of our employees, the size of our
programs and the scope of our operations. Our ability to manage this growth and be successful in the future
will depend partly on our ability to retain skilled employees, enhance our management team and improve our
management information and financial control systems. j

We could be adversely affected by an 1mpa1rment of the significant amount of goodwill and other
intangibles on our financial statements. |

Our formation and our acquisitions have resulted in the recording of a significant amount of goodwill on
our financial statements. The goodwill was recorded because the fair value of the net assets acquired was less
than the purchase price. There can be no assurance that we will realize the full value of this goodwill. We
evaluate on an on-going basis whether events and circumstances indicate that all or some of the carrying value
of goodwill is no longer recoverable, in which case we would write off the unrecoverable goodwill in a charge to
our earnings. As of June 30, 2003, we had goodwill, net of accumulated amortization, df approximately
$352.5 million, or 39% of total assets and 69% of stockholders’ equity. |

Since our growth strategy may involve the acquisition of other companies, we may record additional
goodwill in the future. The possible write-off of this goodwill could negatively impact our futire earnings. We
will also be required to allocate a portion of the purchase price of any acquisition to the value of non-
competition agreements, patient base and contracts that are acquired. The amount allocated to these items
could be amortized over a fairly short period. As a result, our earnings and the market pnce of our common
stock could be negatively impacted. !
I
We rely on a few key employees whose absence or loss could adversely affect our business.

We depend on a few key executives, and the loss of their services could cause a material adverse effect to
our company. We do not maintain “key person” life insurance policies on any of those executives. As a result,
we are not insured against the losses resulting from the death of our key executives. Further, we must be able
to attract and retain other qualified, essential employees for our technical operating and profeésional staff, such
as pharmacists and nurses. If we are unable to attract and retain these essential employees, our business could
be harmed. ‘

\
We have been named in several shareholder class action lawsuits and a shareholders’ derivative lawsuit
asserting claims under the securities laws.

The uncertainty associated with these unresolved lawsuits could harm our business and financial
condition. The defense of these lawsuits also could result in litigation fees and costs, as well as the diversion of
resources. Negative developments with respect to the lawsuits could cause our stock iprice to decline
significantly. The indemnification provisions contained in our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws require
us to indemnify our current and former officers and directors who are named as dcfen@ants against the
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allegations contained in these suits. Even though we maintain directors and officers insurance applicable to the
lawsuits, there can be no guarantee that the proceeds of such insurance will be available for defense fees and
costs, or payment of any settlement or judgment in the lawsuits or, if available, will be sufficient to cover the
fees and costs and any settlement or judgment imposed against us.

The ultimate cost and effect of these lawsuits on our financial condition, results of operations, customer
relations and management is unknown at this time.

The lawsuits are described in Part I, Item 3 - Legal Proceedings.

In addition to the securities litigation currently pending against us and our officers and directors, as more
fully described above, we may also in the future be the target of similar litigation. Additional securities
litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our attention and resources.

We may need additional capital to finance our growth and capital requirements, which could prevent us
from fully pursuing our growth strategy.

In order to implement our growth strategy, we will need substantial capital resources and will incur, from
time to time, short- and long-term indebtedness, the terms of which will depend on market and other
conditions. We cannot be certain that existing or additional financing will be available to us on acceptable
terms, if at all. As a result, we could be unable to fully pursue our growth strategy. Further, additional
financing may involve the issuance of equity or debt securities that would reduce the percentage ownership of
our then current stockholders.

Our industry is subject to extensive government regulation and noncompliance by us or our suppliers
could harm our business.

The marketing, sale and purchase of drugs and medical supplies is extensively regulated by federal and
state governments, and if we fail or are accused of failing to comply with laws and regulations, we could suffer
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our business could also
be materially and adversely affected if the suppliers or others we work with are accused of violating laws or
regulations. The applicable regulatory framework is complex, and the laws are very broad in scope. Many of
these laws remain open to interpretation, and have not been addressed by substantive court decisions.

The health care laws and regulations that especially apply to our activities include:

 The federal “Anti-Kickback Law” prohibits the offer or solicitation of compensation in return for the
referral of patients covered by almost all governmental programs, or the arrangement or recommenda-
tion of the purchase of any item, facility or service covered by those programs. HIPAA created new
violations for fraudulent activity applicable to both public and private health care benefit programs and
prohibits inducements to Medicare or Medicaid eligible patients. The potential sanctions for violations
of these laws range from significant fines, to exclusion from participation in the Medicare and Medicaid
programs, to criminal sanctions. Although some “safe harbor” regulations attempt to clarify when an
arrangement will not violate the Anti-Kickback Law, our business arrangements and the services we
provide may not fit within these safe harbors. Failure to satisfy a safe harbor requires analysis of
whether the parties intended to violate the Anti-Kickback Law. The finding of a violation could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

» DHHS has issued regulations implementing the Administrative Simplification provisions of HIPAA
concerning the maintenance of privacy and security of individually identifiable health information.
These new regulations require the development and implementation of measures to maintain the
privacy and security of health information and require that certain health claims transactions be
conducted in accordance with uniform standards. These regulations govern health care providers,
health plans and health clearinghouses. Failure to comply with these regulations, or wrongful disclosure
of confidential patient information could result in the imposition of administrative or criminal
sanctions, including exclusion from the Medicare and state Medicaid programs. In addition, if we
choose to distribute drugs through new distribution channels such as the Internet, we will have to

25




comply with government regulations that apply to those distribution channels, Wthh could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

« The Ethics in Patient Referrals Act of 1989, as amended, commonly referred to as the “Stark Law,”
prohibits physician referrals to entities with which the physician or their immediate .family members
have a “financial relationship.” A violation of the Stark Law is punishable by civil sanctions, including
significant fines and exclusion from participation in Medicare and Medicaid.

J
I
i

+ State laws prohibit the practice of medicine, pharmacy and nursing without a licenéc. To the extent
that we assist patients and providers with prescribed treatment programs, a state could consider our
activities to constitute the practice of medicine. If we are found to have violated those laws, we could
face civil and criminal penalties and be required to reduce, restructure, or even cease our business in
that state.

» Pharmacies and pharmacists must obtain state licenses to operate and dispense drugs. Pharmacies
must also obtain licenses in some states to operate and provide goods and services to residents of those
states. Our entities that provide nursing for our patients and our nurses must obtain licenses in certain
states to conduct our business. If we are unable to maintain our licenses or if states place burdensome
restrictions or limitations on non-resident pharmacies or nurses, this could limit or affect our ability to
operate in some states which could adversely impact our business and results of opérations.

« Federal and state investigations and enforcement actions continue to focus on the heaith care industry,
scrutinizing a wide range of items such as joint venture arrangements, referral andi billing practices,
product discount arrangements, home health care services, dissemination of confidential patient
information, clinical drug research trials and gifts for patients. Recently, the OIG issued a Special
Advisory Bulletin focused on complex contractual joint ventures that could potentially violate the anti-
kickback statute. In this bulletin, the OIG discussed the characteristics that potentially indicate a
prohibited arrangement. Some of these characteristics are present in our existing jdint ventures.

+ The False Claims Act encourages private individuals to file suits on behalf of the government against
health care providers such as us. Such suits could result in significant financial sanctlons or exclusion
from participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. !

The market price of our common stock may experience substantial fluctuations for reasons over which we
have little control. !

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market System. The market price of our common

stock could fluctuate substantially based on a variety of factors, including the following:
i

» future announcements concerning us, our competitors, the drug manufacturers with whom we have
relationships or the health care market; !

+ changes in government regulations;
+ overall volatility of the stock market;

» changes in estimates by analysts; and
!
i
» changes in operating results from quarter to quarter. 1
: i

Furthermore, stock prices for many companies fluctuate widely for reasons that may be unrelated to their
operating results. These fluctuations, coupled with changes in our results of operations and ‘general economic,
political and market conditions, may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

|
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Some provisions of our charter documents and the Stockholder Protection Rights Plan may have anti-
takeover effects that could discourage a change in control, even if an acquisition would be beneficial to
our stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders. In addition, our
Board of Directors has adopted a Stockholder Protection Rights Plan, sometimes referred to as a poison pill,
that would substantially dilute the interest sought by an acquiror.

Item 2. Properties
Facilities

* Our corporate headquarters are located in Memphis, Tennessee and our other principal facilities are
located in Nashville, Tennessee, Charlotte, North Carolina, Warrendale, Pennsylvania, Pittsburgh, Penn-
sylvania and Overland Park, Kansas. In addition, we have many smaller satellite pharmacy locations in other
states.

Memphis, Tennessee. We currently lease approximately 160,000 square feet of space in an of-
fice/warehouse business park in Memphis. The leases on this space expire at varying times beginning in
July 2006 through March 2008, but we have an.option to extend our lease terms for one additional five-year
period.

" Nashville, Tennessee: We currently lease approximately 35,000 square feet of space in Nashville. Our
lease expires in December 2005.

Charlotte, North Carolina. We currently lease approximately 25,000 square feet of space in Charlotte,
North Carolina. Our lease expires in July 2006.

Warrendale, Pennsylvania. We currently lease approximately 29,000 square feet of space in War-
rendale, Pennsylvania. Our lease expires in March 2005.

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. We currently lease approximately 38,000 square feet of space in Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania. Our lease expires in September 2007.

Overland Park, Kansas. We currently lease approximately 122,000 square feet of space in QOverland
Park, Kansas. We sublease approximately 40% of this space to Gentiva. Our lease expires in August 2005.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Commencing April 8, 2003, the Company and certain officers and directors were named as defendants in
several substantially similar putative class action lawsuits filed in the United States District Court for the
Western District of Tennessee, Memphis Division. The various complaints have been consolidated into a
single action, but the Court has not appointed a Lead Plaintiff. Once the Lead Plaintiff is appointed, a
Consolidated Complaint will be filed to which the Defendants will respond. The lawsuits filed to date name
the Company, David D. Stevens, Joel Kimbrough and in one case John R. Grow, as Defendants. One of the
lawsuits also named our former independent auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, as a defendant. The lawsuits allege
violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10(b)(5) promulgated
thereunder, and Section 20 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The putative class representatives seek to
represent a class of individuals and entities that purchased our stock during the period June 16, 2002 through
April 7, 2003 and who supposedly suffered damages from the alleged violations of the securities laws. We
believe that the claims asserted in the putative class action lawsuits are without merit.

In addition, two purported derivative lawsuits were filed in the Circuit Court of Shelby County,
Tennessee for the Thirtieth Judicial District at Memphis. These actions were consolidated and a Consolidated
Derivative Complaint was filed on July 28, 2003. The derivative action names our officers, directors and a
former director; David D. Stevens, John R. Grow, Kyle J. Callahan, Kevin L. Roberg, Kenneth R. Masterson,
Kenneth J. Melkus, Dick R. Gourley, Nancy Ann Deparle, Joel R. Kimbrough, Thomas W. Bell, Jr., and
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Patrick J. Welsh; as defendants. The derivative lawsuit alleges that the defendants breached fiduciary duties
owed to the Company by engaging in the same alleged conduct that is the basis of the putative class action
lawsuits, On behalf of the Company, the derivative complaint seeks compensatory damages from the
defendants and the disgorgement of profits, benefits and other compensation received by the defendants. We
believe that the claims asserted in the derivative lawsuit are without merit. |

As previously disclosed on a Form 8-K filed on May $, 2003, we filed a lawsuit against our former
independent auditor, Ernst & Young LLP (E&Y). Subsequent to filing this claim, E&Y filed a Motion to
Compel Arbitration and to Dismiss or in the Alternative to Stay Proceedings. In response to this Motion, we
have filed a Notice of Voluntary Nonsuit in the Circuit Court and we will resolve our clalms against E&Y
through arbitration.

Also, from time to time, we are involved in lawsuits, claims, audits and investigations arising in the
normal course of our business. In our opinion, in the aggregate these lawsuits, claims, audits and investigations
should not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. In
addition, the business that we acquired from Gentiva Health Services, Inc. has several lawsuits and claims
related to its historic operation by Gentiva, which are being controlled by Gentiva and for which we are
entitled to indemnification from liability by Gentiva.

i

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None




PART II

Item 5. Market for Company’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Price Range of Common Stock
The Company’s common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market System under the symbol

“ACDO.” The following table sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices as reported on the Nasdaq
National Market System for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2002 and 2003.

Fiscal Years 2002 and 2003 ' _High  Low
Fourth Quarter ended June 30, 2003. . ... . S $2631  $11.95
Third Quarter ended March 31, 2003 ... . .. ... .. . 39.67 21.02
Second Quarter ended December 31, 2002 ... . ... . 38.65 25.19
First Quarter ended September 302002 ............... S 36.29 24.87
Fourth Quarter ended June 30, 2002. ... ... .. .. 43.21 28.00
Third Quarter ended March 31,2002 ... .. .. e 38.5% 25.35
Second Quarter ended December 31, 2001 ...... ... .. ... .. 27.87 19.84
First Quarter ended-September 30 2001 . ........ ... ... .. ...l 26.17 18.40
Holders

As of September 19, 2003, the approximate number of registered stockholders was 18,427 including 1,177
stockholders of record and approximately 17,250 persons or entities holding common stock in nominee name. -

Dividend Policy

We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently anticipate that all of our
earnings will be retained to finance the growth and development of our business, and therefore, do not
anticipate that any cash dividend will be declared or paid on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Any
future declaration of dividends will be subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and their review of
our carnings, financial condition, capital requirements and surplus, contractual restrictions to pay such
dividends and other factors they deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plans as of June 30, 2003:

(c)
Number of shares
remaining available

(a) (b} for future issuance
Number of shares to Weighted-average under equity
be issned upon exercise price of compensation plans
exercise of outstanding (excluding
outstanding options, options, warrants securities reflected
Plan Category : . warrants and rights and rights in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by
Stockholders .. .................... 4,023,732 $23.38 1,738,462
Equity compensation plans not approved
by stockholders . ................... : 0 0 0
Total........ S 4,023,732 $23.38 - 1,738,462

Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

|
‘;,
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected financial data in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our Financial Statements§ and the Notes
thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected financial data as of and for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 have been derived from our audited financial
statements. The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of the results of future operations.

) Years Ended June 30, \
1999 2000 2001 2002(1) 2003(2)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Statements of Operations Data: ;’

Revenues: !
Net patient revenue . . ................. $244,158  $335,601  $446,007 $633,249  $1,337,414
Otherrevenue........................ 12,277 15,432 14,985 18,257 33,982
Equity in net income of joint ventures . .. 1,919 2,002 1,148 2,067 1,940
Total revenues ................. . 258,354 353,035 462,140 653,573 1,373,336
Operating expenses: ' r
Costofsales......................... 220,517 300,973 395,365 - 544,902 1,086,334
General and administrative .. ........... 17,637 . 23,831 29,871 45,571, 129,803
Baddebts ......................... . 4,739 6,117 6,131 5,833 87,418
Restructuring charge .................. — — — 3,893 —
Depreciation and amortization .......... \ 3911 3,397 4,263 3,675 10,386
Total operating expenses . ........ 246,804 334,318 435,630 603,874 . 1,313,941
Operating income . . ... ........ oo ooen... -. 11,550 18,717 26,510 49,699 59,395
Interest expense (income), net ...... e 3,165 2,136 (2,770) (359) 9,564
Income before minority interest in income of ; ‘
consolidated joint venture, income taxes ‘
and extraordinary item ................ 8,385 16,581 29,280 50,058 49,831
Minority interest in income of consolidated ‘
jointventure ................ciiie... : — (177) (692) (1,273) (2,044)
Income before income taxes and
extraordinary item .. .................. _ 8,385 16,404 28,588 48,785 47,787
Income tax expense ..................... 4,003 6,508 11,333 19,025 18,252
Income before extraordinary item ......... 4,382 9,896 17,255 29,760 29,535
Extraordinary item for early extinguishment : ‘
of debt, Net of income tax benefit....... (1,254) _ — — —
Netincome ... ... .. 3,128 9,896 - 17,235 29,7160 29,535
Mandatorily redeemable cumulative ‘
preferred Stock dividends .............. (1,617) — — — —
Net income to common stockholders ... ... § 1,511 $ 98% § 17,255 $ 29760 $ 29,535
‘ I
Diluted earnings per common share: |
Income before extraordinary item ......... $ 019 $ 030 $ 044 $ - 0,73 $ 0.61
Extraordinary item...................... (0.06) — = — —
Preferred stock dividends ................ (0.07) — — — —
Net income to common stockholders ... ... $ 006 $ 030 $ 044 $ 073 $ 0.61

Cash dividends declared on common stock.. §$ — % — 3 — 3 — 3 —




June 30,

‘1999 2600 2001 2002 2005
Balance Sheet Data; '
Cash and cash equivalents . ... ............. $ 5542 $10,204 § 54520 § 42913 $ 48,006
Working capital . ... .. .. U e . 28,906 35,639 88,288 309,780 295,874
Total assets ........... ... .. 0o uiiiii.. 146,746 205,229 289,244 924,829 914,783
Long-term debt . ........, e .o 20,500 37,000 — 224,688 178,438

Stockholders” equity ., .............. AU 64,127 77,544 189,170 471,054 512,708

(1) Our results for the fiscal year ended 2002 include the opérations of the'SPS division from June 14, 2002
through June 30, 2002. :

(2) Bad debts expense for our fiscal year 2003 includes the effect of a significant change in estimate as
described below in the heading “Change in  Accounting Estimate™ in Ttem 7 “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations”.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the “Selected Financial Data”
and ‘our Financial Statements and the Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The discussion in this Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties,
such as statements regarding our plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. The cautionary statements
made in this Form 10-K should be read as being applicable to all forward-looking statements wherever they
appear in this Report. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed here. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such dz'ﬂeretices include those discussed in Item 1 under the heading “Risk Factors,” as
well as those discussed elsewhere herein.

Overview

We provide specialty retail pharmacy services for the treatment of patients with costly, chronic diseases.
We derive revenues primarily from the sale of drugs to patients. We focus almost exclusively on a limited
number of complex and éxpensive drugs that serve small patient populations. The following table presents the
percentage of our total revenues generated from sales with respect to the diseases that we primarily served in
the years ended June 30:

Hemophilia, Autoimmune Disorders and PID ............. ... ... ..... 21%  27% 38%

Multiple Sclerosis™. ............ . oo B 8% 31% 14%

. Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension ... .. e S e - 2% 14%
Gaucher Disease . ................. R P 23% 18% 10%
Growth Hormone-Related Disorders ........................ S % 9% 1%

~ Respiratory Syneytial Virus ........ ... i 6% 10% 6%

The increases in revenues from the diseases hemophilia, autoimmune disorders, PID and PAH and the
related decreases in revenues from the diseases multiple sclerosis, Gaucher, growth hormone related disorders
and RSV are primarily due to the acquisition of the SPS division. The majority of the revenues of the SPS
division related to hemophilia, autoimmune disorders, PID and PAH. '

Sales and services with respect to Multiple Sclerosis, Gaucher Disease, RSV, PAH and growth hormone-
related disorders are dependent upon our relationships with Biogen, Genzyme, MedImmune, GlaxoS-
mithKline, Actelion Pharmaceuticals U.S., United Therapeutics and Genentech. Our agreements with these
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manufacturers describe the services to be provided by us, including contract pharmacy, information, clinical,

reimbursement and customized delivery services. These agreements generally: 1

» allow the manufacturer to distribute directly or through other parties; and \

1

« are short-term and may be cancelled by either party, without cause, upon between 30 and 365 days
prior notice. v |

These agreements vary in level of exclusivity and scope of services provided. We typically purchase
products at prices at or below the manufacturers’ average wholesale sales prices, and our resulting contribution
* margins vary for each product line. Pricing is customized to reflect specific services to be prov1ded by us and in
some cases is subject to periodic adjustments to refiect changing market conditions. A few of these agreements
limit our ability to supply competing drugs during (and in some cases up to five years after) the term of the
agreement.

We purchase drugs for herhophilia and autoimmune disorders from all available sourées on a volume
discount basis. We are one of the national assignment of benefits providers selected by MedImmune Inc. to
distribute drugs for RSV. During 2002, we began providing specialty retail pharmacy services for the
treatment of patients with PAH. We distribute all three of the drug therapies for this disease.

We recognize revenue in the period the drugs are delivered or when we have performed the contractual
service. While we may experience revenue changes from price fluctuations on our existing product lines, our
revenue growth will depend principally on the introduction of new drugs and on volume growth in existing drug
lines.

Reimbursement for the products we sell comes from governmental payors, Medicare aﬁd Medicaid, and
non-governmental payors. The following table presents the percentage of our total revenues reimbursed by
these payors:

Year Ended - Year Ended  : Year Ended
. June 30, 2001 June 30, 2002 :'June30, 2003
Non-governmental .......... ... ... ... .. ... 81% 79% ‘ 73%
Governmental: o
Medicaid ... ...t 1% 19%  20%
TMedicare ... ) 2% i 2% ‘ 7%

The increase in Medicare reimbursement and the related decrease in non-governmental reimbursement
from fiscal year 2002 to fiscal year 2003 is'due to the revenues from hemophilia-factor and the PAH products,
Flolan® and Remodulin, as a result of the acquisition of the SPS division. These are the only products we
distribute for which we are reimbursed directly by Medicare. We anticipate that our payor mix for fiscal year
2004 will be similar to the payor mix achieved in fiscal year 2003.

We have five joint venture agreements with various medical centers (or their affiliates)/in which we own
50% of each venture and one joint venture agreement with a medical center affiliate in which we own 80% of
the joint venture. Many of our patient populations have diseases that are discovered before or during
adolescence and require ongoing care from physician specialists, many of whom are based at pediatric,
academic and other acute care medical centers. To date, these ventures have p'riman'ly derived revenues from
the treatment of patients with hemophilia, growth hormone-related disorders and RSV. We share profits and
losses with our joint venture partners in equal proportion to our respective equity ownership. We account for
our interests in the et income or loss in our 50% owned joint ventures under the equity method of accounting
and in our 80% owned joint venture under the consolidated method of accounting. Qur equity interest in the
net income of the 50% owned joint ventures represented approximately 4% of our income before income taxes
in each of the years ended June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003.

Cost of sales include drug acquisition costs, pharmacy and warehouse personnel costs,ffreight and other
direct costs associated with the delivery of our products and costs of clinical services provided. General and
administrative expenses include the personnel costs. of the reimbursement, sales, marketing, administrative
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and support staffs as well as corporate overhead and other general expenses. Bad debts include our provision
for patient accounts receivable which we estimate will prove to be uncollectible after routine collection efforts
have been exhausted. We typically hire personnel and incur legal, recruiting, marketing and other expenses in
anticipation of the commercial launch of a new biopharmaceutical drug. In some instances, a portion of these
expenses are reimbursed to us by the blopharmaceutlcal manufacturer. We have not historically capitalized
any of these start-up expenses.

Due to the increasing sensitivity to drug cost within governmental and non-governmental payors, we are
continuously susceptible to reimbursement and operating margin pressures. In recent years, pharmacy benefit
managers and other non-governmental payors have aggressively attempted to discount their reimbursement
rates for our products. This aggressive discounting has resulted in some reduced margins for some of our
products and services.

Many government payors, including Medicare and Medicaid, pay us directly or indirectly for some of the
drugs that we sell at the drugs” AWP or a percentage discount off AWP. Recent government investigations
into the reporting of AWP by drug manufacturers have led First DataBank, Inc. to publish a Market Price
Survey of 437 drugs that significantly reduces reimbursement for a number of the clotting factor and the IVIG
products we sell.

A number of state Medicaid agencies now pay us for clotting factor at the prices shown on the Market
Price Survey or at a percentage discount off those prices. Other states have not changed their pricing structure
or have changed back to their pre-Market Price Survey reimbursement rates.

Recent Medicare prescription drug benefit bills in both houses of Congress, as well as a proposed rule
issued by CMS offer changes to the way the federal government pays for certain Part B drugs. With respect to
Medicare, the Senate is proposing to reduce clotting factor reimbursement from AWP minus 5% to AWP
minus 15% while the House is proposing a new rate of Average Selling Price plus 12%. On August 15, 2003,
CMS proposed a new rule that would revise the methodology for determining payment for Part B covered
drugs and biologicals. In the proposed rule, CMS offered four alternative approaches. According to CMS,
depending upon which program is adopted, the new payment methodology could be in place as early as
January 1, 2004. Similarly, California’s Medicaid program, Medi-Cal, recently adopted a plan that will shift
away from use of the discounted AWP, instead using Average Selling Price plus 20% for hemophilia factors.
California has not yet determined exactly how it will calculate Average Selling Price. Other states have
proposed or are considering similar changes to their pharmacy payment plans. We expect that these
developments will reduce prices and margins on some of the drugs that we distribute.

Both federal and state legislators are continuing to scrutinize the healthcare industry for the purpose of
reducing healthcare costs. While we are unable to predict what, if any, future healthcare-reform legislation
may be enacted at the federal or state level, we expect continuing pressure to limit expenditures by
governmental healthcare programs, which could impact the amount of revenue we receive. Approximately
19%, 21% and 27% of gross patient revenues (excluding the acute business acquired from Gentiva) for the
years ended June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, was from Medicare and state-sponsored Medicaid
programs. With the purchase of the SPS division the percentage of our revenue reimbursed by Medicare and
Medicaid was higher in 2003 when compared to the percentages experienced by us prior to the acquisition.

Acquisition

On June 13, 2002, we acquired the SPS division of Gentiva. We acquired substantially all of the assets
used in the SPS division including 100% of the outstanding stock in three of Gentiva’s subsidiaries that were
exclusively in the business conducted by the SPS division. The SPS business provides specialty retail
pharmacy and related services relating to the treatment of patients with certain costly chronic diseases. In
addition to the diseases previously served by us, the SPS business is also.a leading provider of specialty
pharmacy and related services to patients with PAH. As a result-of the acquisition, we have become a leading
provider of specialty retail pharmacy and related services, as measured by revenue. The aggregate purchase
price was $463.8 million (including $13.8 million of acquisition related costs) and consisted of $217.1 million
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of cash and 7,591,464 shares of common stock valued at $246.7 million. The results of the SPS business have
been included in the consolidated financial statements since June 14, 2002.

Results of Operations - {

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated, the percentages of total revenues represented by
the respective financial items: i

Years Ended June 30,
2001 2002 2003

Revenues: !
Net patient TEVENUE . .. ... ot ittt ittt e e 96.5% 96.9% 91.4%
Other TeVENMUS . ..ottt e e i 32 2.8 2.5
Equity in net income of joint ventures .................. ... .. .... 0.3 0.3 0.1
Total revenues . .......... e 100.0  100.0  100.0
Operating expenses: K
Costofsales ... i i 85.6 83.4 79.1
General and administrative . ... ... . 6.5 /7.0 94
Baddebts...........cc.coiiiiiii.. e 1.3 0.9 6.4
Restructuring charge. . ... . oo — 50.6 c—=
Depreciation and amortization. . .............civiiianenen. ., 0.9 10.5 0.8
Total operating €Xpenses .. .. .....c.uuuineeinanneenrnaennen 94.3 92.4 95.7
Operating income ... .. P [ 5.7 7.6 4.3
Interest income (expense), net ............ P 0.6 01 (0.7)
Income before minority interest and income taxes ................... 6.3 7.7 3.6
Minority Interest .. .. ...t e 0.1 !0.2 0.1
Income before income taxes ............ ... ..o 6.2 17.5 35
Income tax expense .................. PN 2.5 12.9 1.3
INEt INCOME o\ttt et e e e e 37% . 46% 2.2%

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accOunting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. In preparing our financial statements, we are required to
make estimates and assumptions.that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our estimates and judgments on an ongomg basis. We
base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our actual results may
differ from these estimates, and different assumptions or conditions may yield different estimates. The items in
our financial statements requiring significant estimates and Judgments are as follows: (

Revenue Recognition !

Net patient revenues are from the sales of biopharmaceutical drugs to patients and are reported at the net
amount billed to patients, third-party payors and others in the period the products are delivered. We have
agreements with certain third-party payors that provide for payments to us at amounts discounted from their
established rates. . : !
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From time to time we enter into management contracts with hemophilia treatment centers, medical
centers and joint ventures in which we have an interest. Pursuant to these contracts, we will provide certain
billing, pharmacy dispensing, inventory management, shipping, reimbursement, collection and other manage-
ment services in exchange for fees that range from a reimbursement of our costs to a percentage of the
managed entities billed charges, less contractual allowances. These contracts are for terms of up to five years
and are usually cancelable on short notice. Revenue from the management contracts is recognized when the
services are rendered and is included in other revenue.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The procedure for estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts requires significant judgment and
assumptions. Our primary collection risks are for patient co-payments and deductibles. The risk of collection
varies based upon the product, the payor and the patient’s ability to pay the amounts not reimbursed by the
payor. Some of the drugs we distribute are primarily reimbursed by prescription card benefit plans, which
reimbursement is subject to lower co-payment and deductible amounts (typically $15-$30 per prescription).
Other drugs are primarily reimbursed through major medical benefit plans, which reimbursement is subject to
higher deductible amounts. We estimate the allowance for doubtful accounts based upon a variety of factors
including the age of the outstanding receivables and our historical experience of collecting the patient co-
payvments and deductibles. However, economic and other factors could result in collections that differ from our
estimates. We continually review the estimation process and make changes to the estimates as necessary.

Allowance for Contractual Discounts

We are reimbursed for the drugs we sell by many different payors including insurance companies,
Medicare and all of the state Medicaid programs. The revenues and related accounts receivable are recorded
net of payor contractual discounts to reflect the estimated net billable amounts for the products delivered. We
estimate the allowance for contractual discounts on a payor-specific basis, given our interpretation of the
contract terms or applicable regulations. However, the reimbursement rates are often subject to interpretation
that could result in payments that differ from our estimates. Additionally, updated regulations and contract
negotiations occur frequently, necessitating our continual review and assessment of the estimation process.

Patient Credit Balance Liability

Patient credit balances arise due to many factors including overpayments from payors, unapplied
payments due to insufficient information and payments against invoices that have previously been written off.
We estimate the amount of credit balances that relate to overpayments from payors based upon historical
trends and other available information and classify those credit balances as accounts payable in the financial
statements.

Medical Claims Reserves

We maintain self-insured medical and dental plans for employees. Claims expense is accrued under these
plans as the incidents that give rise to them occur. We use a third-party administrator to process all such
claims. Unpaid claim accruals are estimated based on. historical costs of settlement and average lag times. We
believe that the estimation methodology used effectively captures our medical claims costs, however,
payments could differ from our estimates due to changes in the healthcare cost structure or changes in the
volume of claims filed.

Asset Impairment

Management periodically evaluates the carrying values of long-lived assets, including property and
equipment, to determine whether events and circumstances indicate that these assets have been impaired. An
asset is considered impaired when undiscounted cash flows to be realized from such asset are less than its
carrying value. In that event, a loss is determined based on the amount the carrying value exceeds the fair
market value of such asset.
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Effective on July I, 2001, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. This statement addresses the accounting and reporting of goodwill and
other intangible assets subsequent to their acquisition. Since adoption of SFAS No. 142 in July 2001,
amortization of goodwill has discontinued, and goodwill is reviewed at least annually for impairment.

We evaluate goodwill for impairment based on a two-step process. The first step compares the fair value
of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its
carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not impaired and the second step of the impairment test is
unnecessary. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second stép of the goodwill
impairment test is necessary to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The second step compares the
implied fair value of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. If thejcarrying amount
of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss would be
recognized in an amount equal to that excess. We have one reporting unit and the fair value of the reporting
unit exceeded its carrying amount resulting in no impairment charges in fiscal year 2003. :

i
|

We are subject to audit by federal and state tax authorities. These audits could résult in proposed
assessments that challenge certain tax positions, which, if upheld through the administrative and legal process,
could have a material impact on our earnings and cash flow. We believe that our tax positions comply with
applicable tax law, and we do not anticipate any material impact on earnings or cash flows.

Income Taxes

Change in Accounting Estimate :
: L

In preparing our financial statements, we are required to make certain estimates, including those related

to the allowance for doubtful accounts, refundable credit balances, self-insurance accruals, income tax
liabilities and impairment tests on goodwill. We periodically review our estimates to ensure that the estimates

appropriately reflect changes in our business or as new information becomes available.
\

During the March 2003 quarter, we analyzed historical collection rates and other data used in estimating
the allowance for doubtful accounts. Qur calculations indicated that the accounts receivable reserve needed to
be increased. As a result of the new information obtained through the analysis completed subsequent to the
March 2003 quarter, in the third quarter of fiscal year 2003 we recorded a net $49 million éharge to bad debt
expense and increased the allowance for doubtful accounts related to the accounts recelvable of the SPS
division. :

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2003 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2002

Revenues. Total revenues increased 110% from $653.6 million to $1,373.3 million from fiscal year 2002
to fiscal year 2003. Net patient revenues increased 111% from $633.2 million to $1,337.4 million from fiscal
year 2002 to fiscal year 2003. The increase in revenues is attributable to the SPS acquisition completed on
June 13, 2002 and volume growth in our products for the treatments of growth hormone disorders, hemophilia,
Gaucher disease and autoimmune disorders as a result of the addition of new patients and additional sales of
product to existing patients. We also had a significant increase in our seasonal drug Synagis® for the treatment
of RSV as a result of increased patient volume. We also benefited from the addition of new and expanded
contracts with managed care organizations.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales increased 99% from $544.9 million to $1,086.3 million frbm fiscal year 2002
to fiscal year 2003, which is commensurate with the increase in our revenues discussed above. As a percentage
of revenues, cost of sales decreased from 83.4% to 79.1% from fiscal year 2002 to fiscal year 2003 resulting in
gross margins of 16.6% in fiscal year 2002 and 20.9% in fiscal year 2003. Gross margms for the individual
products have remained relatively stable; however, a change in product mix resulted in. an increase in the
composite gross margin in fiscal year 2003. The primary drivers were increased revenues from hemophilia
factor, IVIG for the treatment of autoimmune disorders and Flolan® for the treatment of PAH, which have
lower acquisition costs as a percentage of revenue than most of the other products we distribute.

|
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General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses increased from $45.6 million to
$129.8 million, or 185%, from fiscal year 2002 to fiscal year 2003. The increase is due to the SPS acquisition
completed on June 13, 2002 and increased salaries and benefits associated with the expansion of our
reimbursement, sales and marketing, administrative and support staffs and the addition of office space and
related furniture and fixtures to support the revenue growth. General and administrative expenses represented
7.0% and 9.4% of revenues for fiscal years 2002 and 2003, respectively. The increase to 9.4% in fiscal year 2003
is due to product mix changes. The higher margin products, which were a higher percentage of our total
revenues in fiscal year 2003, have higher general and administrative expenses associated with them than many
of the other product lines that we distribute.

Bad Debts. Bad debts increased from $5.8 million to $87.4 million from fiscal year 2002 to fiscal year
2003. As a percentage of revenues, bad debt expense increased from 0.9% to 6.4% from fiscal year 2002 to
fiscal year 2003. The increase in expense is primarily due to the change described above in Change in
Accounting Estimate. During the March 2003 quarter, we analyzed historical collection rates and other data
used in estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts. Our calculations indicated that the accounts receivable
reserve needed to be increased. As a result of the new information obtained through the analysis completed
subsequent to the March 2003 quarter, in the third quarter of fiscal year 2003 we recorded a net $49 million
charge to bad debt expense and increased the allowance for doubtful accounts related to the accounts
receivable of the SPS division.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation expense increased from $2.3 million to $5.8 million from
fiscal year 2002 to fiscal year 2003 as a result of the assets acquired in the SPS acquisition, purchases of
property and equipment associated with our revenue growth and the expansion of our leasehold facility
improvements. Amortization expense related to other intangible assets increased from $1.3 million to
$4.6 million from fiscal year 2002 to ﬁscal year 2003 due to the SPS acquisition.

Interest Income/Expense, Net. Interest income, net was $0.4 million in fiscal year 2002 and interest
expense, net was $9.6 million in fiscal year 2003. The change, amounting to $10.0 million, is primarily due to
the debt outstanding during fiscal year 2003 that was incurred in June 2002 to finance the cash portion of the
SPS acquisition and the related acquisition costs.

Income Tax Expense. Our effective tax rate decreased from 39.0% to 38.2% from fiscal year 2002 to
fiscal year 2003. The difference between the recognized effective tax rate and the statutory tax rate is primarily
attributed to state income taxes.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2002 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2001

Revenues. Total revenues increased 41% from $462.1 million to $653.6 million from fiscal year 2001 to
fiscal year 2002. Acquisitions completed during 2002 accounted for $57.6 million of the increase in total
revenues. Net patient revenues increased, 42% from $446.0 million to $633.2 million from fiscal year 2001 to
fiscal year 2002. Acquisitions completed during 2002 accounted for $55.8 million of the increase in net patient
revenues. In fiscal year 2002, we experienced growth in our products for the treatments of multiple sclerosis,
growth hormone disorders, hemophilia and Gaucher disease and autoimmune disorders as a result of volume
growth with the addition of new patients, additional sales of product to existing patients and acquisitions. We
also had a significant increase in our seasonal drug Synagis® for the treatment of RSV as a result of increased
patient volume. We also benefited from the addition of new and expanded contracts with managed care
organizations.

Cost of Sales.  Cost of sales increased 38% from $395.4 million to $544.9 million from fiscal year 2001 to
fiscal year 2002, which is commensurate with the increase in our revenues discussed above. As a percentage of
revenues, cost of sales decreased from 85.6% to 83.4% from fiscal year 2001 to fiscal year 2002 resulting in
gross margins of 14.4% in fiscal year 2001 and .16.6% in fiscal year 2002. Gross margins for the individual
products have remained relatively stable; however, a change in product mix resulted in an increase in the
composite gross margin in fiscal year 2002. The. primary drivers were increased revenues from hemophilia
factor, IVIG for the treatment of autoimmune disorders and Flolan® for the treatment of PAH, which have
lower acquisition costs as a percentage of revenue than most of the other products we distribute.
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General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses increased from $29.9 million to
$45.6 million, or 53%, from fiscal year 2001 to fiscal year 2002. Acquisitions completed during f2002 accounted
for $5.5 million of the increase in general and administrative expenses. The balance of the increase was
primarily the result of increased salaries and benefits associated with the expansion of our reimbursement,
sales and marketing, administrative and support staffs and the addition of office space and related furniture
and fixtures to support. the revenue growth. General and administrative expenses represented 6 5% and 7.0% of
revenues for fiscal years 2001 and 2002, respectively. ‘

Bad Debts. Bad debts decreased from $6.1 million to $5.8 million from fiscal year 2001 to fiscal year
2002. As a percentage of revenues, bad debt expense decreased from 1.3% to 0.9% from fiscal year 2001 to
fiscal year 2002. The decrease in bad debts as a percentage of revenues is primarily due to the increased
percentage of our revenues that was reimbursed by prescription card benefits versus major medical benefit
plans. The majority of the reimbursement for both AVONEX® and Synagis® is being provided by prescription
card benefit plans, and therefore is subject to much lower co-payment and deductible amounts (typically $15-
$30 per prescription) resulting in lower bad debt.

Restructuring Charge. In connection with the acquisition of the SPS business, we recorded a restructur-
ing charge of $3.9 million. The charge includes a $3.6 million write-off (of which $3.2 million is non-cash) of
a software application we were developing that will not be implemented as a result of the decision to enhance
and implement company wide the software application acquired with the SPS business. The restructuring
charge also includes $0.3 million for future lease commitments that will be abandoned once the facility
integration plan related to the acquisition has been completed. |

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation expense increased from $1.5 million to $2.3 million from
fiscal year 2001 to fiscal year 2002 as a result of purchases of property and equipment associated with our
revenue growth and the expansion of our leasehold facility improvements. Amortization expense associated
with goodwill and other intangible assets decreased from $2.8 million to $1.3 million from fiscal year 2001 to
fiscal year 2002 due to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (*SFAS”) 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, during the first quarter of fiscal year 2002. The application of the non-
amortization of goodwill provisions resulted in a reduction in amortization expense (net of income taxes) of
approximately $1.5 million or $0.06 per diluted share. ‘

Interest Income/Expense, Net. Interest income, net decreased from $2.8 million to $0.4 million from
fiscal year 2001 to fiscal year 2002. The decrease is due to a decrease in the average amount of cash invested
during the year primarily as a result of cash used for acquisitions and earn-out payments related to prior year
acquisitions and a decrease in the interest rate earned on the amounts invested. In addition, we incurred
$230 million in debt on June 13, 2002 to acquire the SPS division of Gentiva Health Services.

Income Tax Expense. Our effective tax rate decreased from 39.6% to 39.0% from fiscal year 2001 to
fiscal year 2002. The decrease in the effective tax rate is primarily due to the adoption of the non-amortization
provisions of SFAS No. 142 discussed above. The difference between the recognized eﬁ”ectlve tax rate and the
statutory tax rate is primarily attributed to state income taxes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2003 and June 30, 2002, we had working capital of $295.9 million and $309.8 million,
respectively. Our net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $72.3 million for the year ended
June 30, 2003 and $34.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. This increase is due to thé SPS acquisition
and the timing of the collection of receivables, inventory purchases and payments of accounts payable and
accrued expenses.

Net cash used by investing activities was $39.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2003 and
$266.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2002. Cash used by investing activities in the year ended June 30,
2003 consisted primarily of $21.9 million for acquisitions, which included a $16.0 million ¢arn out payment
related to a fiscal year 2002 acquisition, $16.0 million for purchases of property and equipment and
$1.8 million of undistributed earnings from our joint ventures. Cash used by investing activities in fiscal 2002
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consisted primarily of $256.2 million for acquisitions most of which related to the acquisition of the SPS
business, $8.9 million for purchases of property and equipment, $2.9 million of undistributed earnings from our
joint ventures less $2.0 million for net sales of marketable securities.

Net cash used in financing activities was $27.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2003 and
$220.2 million was provided by financing activities for the year ended June 30, 2002. Cash used in financing
activities for the year ended June 30, 2003 consisted primarily of $35.3 million of repayments on our credit
facility less $7.8 million from the issuance of common stock. Cash provided by financing activities for the year
ended June 30, 2002 consisted primarily of $223.9 million of net borrowings on our credit facility, which was
used to acquire the SPS business in June 2002.

Historically, we have funded our operations and continued internal growth through cash provided by
operations. Capital expenditures amounted to $16.0 million in fiscal year 2003 and $8.9 million in fiscal year
2002. We anticipate that our capital expenditures-for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2004 will consist primarily
of additional computer hardware, enhancements to our fully integrated pharmacy and reimbursement software
system and costs to build out and furnish additional space needed to meet the needs of our growth. We expect
the cost of our capital expenditures in fiscal year 2004 to be approximately $13.0 million, exclusive of any
acquisitions of businesses. We expect to fund these expenditures through cash provided by operating activities
and/or borrowings under the revolving credit agreement with our bank.

During 2002, we amended our $60 million revelving credit facility with Bank of America, N.A. and other
participating banks (collectively the “Lenders”) to increase the size of the credit facility to $325 million. The
credit facility consists of a $125 million revolving commitment expiring June 2007, a $75 million term loan
Tranche A Term Loan due in periodic principal payments through March 2007, and a $125 million term loan
Tranche B Term Loan due in periodic principal payments through March 2009. The amocunt available to
borrow under this credit facility is based upon certain ratios calculated as of the end of each quarter. Based
upon the asset coverage ratio as of June 30, 2003, the total amount available to borrow is approximately
$256 million. As of June 30, 2003, the total amount outstanding under the credit facility was $194.7 million,
which included $71.3 million under the Tranche A Term Loan and $123.4 million under the Tranche B Term
Loan. :

Amounts outstanding under the credit agreement bear interest at varying rates based upon a London
Inter-Bank Offered Rate LIBOR or prime rate of interest (as selected by us), plus a variable margin rate
based upon our leverage ratio as defined by the credit agreement. The combination of a variable rate margin
and LIBOR base rate resulted in an effective rate of 4.36% and 3.67% at June 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively.
Our obligations under the credit agreement are secured by a lien on substantially all of our assets, including a
pledge of all of the common stock or partnership interest of each of our subsidiaries in which we own an 80%
or more interest. The Lenders’ security interest in a portion of our inventory is subordinate to the liens on that
inventory under the terms of a security agreement between one of our vendors and us. The same vendor has a
security interest in certain accounts receivable, which is subordinate to the rights of the Lenders.

The credit agreement contains financial covenants, including requirements to maintain certain ratios with
respect to leverage, fixed charge coverage, net worth and asset coverage, each as defined in the credit
agreement. The credit agreement also includes customary affirmative and negative covenants, including
covenants relating to transactions with affiliates, uses of proceeds, restrictions on subsidiaries, limitations on
indebtedness, limitations on mergers, acquisitions and asset dispositions, limitations on investments, limita-
tions on payment of dividends and stock repurchases, and other distributions. The credit agreement also
contains customary events of default, including events relating to changes in control of our company.

The credit agreement required us to enter into a one-year interest rate swap agreement within 60 days of
June 13, 2002, to protect against fluctuations in interest rates. The credit agreement required the interest rate
swap to provide coverage in an amount equal to at least 50% of the outstanding principal amount of the loans.
On July 17, 2002, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement effectively converting for a period of one
year $120 million of floating-rate borrowings to fixed-rate borrowings with a fixed rate of 2.175%, plus the
applicable margin rate as determined by the credit agreement. On June 4, 2003, we entered into an interest
rate swap agreement effectively converting for a period of one year beginning July 21, 2003, $120 million of
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floating-rate borrowings to fixed-rate borrowings with a fixed rate of 1.14%, plus the apphcable margin rate as
determined by the credit agreement.

On May 5, 2003, we amended the credit agreement to exclude the charges, as defined ih the amendment
to the credit agreement, taken in the March 2003 quarter in connection with the additional accounts
receivable reserves of the SPS division from the calculation of Consolidated EBITDA, as defined in the credit
agreement, and to reduce the Consolidated Net Worth requirement, as defined in the credit agreement, to
allow for a reduction in the minimum net worth requirement equal to the net loss incurred in the March 2003
quarter. The amendment also included a 25 basis point increase in interest rates per the credlt agreement for a
period of twelve months beginning May 15, 2003,

Previously, we had effectively converted, for the period through October 31, 2001, $25 0 million of
floating-rate borrowings to fixed-rate borrowings. We had secured a 5.5% fixed interest rate (exclusive of the
margin rate) using an interest rate swap agreement. On August 21, 2000, in conjunction with the repayment of
the outstanding principal balance of our revolving line of credit, we surrendered our swap agreement and
received $350,000 in consideration for the early termination of the agreement.

On February 6, 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) declared effcctlvc our shelf
registration statement on Form S-3 providing for the offer, from time to time, of various s¢curities, up to an
aggregate of $500 million. The shelf registration statement may enable us to more efficiently raise funds from
the offering of securities covered by the shelf registration statement, subject to market conditions and our
capital needs. !

We believe that our cash from operations, cash available under the revolving credit facility and the
proceeds from any offering of debt or equity securities allowed by the shelf registration statement will be

sufficient to meet our internal operating requirements and growth plans for at least the next 12 months.
I

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards : ) ‘

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141, Business
Combinations, which requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for
under the purchase method. SFAS No. 141 also sets forth guidelines for applying the purchase method of
accounting in the determination of intangible assets, including goodwill acquired in a business combination,
and expands financial disclosures concerning business combinations completed after June 30, 2001 The

adoption of SFAS No. 141 did not have any effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Effective July I, 2001, we early adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Iniangible Assets, which
established new accounting and reporting requirements for goodwill and other intangible assets. Under SFAS
No. 142, all goodwill amortization ceased effective July 1, 2001, and goodwill was tested for impairment.
Impairment tests are required to be performed at the date of adoption of SFAS No. 142 and at least annually
thereafter. Absent any impairment indicators, we perform our annual impairment tests during the fourth
quarter. The impairment tests performed at adoption and in the fourth quarter of 2002 and 2003 resulted in no
adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill. ‘

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets. SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of. SFAS No. 144 removes goodwill from its scope and clarifies
other implementation issues related to SFAS No. 121. SFAS No. 144 also provides a single framework for
evaluating long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale. The adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 144 in fiscal
year 2003 did not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operatlons

In April 2002 the FASB issued SFAS No. 145,. Rescission of FASB Statements No 4, 44, and 62,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections. SFAS No. 145 requires gains and losses
on extinguishment of debt to be classified as income or loss from continuing operations rather than as
extraordinary items as previously required under SFAS No. 4, Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguish-
ment of Debt. SFAS No. 145 also amends SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases to require certain
modifications to capital leases treated as a sale-leaseback and modifies the accounting for sub-leases when the
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original lessee remains a secondary obligor or guarantor. The adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 145 in
fiscal year 2003 did not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal
activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity. SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for
a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF
Issue No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan.
The provisions of SFAS No. 146 are effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December
31, 2002. The adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 146 in fiscal year 2003 did not have a material effect on
our financial position or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation (FIN) No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosures Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN
No. 45 requires.an entity to recognize an initial liability for the fair value of an obligation assumed by issuing a
guarantee. The provision for initial recognition and measurement of the liability are applied to guarantees
issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The adoption of the provisions of FIN No. 45 in fiscal year 2003
did not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ~
Transition and Disclosure. This Statement amends SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensa-
tion, to provide for alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation. This statement also amends the disclosure provisions of
SFAS No. 123 and APB Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, to require disclosure in the summary
of significant accounting policies the effects of an entity’s accounting policy with respect to stock based
employee compensation on reported net income and earnings per share in annual and interim financial
statements. We adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 on January 1, 2003, which did not have
any effect on our financial position or results of operations. We have not adopted the other provisions of SFAS
No. 148.

- In January 2003, the FASB :issued FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, which
clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51; Consolidated Financial Statements. FIN
No. 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if
the equity investors in the entity do not. have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not
provide sufficient equity at risk for the entity to support its activities. FIN No. 46 is effective for all variable
interest entities created after January 31, 2003. For variable interest entities acquired or created prior to
February 1, 2003, the provisions of FIN No. 46 must be applied to the first interim or annual period beginning
after June 15, 2003. We do not expect the adoptlon of FIN No. 46 to have a material effect on our financial
position or results of operations.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities. This Statement amends SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities, by requiring that contracts with comparable characteristics be accounted for similarly and
clarifies when a derivative contains a financing component that warrants special reporting in the statement of
cash flows. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and for
hedging relationships designated after Juné 30, 2003 and must be applied prospectively. We do not expect the
adoption of SFAS No. 149 to have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. This statement established standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures in its statement of financial position certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after
May 31,2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 13,
2003 and must be applied prospectively by reporting the cumulative éffect of a change in an accounting
principle for financial instruments created before the issuance date of the Statement and still existing at the
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beginning of the interim period of adoption. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No.:!150 to have a
material effect on our financial position or results of operations since-we do not currently have any financial

instruments with characteristics of both hablhtles and equity. ‘
Impact of Inflation “
Changes in prices charged by the biopharmaceutical manufacturers for the drugs we dispense, along with
increasing labor costs, freight and supply costs and other overhead expenses, affect our cost of sales and
general and administrative expenses.. Historically, we have been able to pass all, or a portion, of the effect of
such increases to the biopharmaceutical manufacturers pursuant to negotiated adjustments made under our
preferred distribution agreements. As a result, changes due to inflation have not had s1gn1ﬁcant adverse effects
on our operations. ‘ !

[

F orward Looking Information

Certain matters discussed in the preceding pages of this Form 10-K, particularly regardlng implementa-
tion of the our strategy, development of new drugs by the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries,
anticipated growth and revenues, anticipated working capital and sources of funding for growfth opportunities,
expenditures, interest, costs and income constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of

Section 27TA of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (See Item 1 — “Risk Factors”). ‘J

h
i

Item 7A. Quantztatwe and Qualztatzve Disclosures about Market Risk

Our exposure to the impact of financial market risk is significant. OQur primary ﬁnan01al market risk
exposure consists of interest rate risk related to interest that we are obligated to pay on our variable-rate debt.

i

We use derivative financial instruments to manage some of our exposure to rising interest rates on our
variable-rate debt, primarily by entering into variable-to-fixed interest rate swaps. We have fixed the interest
rate through July 21, 2004 on $120.0 million of our variable-rate debt through the usé of a' variable-to-fixed
interest rate swap. As a result, we will not benefit from any decrease in interest rates nor will we be subjected
to any detriment from rising interest rates on this portion of our debt during the period of the swap agreement..
Accordingly, a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates along the entire yield curve would not increase pre-tax
income by $1.2 million for the year as would be expected without this financial instrument. However, a
100 basis point increase in interest rates along the entire yield curve would also not decrease pre -tax income by
$1.2 million for the same period as a result of using this derivative financial instrument.

For the remaining portion of our variable-rate debt, we have not hedged against our interest rate risk
exposure. As a result, we will benefit from decreasing interest rates, but rising interest rates\ on this portion of
our debt will also harm us. Accordingly, if we maintain our current level of total debt, \a 100 basis point
decrease in interest rates along the entire yield curve would result in an increase in pre-tax income of
approximately $0.75 million for the year. However, a 100 basis point increase in interest rates would result in a
decrease in pre-tax income of $0.75 million for the same period. ‘,

Actual changes in rates may differ from the hypothetical assumptions used in computmg the exposures in

the examples cited above. . 5
L _ |

i

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The. Consolidated Fmanmal Statements and financial statement schedule in Part v, Item 14(a)(1) and
(2) of the report are incorporated by reference into this Item 8. ‘

|
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On May 5, 2003, the Company dismissed Ernst & Young LLP as its independent pubhc accountant. The
decision to terminate the engagement of Ernst & Young LLP was recommended and approved by the Audit
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, which determined that such-termination was in the best
interests of the Company, and approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. ; ,
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Ernst & Young LLP was retained as the Company’s.independent auditor at the time of the Company’s
formation on May 29, 1996. Ernst & Young LLP’s reports on the financial statements of the Company for
each of the years ended June 30, 2002 and June 30, 2001 did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of
opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.

During the years ended June 30, 2002 and June 30, 2001 and the interim period between June 30, 2002
and May 5, 2003, the date of this Form 8-K, there were no disagreements between the Company and Emnst &
Young LLP on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing
scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Emst & Young LLP, would
have caused it to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreements in connection with its reports for
such years. During the years ended June 30, 2002 and June 30, 2001 and the interim period between June 30,
2002 and the date of Ernst & Young LLP’s dismissal on May 5, 2003, there were no reportable events (as
defined in Ttem 304(a) (1) (v) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission).

The Company requested that Ernst & Young LLP furnish it with a letter addressed to the Securities and
Exchange Commission stating whether or not it agreed with the above statements. A copy of the letter from
Ernst & Young LLP dated May 19, 2003 was filed as Exhibit 16.1 to the Form 8-K/A filed May 19, 2003.

On June 10, 2003, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company approved the
engagement of Deloitte & Touche LLP to-serve as the Company’s new independent auditors, effective
June 10, 2003. :

Duriilg the fiscal years ended June 30, 2002 and June 30, 2001, and the interim period between June 30,
2002 and the date of the Company’s engagement of Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company did not consult
with Deloitte & Touche LLP with respect to any matters described in paragraphs (a)(2) (i) or (ii) of
Item 304 of Regulation S-K.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated the effectiveness of the
design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered
by this report. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of the
end of the period covered by this report the Company maintains. disclosure controls and procedures that
provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and -forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

The Company’s changes in internal controls during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003 have primarily
been in response to the integration of the SPS Division acquired on June 13, 2002, and the migration of the
Company’s technology infrastructure to a common platform. The nature of the changes was to enhance the
" internal controls of the acquired business and modify the controls to improve their consistency with the
Company’s internal controls. We do not believe that these changes have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.
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PART III {

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Company ‘

The information required by this item will appear in, and is incorporated by reference ffom, the sections
entitled “Proposals for Stockholder Action — Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Benéﬁcial Ownership
Reporting Compliance,” “Management” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participa-
tion” included in the Companys dcﬁnmvc Proxy Statement relating to the 2003 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. .

Item 11. Executive Compensation : i
: \

The information required by this item will appear in the section entitled “Executive Compensation”
included in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which information, other than the Compensation Committee Report and Performance Graph required by
. Items 402(k) and (1) of Regulation S-K, is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management >

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans in Part II, Item 5 of the report are

incorporated by reference into this Item 12.
|

The information required by this item will appear in, and is incorporated by reference from, the section
entitled “Security Ownership of Directors, Officers and Principal Stockholders” included 1 1n the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement relating to the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. ;

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item will appear in, and is incorporated by reference’ from, the sections
entitled “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” included in the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to! ‘the 2003 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. ;
L
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services “

The informaticn required by this item will appear in, and is incorporated by reference from, the sections
entitled “Principal Accounting Fees and Services” includéd in the Company’s deﬁnltlvet Proxy Statement
relating to the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. i
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PART 1V

Item 14, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a)

(b)

Document filed as part of this Report:
. , Page
(1) TFinancial Statements:
Report of Independent Auditors.............. .. ... ... ... .. ... ... F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30, 2002 and 2003 .. ............. F-3
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended June 30, 2001,
2002 and 2003 .. ... F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended
- June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003 ... ... F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended June 30,
2001, 2002 and 2003 .. ... ... F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ......................... F-7

{2) Financial Statement Schedule:

Schedule II — Consolidated Schedule — Valuation and
Qualifying Accounts ........... . . e F-26
All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable
accounting Regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are
not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and
therefore have been omitted
(3) The Index of Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K included
herewith, which is incorporated herein by reference

Reports filed by the Company on Form 8-K:

We filed a report on Form 8-K on April 8, 2003 to furnish as an exhibit a press release announcing
that we revised estimates for our fiscal year ending June 30, 2003 and the examination of certain
acquired accounts receivable.

We filed a report on Form 8-K on April 9, 2003 to furnish the transcript of the conference call that
we held on April 8, 2003 discussing the revised estimates for our fiscal year ending June 30, 2003 and
the examination of certain acquired accounts receivable.

We filed a report on Form 8-K on April 21, 2003, announcing the declaration of a distribution of one
right for each outstanding share of our common stock to stockholders of record at the close of
business on April 28, 2003 and for each share of common stock issued (including shares distributed
from treasury) by us thereafter and prior to the Separation Time (as defined in the Form 8-K).
Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from us one ten-thousandth (1/10,000th) of a
share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share, at a purchase price
of $100.00 per unit. Attached as an exhibit to the 8-K was the description and terms of the rights set
forth in the Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement between Accredo Health, Incorporated and
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company, as rights agent, to be entered into in substantially the
form attached to the 8-K.

We filed a report on Form 8-K on May 5, 2003 to furnish as an exhibit the press release reporting
our financial results for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.

We filed a report on Form 8-K on May 5, 2003, announcing (i) the dismissal of Ernst & Young
LLP as our independent public accountant, and (ii) that we had filed a lawsuit against Ernst &
Young LLP seeking in excess of $53.3 million in connection with the auditing and accounting
procedures
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used by Emst & Young LLP relating to our purchase of the Specialty Pharmaceutical Services
division of Geentiva Health Services, Inc. We furnished a press release announcing .our decision to
dismiss Ernst & Young LLP as our independent public accountant and the filing of the lawsuit
against Ernst & Young LLP as an exhibit to the §-K. :

We filed a report on Form 8-K/A on May 19, 2003, amending the Form 8-K filing'of May 5, 2003
(related to the dismissal of Ernst & Young LLP). The amendment was filed to attach as an exhibit a
letter from Ernst & Young LLP, our former independent accountants.

We filed a report on Form 8-K on June 12, 2003, announcing that Deloitte & Touche LLP had been
engaged to serve as our new independent public accountants, effective June 10, 2003.
. |

]
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Accredo Health, Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Accredo Health, Incorporated and
subsidiaries as of June 30, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and
cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The
consolidated financial statements of Accredo Health, Incorporated as of June 30, 2002, and for the years
ended June 30, 2002 and 2001, were audited by other auditors whose report, dated August 16, 2002, expressed
an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion, ‘

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Accredo Health, Incorporated and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2003, and the resuits of their
operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with. accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial
statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2003, taken as a whole. The supplemental schedule listed in
the table of contents is presented for the purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic
consolidated financial statements. This schedule is the responsibility of Accredo Health, Incorporated’s
management. Such schedule as of and for the year ended June 30, 2003, has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in our audit of the basic consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly
stated in all material respects when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2003, taken as a whole.

/s/DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Memphis, Tennessee
September 4, 2003

" F-1




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 1

Board of Directors
Accredo Health, Incorporated ‘

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Accredo Health, Incorporated (the
“Company”) as of June 30, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockhoiders’ equity and
cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended June 30, 2002. Qur audits also included the financial
statement schedule listed in the Index at Itemn 14(a) as of and for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002.
These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsi-
bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis forj our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Accredo Health, Incorporated at June 30, 2002, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended June 30, 2002, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein. J

|

As discussed in Notes 2 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations and No. 142, G?odwill and Other

Intangible Assets, in 2002. !

/s/ERNST & YouNG LLP

Memphis, Tennessee
August 16, 2002




ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(000’s omitted, except share data)

June 30
ASSETS 2002 2003
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ........ ... ... . . . i $ 42913 $ 48,006
Receivables:
Patient aCCOUNTS . . o\ttt e e e e .. 417,011 434,523
Allowance for doubtful accounts ............................ e (81,758)  (126,541)
335,253 307,982
Due from affiliates . .. ... .. e 2,255 3,933
Other . . 22,555 21,226
: 360,063 333,141
InVentOrIES . .ot 120,809 89,985
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ...................c.uiaienia... 3,470 4,625
Income taxes receivable ... ... . ... e — 1,546
Deferred InCOME tAXES . . o o vttt e e e 5,954 24,579
Total CUITENt ASSELS . .\ vttt e e e e e e e e 533,209 501,882
Property and equipment, net.................. A 23,796 31,681
Other assets:
Joint venture INVESTMENTS ... ... .ttt 4,637 5,908
GoodWill, et . ..o 334919 - 352,509
Other intangible assets, Net. ... ... 28,268 22,803
Total A8SetS . . ittt $924.829  § 914,783
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . . ... $185,047 § 165,664
ACCTUE EXPENSES . - o o oottt e e e e 31,369 19,518
Due to affiliates ... ... . — 576
Income taxes payable .......... ... e 1,701 —
Current portion of long-term debt ....... ... .. ... .. ... .. .. i 5,312 16,250
Total current labilities .. .. ... ...t e 223,429 206,008
Long-term debt ... ... .. 224,688 178,438
Deferred INCOME taXES . . . ottt e 4,383 14,810
Minority interest in consolidated joint venture .............. .. ... ...coouann. 1,275 2,819
COMIIINENS . . . oottt e et e e — —
Stockholders’ equity: » ‘
Undesignated preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued. . .. — —
Common stock, $.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 46,993,261
shares in 2002 and 47,838,257 shares in 2003 issued and outstanding ....... 470 478
Additional paid-in capital ........ ... 413,004 425,183
Accumulated other comprehensive [0ss. . ... ... ... . o —_ (68)
Retained earnings. . ..ottt i e e e 57,580 87,115
Total stockholders’ equity ....... ... .. ... i 471,054 512,708
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ............. .. ..., $924,829 § 914,783

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME C
(000’s omitted, except share and per share data) i

Years Ended June 30

2001 2002 2003
Revenues:
Net patient FeVENMUE . . ..ottt ittt e iiee et $ 446,007 § 633,249 $1,337,414
Other revenue . ......... B e 14,985 18,257 33,982
Equity in net income of joint ventures ................... 1,148 2,067 1,940
Total revenues ... 462,140 653,573 1,373,336
Operating expenses: :
Costofsales . ... ... i i 395,365 544,902 1,086,334
General and administrative . ............... .. o o 29,871 45,571 129,803
Baddebts ... ... .. .. 6,131 5,833 87,418
Restructuring charge ......... .o —_ 3,§93 —
Depreciation .. ...t 1,509 2,338 5,834
AMOTtiZAtion . ... ...\ 2,754 1,337 4,552
Total operating expenses . ... .......0............. 435,630 603,874 1,313,941
Operating iMCOME . .« ..\ttt it iaee s 26,510 49,699 59,395
Interest income {expense): ‘
Interest EXPense . ... ..ottt e (467) (662) (10,281)
Interest inCoOmMe. . ... it i 3,237 1,021 717
2,770 359 {9,564)
Income before minority interest in income of consolidated joint !
venture and INCOME taXes ...t v it i et e e 29,280 50,“058 49,831
Minority interest in income of consolidated joint venture. ... .. (692) (1,273) (2,044)
Tncome before income taxes .. ... oot eeee e 28,588 48,785 47787
Income taX EXPEMSE . . ..o ittt 11,333 19,025 18,252
Net i1COME . . ..ot i $ 17255 § 29760 § 29,533
Net income per common share:
Basic ... $ 0.46 § 075 § 0.62
DAIGIEA v oo oo § 044 $ 073 $ 06l
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic ........ .. B, 37,491,744 39,547,712 47,509,682
Diluted ........ ... ... . B P 39,188,294 40,919,625 48,442,723

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(000’s omitted, except share data)

Balance at June 30, 2000

Issuance of common stock:
Public offering ........... ..
Exercise of stock options. . . ..
Employee stock purchase plan

Costs related to public offering

Tax benefit of exercise of
stock options . ..............

Compensation resulting from
stock Transactions, net of
income tax benefit ..........

Netincome..................

Balance at June 30, 2001
Issuance of common stock:

In connection with
an acquisition . ...........

‘Exercise of stock options. . . ..
Employee stock purchase plan

Tax benefit of exercise of
stock options. ..............

Compensation resulting from
stock Transactions, net of
income tax benefit ..........

Netincome..................

Balance at June 30, 2002
Issuance of common stock:

Exercise of stock options. .. ..
Employee stock purchase plan

Tax benefit of exercise of
stock options . ..............

Mark to market interest rate
swap, net of taxes of $43.....

Netincome..................

Accumulated

Common Additional Other Accumulated Total
Stock Common Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Stockholders’
Shares Stock Capital Loss Earnings Equity

31,740,356  $317 $ 66,662 $ — $10,565 $ 77,544

6,210,000 62 88,865 — — 88,927

937,589 9 2,433 — — 02,442
43,082 1 651 — — 652

— — (605) — — (605)

- - 2,840 - — 2,840

— — 115 — — 115

— — — — 17,255 17,255
38,931,027 389 160,961 — 27,820 189,170

7,591,464 76 246,647 — — 246,723

427,442 4 2,193 — — 2,197
43,328 1 895 — — 896

— — 2,204 — — 2,204

_— —_ 104 — —_ 104

— — — — 29,760 29,760
46,993,261 470 413,004 — $57,580 $471,054
762,250 7 6,008 — — 6,015
82,746 1 1,794 — — 1,795

— — 4,377 — — 4,377

— - (68) — (68)

— — — — 29,535 29,535
47,838,257 $478  $425,183 $87,115 $512,708

$(68)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(000’s omitted)

|
i
)
i

Years Ended June 30

2001 2002 2003

Operating activities . |
INEL INCOIMIE L\ttt e e e e $ 17,255 % 297760 $ 29,535
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating ‘

activities: ;

Depreciation and amortization. ......................o..... D 4,263 3,675 13,761

Restructuring charge. . ..., i — 3,893 —

Provision for losses on accounts receivable ...................... 6,131 5,833 87,418

Deferred income taXes ... ....vtiriiriie i (872) ;‘949 (8,198)

Compensation resulting from stock transactions .................. 185 164 —

Tax benefit of exercise of stock options ................. .. ...... 2,840 2,204 4,377

Minority interest in income of consolidated joint venture .......... 692 S 1,273 2,044
Changes in operating asscts and liabilities, net of effect from business 0

acquisitions: ;

Patient and other receivables............... .. .. ... .. .. .., (18,050) . (34,703) (62,960)

Due from affiliates ......... ... .. . .. . (806) 1 185 (1,102)

TOVENLOTIES . o oottt e 2,192 (34,577) 30,825

Prepaid expenses and other current assets ....................... 115 (1,945) (1,155)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses ................ ..., 9,439 56,804 (19,698)

Income taxes payable . ....... ...t (218) 1 589 (2,507)
Net cash provided by operating activities. ......................... 23,166 34,104 72,340
Investing activities |
Purchases of marketable securities ................. . ... ... ... ... (13,500) (6,000) —
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities.......... 11,500 8,000 —
Purchases of property and equipment .. ........ ... coiiiiii... (2,635) (8,858) (16,005)
Business acquisitions and joint venture investments ................. (27,088) (256,172)  (21,970)
Change in joint venture investments, net.......................... (1,343) (2,927) (1,770)
Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . e e (33,066) (265,957)  (39,745)
Financing activities |
(Payment of) proceeds from notes payable and line of credit......... (37,200) 223,889 (35,313)
Payment of deferred financing costs ............ . ... . ..., — (6,737) —
Issuance of common stock. . ... ... 92,021 :3,094 7,811
Payment of costs related to public offering ........................ (605) L = —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ................. 54,216 220,246 (27,502)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents........... S 44316 (11,607) 5,093
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .................... 10,204 54,520 42913
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ................. ....... $ 54,520 $ 42913 $ 48,006
Supplementary cash flow disclosures |
Income taxes paid ... ... ... $ 9,593 § 15279 § 20,578
Interest paid. .. ...t $ 555 $ . 395 $ 8936

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business

The consolidated financial statements and related notes to the consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of Accredo Health, Incorporated (the “Company”), its wholly-owned subsidiaries and its 80%
owned joint venture. Significant inter-company accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company provides specialty retail pharmacy and related services pursuant to agreements with
biotechnology drug manufacturers relating to the treatment of patients with certain costly chronic diseases.
Because of the unique needs of patients suffering from chronic diseases, biotechnology drug manufacturers
have recognized the benefits of customized programs to facilitate alternate site drug administration, ensure
compliance with treatment regimens, provide reimbursement assistance and capture valuable clinical and
patient demographic information. The Company addresses the needs of the manufacturers by providing
specialized services that facilitate product launch and patient acceptance including the collection of timely
drug utilization and patient compliance information, patient education and monitoring through the use of
written materials and telephonic consultation, reimbursement expertise and overnight drug delivery.

The Company has designed its specialty retail pharmacy services to focus primarily on biotechnology
injectable drugs that: (i) are used on a recurring basis to treat chronic, and potentially life threatening
diseases; (ii) are expensive; and (iii) require temperature control or other specialized handling as part of their
distribution process. Currently, the Company provides specialty retail pharmacy and related services that
address the needs of patients with chronic diseases including Multiple Sclerosis, Gaucher Disease, hemophilia,
pulmonary arterial hypertension, growth hormone-related disorders, primary immune deficiencies, auto-
immune disorders and respiratory syncytial virus.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less to be
cash equivalents.

Concentrations of Risks

The Company’s primary concentration of credit risk is patient accounts receivable, which consists of
amounts owed by various governmental agencies, insurance companies and private patients. The Company
manages the receivables by regularly reviewing its accounts and contracts and by providing appropriate
allowances for uncollectible amounts. Significant concentrations of gross patient accounts receivable consist of
the following at June 30:

2002 2003
MEICATE . v v et e e e e e e 7% 7%
Medlcald 13% 18%

Concentration of credit risk relating to accounts receivable is limited to some extent by the diversity and
number of patients and payors and the geographic dispersion of the Company’s operations. The Company
grants credit without collateral to its patients and payors.
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ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED ‘
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continuegi)

The Company derives a substantial portion of its revenue from the sale of drugs provided by a limited
number of biopharmaceutical suppliers. The table below shows the concentration of the Company’s revenue
derived from the sale of drugs provided by these suppliers for the years ended June 30: :

2001 2002 2003

BIOZEN . o\ttt 38% 131% 14%
Genzyme ............ e 23% 18% 10%
Medlmmune ................... e 6% 10% 6%
Genentech ..................... e e e e 5% r 6% 4%

The Company derived approximately 15% of its revenue from a single non- governmeﬂtal payor in the
years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002. No payor represented more than 10% of the Company s revenue in the
year ended June 30, 2003. |

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are placed with major high credit quality financial
institutions and issuers. Management believes that there is minimal credit risk associated w1th these financial
institutions and issuers.

Receivables "

Receivables are presented net of allowance for doubtful accounts and contractual allowarices. Receivables
include trade and patient accounts receivable. The Company regularly reviews and analyzesi the adequacy of
the allowances based on a variety of factors including the age of the outstanding receivable and the collection
history. If circumstances related to specific customers change, estimates of the recoverabﬂlty of receivables
could be further adjusted.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined by the first-in, first-out method, or market value.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments J

The carrying value of accounts receivable, accounts payable and long-term debt approx1mates fair value
of these financial instruments at June 30, 2002 and 2003. |

Property and Equipment J
!

Property and equipment is stated at cost. Provisions for depreciation are computedprimarily by the
straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the related assets of two to seven years.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets !
Management periodically evaluates carrying values of long-lived assets, including property and equip-
ment, to determine whether events and circumstances indicate that these assets have been impaired. An asset
is considered impaired when undiscounted cash flows to be realized from such asset are less than its carrying
value. In that event, a loss is determined based on the amount the carrying value exceeds the fair market value
of such asset, which is based on discounted cash flows. r
r
|
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of businesses acquired over fair value oﬁ net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets at the date of acquisition. Prior to the adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill was amortized

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
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ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 40 years. Since adoption of SFAS No. 142
in July 2001, amortization of goodwill was discontinued and goodwill is reviewed at least annually for
impairment. Accumulated amortization of goodwill was $7.0 million at June 30, 2002 and 2003. Other
intangible assets consist primarily of non-compete agreements and acquired patient relationships in connection
with business acquisitions. Other intangibles are being amortized using the straight-line ‘method over their
estimated useful lives of two to ten years for the non-compete agreements, four to eight vears for acquired
patient relationships and five to seven years for the deferred financing costs. Absent any impairment indicators,
the Company performs the annual impairment tests during the fourth quarter each year.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided for the tax effect of temporary differences between the tax basis of
assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements. The liability method is used to
account for income taxes, which requires deferred taxes to be recorded at the statutory rate to be in effect
when the taxes are paid.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method as permitted by
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Accordingly, no compensation expense is
recorded for employee stock-based awards issued at market value at the date such awards are granted.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over
the options’ vesting period. The Company’s pro forma information for the years ended June 30 is as follows (m
thousands, except share data):

2001 2002 2003

Net income, as reported . ... ... e $17,255  $29,760  $29,535
Less stock-based employee compensation cost, net of related tax _

effects, applying the fair value method to all rewards......... C (2,381) (3,860) (10,949)
Pro forma net income . ................. P $14874  $25900 $18,586
Earnings per share: '

Basic —asreported ... .. ... e $§ 046 $ 075 § 0.62

Basic - proforma ..... ... . ... ... $ 040 $ 065 $ 039

Diluted ~ as reported ................. e $ 044 $§ 073 $ 061

Diluted - proforma ......... ... .. ... ... ool $ 038 § 064 3 039

Revenue Recognition

Net patient revenues are from the sales of biopharmaceutical drugs to patients and are reported at the net
amount billed to patients, third-party payors and others in the period the products are delivered. The Company
has agreements with certain third-party payors that prov1de for payments to the Company at amounts
discounted from its established rates. : :

The revenues and related accounts receivable are recorded net of payor contractual discounts to reflect
the estimated net billable amounts for the products delivered. We estimate the allowance for contractual
discounts on a payor-specific basis, given our interpretation of the contract terms or applicable regulations.
However, the reimbursement rates are often subject to interpretation that could result in payments that differ
from our estimates. Additionally, updated regulations and contract negotiations occur frequently, necessitating
our continual review and assessment of the estimation process. ‘
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ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED }
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continuefd)

Approximately 19%, 21% and 27% of gross patient revenues for the years ended June 30;' 2001, 2002 and
2003, respectively, is from participation in the Medicare and state-sponsored Medicaid programs.

The Company from time to time enters into management contracts with hemophilia treatment centers,
medical centers and joint ventures in which the Company has an interest. Pursnant to these contracts, the
Company will provide certain billing, pharmacy dispensing, inventory management, shipping, reimbursement,
collection and other management services in exchange for fees that range from a reimbursement of the
Company’s costs to a percentage of the managed entities billed charges, less contractual allowances. These
contracts are for terms of up to five years and are usually cancelable on short notice, Revenue from the
management contracts is recognized when the services are rendered and is included in other revenue.

Shipping and Handling Costs ‘

Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales. 5
|

Interest Rate Swap Agreements '

The Company enters into interest rate swap agreements as a means of managing its interest rate exposure.
The differential to be paid or received is recognized over the life of the agreement as an adjustment to interest
expense. The interest rate swap is designated as an effective cash-flow hedge. The fair value of the swap is
recorded on the balance sheet, with changes in the fair value included in other comprehensive loss.
|

i

b

Segment Disclosures i
|

SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, establishes
standards for the way that public business enterprises that are required to file financial statements with the
Securities and Exchange Commission report information about operating segments in annual financial
statements and requires that those enterprises report selected information about operating segments in interim
financial reports. SFAS No. 131 also establishes standards for related disclosures about products and services,
geographic areas and major customers. The Company manages its business in one operating segment.

Earnings Per Share ‘
!

The Company presents earnings per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share. All
per share amounts have been calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each
period. Diluted earnings per share are adjusted for the impact of common stock equivalents using the treasury
stock method when the effect is dilutive. A reconciliation of the basic and diluted weighted average shares
outstanding is as follows at June 30: ‘o

2001 2002 2003
Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding used as the denominator in the basic . ;
earnings per share calculation............... A 37,491,744 39,547,712 47,509,682
Additional shares assuming exercise of dilutive _
stockoptions. ....... ... . 1,696,550 1,371,913 933,041

Weighted average number of common and equivalent !

shares used as the denominator in the diluted ;
earnings per share calculation..................... 39,188,294 40,919,625 48,442,723




ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements. Management makes its best estimate of the ultimate outcome for these
items based on historical trends and other information available when the financial statements are prepared.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are recognized in accordance with
accounting principles for the estimate, which is typically in the period when the new information becomes
available to management. Estimates are used primarily in recording the allowance for doubtful accounts,
refundable credit balances, self-insurance accruals, income tax liabilities and impairment tests on goodwill.

During the March 2003 quarter, we analyzed historical collection rates and other data used in estimating
the allowance for doubtful accounts. Our calculations indicated that the accounts receivable reserve needed to
be increased. As a result of the new information obtained through the analysis completed subsequent to the
March 2003 quarter, in the third quarter of fiscal year 2003 we recorded a net $49 million charge to bad debt
expense and increased the allowance for doubtful accounts related to the accounts receivable of the SPS
division.

Risk Management

The Company maintains a self-insured medical and dental plan for employees. Claims are accrued under
these plans as the incidents that give rise to them occur. Unpaid claim accruals are based on the estimated
ultimate cost of settlement, including claim settlement expenses. The Company has entered into a reinsurance
agreement with an independent insurance company to limit its losses on claims. Under the terms of this
agreement, the insurance company will reimburse the Company for individual claims generally in excess of
$200,000 and when total claims exceed an aggregate amount based on the number of covered lives. These
reimbursements are included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141, Business
Combinations, which requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for
under the purchase method. SFAS No. 141 also sets forth guidelines for applying the purchase method of
accounting in the determination of intangible assets, including goodwill acquired in a business combination,
and expands financial disclosures concerning business combinations completed after June 30, 2001. The
adoption of SFAS No. 141 did not have any impact on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations.

Effective July 1, 2001, the Company early adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,
which established new accounting and reporting requirements for goodwill and other intangible assets. Under
SFAS No. 142, all goodwill amortization ceased effective July 1, 2001, and goodwill was tested for
impairment. Impairment tests are required to be performed at the date of adoption of SFAS No. 142 and at
least annually thereafter. Absent any impairment indicators, the Company performed its annual impairment
tests during the fourth quarter.. The impairment tests performed upon adoption and in the fourth quarter of
2002 and 2003 resulted in no adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets. SFAS No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of. SFAS No. 144 removes goodwill from its scope and clarifies
other implementation issues related to SEAS No. 121. SFAS No. 144 also provides a single framework for
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ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

j
evaluating long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale. The adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 144 in fiscal

year 2003 did not have a material effect on the financial position or results of operations.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 62,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections. SFAS No. 145 requires gains and losses
on extinguishment of debt to be classified as income or loss from continuing operations rather than as
extraordinary items as previously required under SFAS No. 4. SFAS No. 145 also amends SFAS No. 13 to
require certain modifications to capital leases treated as a sale-leaseback and modifies the accounting for sub-
leases when the original lessee remains a secondary obligor or guarantor. The adoption of the provisions of
SFAS No. 145 in fiscal year 2003 did not have a material effect on the financial posmon or results of
operations.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities, which addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal
activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity. SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for
a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF
Issue No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan.
The provisions of SFAS No. 146 are effective for exit or disposal activities that lare initiated after
December 31, 2002. The adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 146 in fiscal year 2003 did not have a
material effect on the financial position or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtednéss of Others. FIN
No. 45 requires an entity to recognize an initial liability for the fair value of an obligation assumed by issning a
guarantee. The provision for initial recognition and measurement of the liability are applied to guarantees
issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The adoption of the provisions of FIN No. 45 in fiscal year 2003
did not have a material effect on the financial position or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock- Based Compensation -
Transition and Disclosure. This Statement amends SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Conmpensa-
tion, to provide for alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation. This Statement also amends the disclosure provisions of
SFAS No. 123 and Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, to
require disclosure in the summary of significant accounting policies of the effects of an entity’s accounting
policy with respect to stock based employee compensation on reported net income and éarnings per share in
annual and interim financial statements. The Company adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 on
January 1, 2003, which did not have any effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
The Company has not adopted the other provisions of SFAS No. 148.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Intérest Entities, which
clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements. FIN
No. 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if
the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not
provide sufficient equity at risk for the entity to support its activities. FIN No. 46 is effective for all variable
interest entities created after January 31, 2003. For variable interest entities acquired or created prior to
February 1, 2003, the provisions of FIN No. 46 must be applied to the first interim or annual period beginning
after June 15, 2003. The Company does not expect the adoption of FIN No. 46 to have a material effect on its
financial position or results of operations.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities. This statement amends SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Hedging Activities, by requiring that contracts with comparable characteristics be accounted for similarly and
clarifies when a derivative contains a financing component that warrants special reporting in the statement of
cash flows. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and for
hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003 and must be applied prospectively. The Company does
not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 149 to have a material effect on its financial position or resuits of
operations.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. This Statement established standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures in its statement of financial position certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after
May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 13,
2003 and must be applied prospectively by reporting the cumulative effect of a change in an accounting
principle for financial instruments created before the issuance date of the Statement and still existing at the
beginning of the interim period of adoption. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 150 to
have a material effect on its financial position or results of operations since the Company does not currently
have any financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity.

3. Business Acquisitions

Effective April 1, 2000, the Company acquired an additional 30% interest in one of its joint ventures,
Childrens Hemophilia Services, increasing its ownership in the joint venture to 80%. Childrens Hemophilia
Services is located in Los Angeles, California, and is a provider of blood clotting factors and ancillary supplies
to hemophilia patients. This transaction was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The
price paid by the Company for this acquisition was $2,086,000. Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed
were $1,788,000 and $479,000, respectively. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net
assets acquired of $1,309,000, which amounted to $777,000, was allocated to goodwill. The Company also paid
an additional $417,000 in 2001 and $417,000 in 2002 for earn-out payments based upon the achievement of
targeted earnings during the twelve-month periods ended November 2000 and 2001, respectively, as specified
in the purchase agreement for the acquisition of the original 50% interest.

The Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of Pharmacare Resources, Inc. (“Pharmacare™) and
its sister company, NCL Management, Inc. effective May 1, 2001. Pharmacare is headquartered in Elmsford,
New York, and is a provider of pharmaceutical care for certain chronic, long-term patient populations,
including those requiring IVIG. This transaction was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
The price paid by the Company for this acquisition was $25,074,000. The Company also paid an additional
$6,325,000 for a related earn-out payment based upon the achievement of certain financial results for the
twelve~month period ended December 31, 2001, resulting in a total purchase price of $31,399,000. Total assets
acquired and liabilities assumed were $3,659,000 and $1,030,000, respectively. The excess of the total
purchase price, including acquisition costs of $63,000, over the fair value of the net assets acquired of
$2,629,000 was allocated as follows: $28,153,000 to goodwill and $617,000 to acquired patient relationships.
The acquired patient relationship intangible is being amortized over five years. The Company also paid
$500,000 as consideration for an agreement with the selling shareholders not to compete with the Company in
certain product lines for a period of six years.

The Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of BioPartners in Care, Inc. (“BioPartners™) from its
sharcholders effective December 1, 2001, BioPartners is headquartered in Dayton, Ohio, and is a provider of
pharmaceutical care for certain chronic, long-term patient populations, including those requiring hemophilia
clotting factor and IVIG. As a result of the acquisition, the Company was able to increase its market share for
the distribution of these products. The purchase price paid by the Company for this acquisition was
$36,600,000. In addition, the Company also paid an additional $16,000,000 during fiscal 2003 for a related
earn-out payment based upon the achievement of certain financial results for the twelve-month period ended
December 31, 2002, resulting in a total purchase price of $52,600,000. Total assets acquired and liabilities
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assumed were $15,150,000 and $11,750,000, respectively. The excess of the total purchase‘ price, including
acquisition costs of $275,000, over the fair value of the net assets acquired of $3,410,000 was allocated as
follows: $48,487,000 to goodwill and $703,000 to acquired patient relationships. The ‘'acquired patient
relationship intangible is being amortized over five years. The entire amount allocated to goodwill is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes. The Company also paid $1,000,000 as consideration for an agreement with
the selling shareholders not to compete with the Company in certain product lines for periods of five to seven

years. |

On June 13, 2002, the Company acquired the Specialty Pharmaceutical Services' Division (“SPS
division™) of Gentiva Health Services, Inc. (“Gentiva”). The Company acquired substantially all of the assets
used in the SPS division including 100% of the outstanding stock in three of Gentiva’'s subsidiaries that were
engaged exclusively in the business conducted by the SPS division. The SPS division provides specialty retail
pharmacy and related services relating to the treatment of patients with certain costly chronic diseases. In
addition to the diseases served by the Company, the SPS division is also a leading provider of contract
pharmacy and related services to patients with pulmonary hypertension. As a result of the acquisition,
management expected the Company to become a leading provider of specialty retail pharmacy and related
services.

The aggregate purchase price paid for the SPS division was $463.8 million (including $13.8 million of
acquisition related costs) and consisted of $217.1 million of cash and 7,591,464 shares of common stock
valued at $246.7 million. The value of the common stock issued was determined in accordance with EITF
issue 99-12, Determination of the Measurement Date for the Market Price of Acquirer Securities Issued in a
Purchase Business Combination. Accordingly, January 31, 2002, became the measurement date, as this was
the first date on which the number of shares became fixed without subsequent revision. The value per share
was based upon the average market price over the period mcludmg two days before and after the measurement
date. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired . and the liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition of the SPS division (in thousands). » 4

Cash L Loo$ 19
Receivables: ‘ |
Patient accounts, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $68949 . ........... w 223,173
Other ..................... 1,991
InVentories . ..o o e . 50,087
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . ............ . i ' © 836
Total current assetS............. 276,106
Propertyandequipment..,..............ﬁ .......... B 12,086

Other assets:
Intangible assets subject to amortization (5.1 year weighted-average useful life):

Acquired patient relationships (5.0 year weighted-average useful life) .. ... o, 15,163
Non-compete agreements (6.4 year weighted-average useful life) ......... L. 2,000
Goodwill. ... . o P 1. 207,780
Other . ... e - 129
Total assets acquired. . ... .o i e . 513,264
Accounts payable ........ .. - 39,577
TACCTUEA EXPEISES . oo\t e L 9,842
. Total liabilities assumed ... .............oooiiiii . 49,419

Net assets acquired . ... ..ottt . $463,845

The entire amount allocated to goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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As planned, the Company exited the acute pharmacy business acquired as part of the SPS division in
December 2002. The Company retained the accounts receivable of the acute pharmacy business and disposed
of certain of the other assets of the business, which were immaterial. The Company has accounted for the
acute division in accordance with EITF 87-11, Allocation of Purchase Price to Assets to be Sold. In
accordance with EITF 87-11, the net proceeds from the sale of the acute division, the results of the acute
operations during the period from acquisition to disposal and the interest expense during the holding period on
the incremental debt incurred to finance the acute business have been recorded as an adjustment to the
purchase price. The results of operations of the acute division, amounting to a $4,000 and $3,919,000 loss (net
of tax benefit) during the periods ended June 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively, are excluded from the
Company’s results of operations in the accompanying financial statements. The amount of interest expense
allocated to the acute pharmacy business was $53,000 and $616,000, net of tax benefit, during the periods
ended June 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

The pro forma results of operations for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002, as if the 2001
acquisitions had occurred on July 1, 2000, and the 2002 acquisitions (including the results of the acute
pharmacy business of the SPS division) had occurred on July 1, 2001, are as follows (in thousands, except
share data):

2001 2002
Total revenues ... $1,229,841  $1,401,192
NEt INCOIME . . ot e e e e 28,998 40,279
Net income per common share;
Basic .. $ 64 8 0.86
Diluted ........... .. ... ... . ... e $ 62 % 0.84

The results of these acquisitions have been included in the Company’s results from their respective dates
of acquisition. :

4, Restructuring Charge

In connection with the acquisition of the SPS division, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of
$3,893,000 ($2,355,000, or $0.06 per diluted share, after tax) for the year ended June 30, 2002. The charge
includes a $3,553,000 write-off (of which $3,193,000 is non-cash) of a software application that was being
developed by the Company that was not implemented as a result of the decision to enhance and implement
company-wide the software application acquired with the SPS division. The restructuring charge also includes
$340,000 for future lease commitments related to facilities that were abandoned upon completion of the
integration plan related to the acquisition.

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following at June 30 (in thousands):

. 2002 2003
BqQUIPIENt ... o $17,762  $29,798
Furniture and fIXtUTES . ... o i 12,255 16,037

: 30,017 45,835
Accumulated depreciation. .. ... ... e (6,221) (14,154)

- $23,796  $31,681
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6. Goodwill and Other Amortizable Intangible Assets : ;

Amortizable intangible assets consist of the following at June 30 (in thousands): |

2002 2003
Gross Carrying Accumulated  Gross Carrying | Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount i Amortization
Patient relationships ................ $19,072 $2,333 $19,072 ‘ $5,872
Non-compete agreements ........... 5,900 1,126 5900 | 2,139
Deferred financing costs............. 7,211 456 7,818 1,976
‘ $32,183 $3,915 $32,790 $9,987

'
i
y

Amortization of deferred financing costs has been included in interest expense.

Estimated amortization expense consists of the following for the years ending June 30 (in thousands):

D004 oo - $4,543
2005 . 4,147
2006 © . N7
2007 o e 13,588
2008 e 350
The change in the carrying amount of goodwill consists of the following (in thousancjis):
Balance as of June 30, 2001 .. ... . . . .. $ 89,499
Goodwill acquired during the year ......... . ... ... .. .. ... .. ..., | 245,420
Balance as of June 30, 2002 . ... ... ... ‘ 334,919
Goodwill acquired during the year ............... e 17,590
Balance as of June 30, 2003 .. ... . i$352,509

On July 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The
Company is providing transitional, pro-forma disclosure in the table below for net income and earnings per
share for the comparative periods as if SFAS No. 142 had been adopted in those periods (in thousands, except
share data). 1“
2001 2002 2003

Reported net income . .. L e $17,255 $29,?6O $29,535
Add goodwill amortization expense, net of tax benefit.......... 1,500 P— —
Adjusted Nt INCOME . .. ..o\ ottt $18,755  §29,760  $29,535
Basic earnings per share: ‘ ! :
Reported net income ......... ... ... ..o i $ 46 § 175 8§ 62
Add goodwill amortization expense, net of tax benefit........ 04 | — —
Adjusted net INCOME . ... ... .. it e $ 5 $ 75 % .62
Diluted earnings per share: ,
Reported netincome ............. .. ... .. .., $ 4§ 73 % .61
Add goodwill amortization expense, net of tax benefit........ .04 ;= —

i

Adjusted netincome.......... ... ... i $ 48 $ .73 0§ 61
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7. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following at June 30 (in thousaﬁds): .
2002 2003

Revolving credit facility.......... e ceeedo $30000 0§ —
Tranche A Term Loan ....................... e 75,000 71,250
Tranche B Term Loan............ e e U 125,000 123438

230,000 194,688
Less amounts due within one year................. e 5,312 16,250

$224,688  $178,438

On June 13, 2002, the Company amended and restated its credit agreement with Bank of America, N.A.
and other participating banks (collectively the “Lenders”) to increase the size of the credit facility to
$325 million. The credit facility consists of a $125 million revolving commitment expiring June 2007, a
$75 million term loan (“Tranche A Term Loan”) due in periodic principal payments through March 2007,
and a $125 million term loan (“Tranche B Term Loan”) due in periodic principal payments through
March 2009. Amounts outstanding under the credit agreement bear interest at varying rates based upon a
LIBOR or prime rate of interest at the periodic election of the Company, plus a variable margin rate based on
the Company’s leverage ratio as defined by the credit agreement. The combination of a variable rate margin
and LIBOR base rate resulted in an effective borrowing rate of 4.36% and 3.67% at June 30, 2002 and 2003,
respectively. The credit facility is secured by substantially all assets of the Company, including a pledge of all
of the commen stock or partnership interest of each of our subsidiaries in which we own an 80% or more
interest. The Lenders’ security interest in a portion of the Company’s inventory is subordinate to the liens on
that inventory under the terms of a security agreement between the Company and one of its vendors. The
same vendor has a security interest in certain accounts receivable of the Company, which is subordinate to the
rights of the Lenders. At June 30, 2003 and 2002, the balances outstanding under the credit facility were
$194,687,500 and $230,000,000, respectively.

The credit agreement contains financial covenants, which require the Company to maintain certain ratios
with respect to leverage, fixed charge coverage, net worth, and asset coverage, as defined in the agreement.
The credit agreement also includes customary affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants relating
to transactions with affiliates, uses of proceeds, restrictions on subsidiaries, limitations on indebtedness,
limitations on mergers, acquisitions and asset dispositions, limitations on investments, limitations on payment
of dividends and stock repurchases, and other distributions. The credit agreement also contains customary
events of default, including relating to changes in control of the Company.

The credit agreement required the Company to enter into a one-year interest rate swap agreement within
60 days of June 13, 2002, to protect against fluctuations in interest rates. The credit agreement required the
interest rate swap to provide coverage in an amount equal to at least 50% of the outstanding principal amount
of the loans. On July 17, 2002, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement effectively
converting for a period of one year $120 million of floating-rate borrowings to fixed-rate borrowings with a
fixed rate of 2.175%, plus the applicable margin rate as determined by the credit agreement. On June 4, 2003,
the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement effectively converting for a period of one year
beginning July 21, 2003, $120 million of floating-rate borrowings to fixed-rate borrowings with a fixed rate of
1.14%, plus the applicable margin rate as determined by the credit agreement.

On May 5, 2003, the Company amended the credit agreement to exclude the charges, as defined in the
amendment to the credit agreement, taken in the March 2003 quarter in connection with the additional
accounts receivable reserves of the SPS division from the calculation of Consolidated EBITDA, as defined in
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the credit agreement, and to reduce the Consolidated Net Worth requirement, as defined in the credit
agreement, to allow for a reduction in the minimum net worth requirement equal to the net loss incurred in the
March 2003 quarter. The amendment also included a 25 basis point increase in interest rates per the credit
agreement for a period of twelve months beginning May 15, 2003. The Company paid fees of $607,000 in
connection with this amendment which have been capitalized in deferred financing costs. |

The Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a bank in October 199;7 in order to fix a
portion of its interest rate exposure on a line of credit. The terms of the agreement were revised and extended
on January 21, 1999, and required the Company to pay a fixed interest rate of 5.5% on a $25 million notional
amount and receive the 30-day LIBOR rate in exchange. On August 21, 2000, the Company surrendered the

swap agreement and received $350,000 in consideration for the early termination of the agreement.
\

Principal maturities of long-term debt consist of the following for the years ending June 30 (in
thousands): ' ‘

2004 . $ 16,250
2005 . ' 18,125
2006 .o © 23,750
2007 e | 32,656
2008 . PP S 59,375
AFET 2008 . oo . 44,532

$194,688

8. Income Taxes

The liability method is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities
and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected
to reverse. ;‘ :

|

Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the-following for the years ended June 30 (in thousands):

2001 2002 2003
Current: . |
Federal ... ..ottt 810,574 $15,434  $22,115
State .. ....oovvevrnnen... e 1,631 2,642 4,335
12,205 18,076 26,450
Deferred: |
Federal .. ..ot (769) 764 (6,705)
SHALE © . o et SO (103) 185 (1,493)

(872) 949 (8,198)
$11,333  $19,025  $18,252
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The provision for income taxes differed from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal
income tax rates for the years ended June 30 due to the following (in thousands):

2001 2002 2003
Income tax expense at statutoryrate ........................ $10,006 $17,075 $16,725
State income tax expense, net of federal income tax bernefit . .. .. 992 1,838 1,847
Goodwill amortization . ............ i . 276 19 18
O her o e 59 93 (338)
INCOME tAX EXPEMSE . .\ vttt et s et e i e $11,333  $19,025 $18,252

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at June 30 are as follows (in
thousands):

2002 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Accounts receivable reserves. ... .. ... i $ 4878 $ 22,829
Accrued expenses. . .. .. e PR 752 1,375
Joint venture iMVEStMENtS . . . ..o ' ettt e e e 122 125

Other. ... 202 250

5,954 24,579
Deferred tax liabilities: . » _
Property and equipment .. ...... ... e e (318) (3,543)

Intangible assets....................... P (3,736)  (11,027)

- Joint-venture INVESTMENTS . .. ... ..\ttt (329)  (240)
‘ | A (4383)  (14,810)

Net deferred 1ax assets ... ..ottt e $ 1,571 % 9,769

Management has evaluated the need for a valuation allowance for the deferred tax assets and believes
that no valuation allowance is necessary because it is more likely than not that the assets will ultimately be
realized through future taxable income from operations. ~

9, Commitments
The Company leases office space and equipment under various operating leases. Rent expense for all

operating leases was approximately $1,575,000, $2,838,000 and $7,774,000 for the years ended June 30, 2001,
2002 and 2003, respectively. :
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Future minimum payments, by year and in the aggregate, under non-cancelable operating leases with
initial terms of one year or more consist of the following at June 30, 2003 (in thousands):

2004 L e e e e e e e e e e e $ 7,145
20005 L e e 6,256
0 S 3,625
2007 e e e e " 2,047
2008 L ¥ 654
Thereafter . e e . 16

$19,743

10. Investment in Joint Ventures

Texas Health Pharmaceutical Resources, Teddy Bear Home Care/Drug Therapies, Childrens Home
Services, Childrens Biotech Pharmacy Services and Childrens National Hemophilia Care are partnerships in
which the Company has a 50% ownership interest. The Company uses the equity method of accounting for
these joint ventures. Amounts due to and from these joint ventures are classified as due to and from affiliates
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The portion of the Company’s retained earnings at June 30,
2002 and 2003 attributable to undistributed earnings of these joint ventures is $3,916, 000 and $5 187,000,
respectively.

On August 15, 2000, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with Children’s Hospital in
Washington, DC, to market, sell, provide and distribute hemophilia clotting factor and related services and
supplies. The term of the joint venture is for a period of five years unless terminated at an earlier date pursuant
to the terms of the agreement. Both companies contributed $50,000 in capital to the joint venture and will
share equally in the assets, liabilities, profits and losses. In conjunction with the formation of this joint venture,
the Company also entered into a management, service and sales agreement with the joint venture, whereby the
Company will provide specialty pharmacy and management services to the joint venture in exchange for a
management fee and the reimbursement of certain expenses.

The Company received fees for management services from the joint ventures of $1, 193,000, $1,184,000
and $1,289,000 for the years ended June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, which are recorded as other
revenues in the accompanylng consolidated statements of income,

Summary financial information for affiliated joint ventures (20 percent to 50 percent owned) accounted
for by the equity method is as follows as of and for the years ended June 30 (in thousands):

2001 2002 2003
CUITENT @SSE18 o v\ vttt ettt e e e e e e $ 8,753 $12,5394 $14,625
Property-and equipment, net and other assets ................. 69 - 55 26
Current liabilities ... ... .. . 4,114 4,5‘090 3,568
Total TEVEIUSS « . . oot ettt et et e e e e 23,359 26,963 33,173

NELINCOME .« o oo oo oot e e 2,315 4.131 3,893

11. Defined Contribution Retirement Plan /

The Company sponsors a qualified, defined contribution retirement plan under Section 401 (k) of the
Internal Revenue Code in which substantially all employees qualify for participation. The Company matches
employee contributions, as defined in the plan. The Company made annual matching contributions of

'
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approximately $189,000, $234,000 and $708,000 for the years ended June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003,
respectively. :

© 12. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

On August 17, 2000, the Company completed a stock offering of 5,400,000 shares of its common stock.
An additional 810,000 shares of common stock were sold on September 12, 2000 pursuant to the exercise of
the underwriters’ over-allotment option. All shares were issued at a price of $15.11 per share. Net proceeds to
the Company, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other expenses of the offering,
were $88.3 million.

In fiscal 2001 and 2003, the Company effected stock splits in the form of a stock dividend. All share and
per share data in the consolidated financial statements and the notes hereto have been retroactively adjusted
for the splits. )

On June 13, 2002, the Company issued 7,591,464 shares of its common stock to the shareholders of
Gentiva in connection with the acquisition of the SPS division.

Preferred Stock

In April 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors and Stockholders authorized the establishment of a new
class of undesignated preferred stock.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss includes the change in fair value of the interest rate swap that
qualifies for hedge accounting. Comprehensive income is as follows for the years ended June 30 (in
thousands): '

2001 2002 2003
Reported net income ............ ... ..ol SR $17,255 $29,760 $29,535
Unrealized loss on interest rate swap, net of tax benefit ........ A — — (68)
Comprehensive InCome. . ...t $17,255  $29,760  $29,467

Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement

In April 2003, the Company adopted a stockholder protection rights agreement (“Rights Plan”) and
issued Rights in connection with the Rights Plan in the event of a proposed takeover of the Company. The
Rights Plan is not intended to prevent transactions that provide full and fair value to stockholders. It is
intended to discourage abusive takeover tactics and to provide time for the Company’s Board of Directors to
review and evaluate what is in the best interests of the stockholders.

The Rights Plan provided that a dividend of one share purchase Right be issued for each outstanding
share of common stock to stockholders of record as of the close of business on April 28, 2003. Generally, the
Rights are exercisable only if a group (other than certain existing shareholders) acquires 15% or more of the
Company’s common stock or announces a tender offer upon consummation of which, such person or group
would beneficially own 15% or more of the Company’s common stock. Each Right entitles stockholders to buy
one ten-thousandth of a share of a new share of junior participating preferred stock at an exercise price of
$100.
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If the Rights become exercisable, a Rights holder (other than the person or group; acquiring 15% or
more) will be entitled to purchase, at the Right’s then-current price, a number of shares of the Company’s
common stock having a market value of twice such price. If after a person has acquired 15% or more of the
Company’s common stock, such person acquires the Company, each Right will entitle its holder to purchase,
at the Right’s then-current exercise price, a number of shares of the acquiring company’s common stock
having a market value of twice such price. Following the acquisition of 15% or more of the Company’s
common stock, but less than 50% by any person or group, the Board of Directors may exchange the Rights
(other than Rights owned by such person or group) at an exchange ratio of one share of the Company’s
common stock for each Right. ‘

|
13. Employee Stock Purchase Plan :

In April 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted and the stockholders approvcd the Accredo
Health, Incorporated 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). Under the ESPP, employees may
purchase shares of common stock at 85% of market price on the first day of an offering period (usually
consisting of a six-month period beginning January 1 or July 1) or the last day of an offering period, whichever
is lower. The shares are purchased at the end of each period with funds withheld from employees’ pay during
the period. A total of 455,625 shares of the Company’s common stock have been reserved for issuance under
the ESPP. Participation in the ESPP commenced on the effective date of the Company’s initial public offering
in April 1999. There were 43,082, 43,328 and 82,746 shares of common stock issued durmg the years ended
June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, pursuant to the ESPP.

14. Stock Option Plans

The Company’s Amended and Restated Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchase Plan authorizes the
grant of options to selected employees, officers and directors for up to 3,256,875 shares! of the Company’s
common stock. As of June 30, 2003, options to purchase 3,251,687 shares of stock have Been granted under
this plan. All options granted have ten-year terms and generally vest and become fully‘exermsable over a
period of four years of continued employment.

The Company’s 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan authorizes the grant of options to selected employees,
officers and directors for up to 1,687,500 shares of the Company’s common stock. As of June 30, 2003, options
to purchase 1,574,069 shares of common stock have been granted under this plan under terms similar to those
discussed above. All options granted have ten-year terms and generally vest and become fully exercisable over
a period of four years of continued employment.

The Company’s 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan authorizes the grant of options to selected employees,
officers and directors for up to 3,900,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. As of June 30, 2003, options
to purchase 2,280,157 shares of stock have been granted under this plan. All options granted have ten-year
terms and generally vest and become fully exercisable over a period of four years of c'o_ntiinued employment.

Pro forma information regarding net income is required by SFAS No. 123 and has béen determined as if
the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method| of SFAS No. 123.
Significant assumptions used by the Company in the Black-Scholes option pricing model computations are as
follows for the years ended June 30:

2001 2002 2003
Risk-free interest rate ................. 4.57% t0 6.14%  3.56% to 4.41%  1.89% to 3.15%
Dividend yield ............... . 0% 0% 0%
Volatility factor ................. . .70 65 ; .66
Weighted-average expected life ......... 4.0 years 4.0 years . 4.0 years
Estimated turnover ................... 0% 8% 8%
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The Black-Scholes option model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options,
which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the
input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s
employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because
changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s
opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its
employee stock options.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over
the options’ vesting period. The Company’s pro forma information for the years ended June 30 is as follows (in
thousands, except share data):

2001 2002 2003

Net income, as reported . . ...t $17,255  $29,760 $ 29,535
Less stock-based employee compensation cost, net of related

tax effects, applying the fair value method to all awards . . ... (2,381) (3,860) (10,949)
Pro forma netincome............. ... ... $14,874  $25900 $ 18,586
Earnings per share: ' A

Basic —asreported ..................... DI e $ 046 § 075 $ 062

Basic -proforma .............. ... ... ... R $ 040 $ 065 $ 0.39

Diluted — as reported ............. .. i $ 044 $ 073 § 061

Diluted - pro forma ............ ..o $ 038 §$ 064 $ 0.39

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity and related information for the years ended June 30 is
as follows: ' :

2001 2002 2003
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average . Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price -
Outstanding at :
beginning of year... 2,672,030 $ 2.65 2,695,772 $ 9.02 4,486,022 $20.18
Granted ............ 1,119,590 18.73 2,281,614 30.54 677,150 30.81
Exercised ........... (937,601) 2.60 (427,423) 5.15 (762,616) 7.90
Forfeited............ (158,247) 8.20 (63,941) 1997 (376,824) 29.90
Outstanding at end : :
of year ..... SN 2,695,772 $ 9.02 4,486,022 $20.18 4,023,732 $23.38
Exercisable at end A
ofyear ........... 1,459,544 $ 3.04 1,585,907 $ 6.95 1,707,472 $16.60
Weighted-average fair
" value of options
granted during

the year .......... $  10.69 $ 1596 $ 1554
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Options Outstanding ‘ Options Exercisable
Weighted- |
: Average Weighted- I Weighted-

Range of Number = | Remaining Average Number Average
Exercise prices Outstanding Contractual Exercise Exercisable . Exercise

(150% increment) June 30, 2003 Life Price June 30, 2003 f Price
$ 089 - 0.89 417,313 3.0 years $ 0.89 417,313 J $ 0.89
1.78 - 1.78 171,051 4.6 years 1.78 171,051 1.78
474 - 4.74 5,786 5.8 years 4.74 5,786 | 4.74
8.59 - 8.70 117,135 6.4 years 8.60 © 94,592 | 8.59
12.99 - 18.81 787,134 7.4 years 18.39 365,567 18.50
. 20.03 - 29.25 321,555 8.7 vears 22.83 86,640 23.00
31.22 - 37.08 2,203,758 9.0 years 32.02 566,523 31.89
$ 0.89 - 37.05 4,023,732 7.8 years $23.38 1,707,472 ,( $16.60

15. Contingencies ' |

Commencing April 8, 2003, the Company and certain officers and directors were named as defendants in
several substantially similar putative class action lawsuits filed in the United States District Court for the
Western District of Tennessee, Memphis Division. The various complaints have been ¢onsolidated into a
single action, but the Court has not appointed a Lead Plaintiff. Once the Lead Plaintiff is appointed, a
Consolidated Complaint will be filed to which the Defendants will respond. The lawsuitsj filed to date name
the Company, David D. Stevens, Joel Kimbrough and in one case John R. Grow, as Defendants. One of the
lawsuits also named the Company’s former independent auditor, Ernst & Young LLP, as a defendant. The
lawsuits allege violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10(b}(5)
promulgated thereunder, and Section 20 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The putative class
representatives seek to represent a class of individuals and entities that purchased Company stock during the
period June 16, 2002 through April 7, 2003 and who supposedly suffered damages from the alleged violations
of the securities laws. The Company believes that the claims asserted in the putative class action lawsuits are
without merit. . _ ’ ‘

In addition, two purported derivative lawsuits were filed in the Circuit Court of Shelby County,
Tennessee for the Thirtieth Judicial District at Memphis. These actions were consolidateq and a Consolidated
Derivative Complaint was filed on July 28, 2003. The derivative action names Company officers, directors and
a former director; David D. Stevens, John R. Grow, Kyle J. Callahan, Kevin L. Roberg, Kenneth R.
Masterson, Kenneth J. Melkus, Dick R. Gourley, Nancy Ann Deparle, Joel R. Kimbrough, Thomas W. Bell,
Jr., and Patrick J. Welsh; as defendants. The derivative lawsuit alleges that the defendants breached fiduciary
duties owed to the Company by engaging in the same alleged conduct that is the basis of the putative class
action lawsuits. On behalf of the Company, the derivative complaint seeks compensatory damages from the
defendants and the disgorgement of profits, benefits and other compensation received byithe defendants. The
Company believes that the claims asserted in the derivative lawsuit are without merit. J

Also, from time to time, the Company is involved in lawsuits, claims, audits and investigations arising in
the normal course of its business. In the Company’s opinion, in the aggregate these lawsuits, claims, audits and
investigations should not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, or
results of operations. In addition, the business that the Company acquired from Gentiva Health Services, Inc.
has several lawsuits and claims related to its historic operation by Gentiva, which are being controlled by
Gentiva and for which the Company is entitled to indemnification from liability by Gentiva.

[
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ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

16. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Quarterly financial information for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2003, is summarized below (in
thousands, except share data):

2003
Fourth
First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Quarter
As Previously As Previously As Previously
Reported As Restated Reported As Restated Reported As Restated
Total revenues. ......... $321,765 $316,661 $364,402 $369,506 $366,569 $358,113  $329,056
Operating income (loss) 25,877 25,427 30,391 31,582 (26,787) (27,997) 30,383
Income (loss) before
income taxes ......... 23,318 22,497 27,877 28,698 (29,308) {30,851) 27,443
Net income (loss) ...... 13,970 13,463 17,049 17,556 (17,769) (18,723) 17,239
Net income (loss) per
common share:
Basic ............... 0.30 0.29 0.36 0.37 0.37) (0.39) 0.36
Diluted.............. 0.29 0.28 0.35 0.36 (0.37) (0.39) 0.36
2002
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Total revenues ...t $126,648 $160,186 $178,497  $188,242
Operating income . ... .......ovoieiinnn.. 9,409 11,833 14,974 13,483
Income before income taxes.................. 9,604 11,805 14,679 12,697
NEtINCOME . .. oottt e e 5,877 7,217 8,988 7,678
Net income per common share:
Basic ........... 0.15 0.18 0.23 0.19
Diluted ........... . -0.15 0.18 0.22 0.18

The financial data for the first, second and third quarters of fiscal 2003 have been restated from those
reported in the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Forms 10-Q due to a change in the timing of the recognition
of revenue. For revenue recognition purposes, prior to April 1, 2003, the Company considered the delivery
criteria to have been met when product was shipped to its patients, and the Company had no further obligation
related to such product. The Company has now determined that the delivery criteria are met when the product
has been delivered to the patient (which typically occurs one day after shipment), and the Company has no
further obligation related to such product. The change was not material to the financial position or results of
operations for the four quarters included in and for the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002 because those
periods ended on a day in which shipments were immaterial.
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ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED

SCHEDULE IT — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS; -
(IN THOUSANDS) |

Col. A Col. B . ol C Col. D Col. E
Additions j
Charged to !
: Costs Charged to : Balance at
Balance at and Other ! End of
Description Beginning of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period
Year ended June 30, 2001: ' |
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 8,395 $ 6,131 $ —_ $ 3,718(2) $ 10,808
Year ended June 30, 2002: ‘
b
Allowance for doubtful accounts 10,808 5,833 69,412(1)  4,295(2) 81,758
Year ended June 30, 2003: ‘ ‘ ,
Allowance for doubtful accounts 81,758 87,418 42,§35(2) 126,541

(1) Allowance as a result of the SPS and BioPartners acquisitions

(2) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized in the City of Memphis, State of Tennessee, on the 29th day of September, 2003.

ACCREDO HEALTH, INCORPORATED

By: /s/ DaviD D. STEVENS

David D. Stevens
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer




KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints David D. Stevens, John R. Grow and Joel R. Kimbrough and either of them (with
full power in each to act alone) as true and lawful attorneys-in-fact with full power of substitution, for him and
in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact,
_ or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Re;ﬂort on Form 10-K
has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated. |
i
' . : . |
/s/ DaviD D. STEVENS Chairman of the Board, Chief September 29, 2003
David D. Stevens Executive Officer and Director \
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ JOEL R. KIMBROUGH Senior Vice President, Chief Séptembcr 29, 2003
Joel R. Kimbrough Financial Officer Treasurer ‘

(Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

/s/  Joun R. GRow President and Director September 29, 2003
John R. Grow 1‘
/s/  KYLE J. CALLAHAN Sr. Vice President and Director September 29, 2003

Kyle J. Callahan

i

/s/ KENNETH R. MASTERSON Director September 29, 2003
Kenneth R. Masterson i

/s/ KENNETH J. MELKUS Director September 29, 2003
Kenneth J. Melkus |

/s/  KEVIN L. ROBERG Director September 29, 2003
Kevin L. Roberg :

/s/ Dick R. GOURLEY Director September 29, 2003
Dick R. Gourley ‘

/s/ NANCY-ANN DEPARLE Director Septcmber 29, 2003
Nancy-Ann DeParle ‘
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Exhibit
Number - . Description of Exhibits

2.1 — Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 2, 2002, by and between Accredo Health,
Incorporated, Gentiva Health Services, Inc. and the Sellers named therein (incorporated by
reference to Annex A of the joint proxy statement-prospectus included in our Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (File Number 333-82396)). :

3.1 — Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Accredo Health, Incorporated
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
Number 333-62679)).

3.2 — Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of Accredo Health, Incorporated
(incorporated by reference to. Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2000).

3.3 — Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of Accredo Health, Incorporated
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2002). '

3.4 — Amended and Restated Bylaws of Accredo Health, Incorporated (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)).

3.5 — Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the ﬁscal quarter ended March 31, 2003).

4.1 — Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)).

4.2 — Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement, dated April 17, 2003, between the Company and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, As Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2003).

10.1 — Accredo Health 1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to
our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)).

10.2 — Accredo Health, Incorporated 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Annex E of the joint proxy statement-prospectus included in our Registration Statement on
Form S-4 (File Number 333-82396)). '

10.3 — Accredo Health 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7
to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)).

10.4 — Nova Holdings, Inc. and its Subsidiaries Stock Option and Restricted Purchase Plan, as
amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)). -

10.5 — Registration Rights Agreement dated May 31, 1996 among the Company, Welsh, Carson,
Anderson & Stowe VII, L.P. and certain other investors (incorporated by reférence to Exhibit
10.10 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)).

10.6 — Amendment Number One to the Registration Rights Agreement dated October 27, 1997 among
the Company, Welsh, Carson, Anderson & Stowe VII, L.P. and certain other investors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
Number 333-62679)).

10.7 — Amendment Number Two to the Registration Rights Agreement dated July 24, 1998 among the
Company, Welsh, Carson, Anderson & Stowe VII, L.P. and certain other investors (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 {File Number 333-
- 62679)).
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10.8 — Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of June 5, 1997 among Dianne R. Martz, AB Charlton,
111, the Company and Horizon Health Systems, Inc. (incorporated by reference :ito Exhibit 10.17
to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)). ;

10.9 — Non-Disclosure and Non-Compete Agreement dated as of June 5, 1997 by and among Horizon
Health Systems, Inc., the Company and Dianne R. Martz (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.18 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)). |

10.10 — Grant Agreement dated as of June 3, 1997 by and between Kyle Callahan and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to our Registration Statement on Form S 1 (File
Number 333-62679)).

10.11 — Subscription and Restriction‘Agreerﬁent dated as of June 5, 1997 by and bctweén the Company
and Kyle Callahan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to our Reglstratlon Statement on
Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)). \

10.12 — Refunds Payable Escrow Agreement dated June 5, 1997 among First American’ National Bank,
Nova Holdings, Inc. and Dianne Martz and A.B. Charlton, III (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.26 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)).

10.13 — Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of June 13, 2002 among Accredo Health,
Incorporated as Borrower, Certain Subsidiaries of the Borrower as Guarantors and The Lenders
Named Therein and Bank of America, N.A. as Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.13 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002).

10.14 — Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement dated as of June 13, 2002 by and arhong the parties
identified as ‘Pledgors’ and Bank of America, N.A. as collateral agent (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.14 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002).

10.15 — Amended and Restated Security Agreement dated as of June 13, 2002 by and émong the parties
identified as ‘Grantors’ and Bank of America, N.A. as collateral agent (1ncorporatcd by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2002).

10.16 — ISDA Master Agreement dated August 7, 1997 between NationsBank of Tennessee, N.A. and
Nova Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to our Reglstranon Statement
on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)).

|

10.17 — Amended and Restated General Partnership Agreement of Children’s Hcmophilia Services
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
Number 333-62679)). ‘

10.18 — Amendment Number One to Amended and Restated General Partnership Agreement of
Children’s Hemophilia Services and Restrictive Agreement dated January 5, 2000 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2000).

’ |

10.19 — First Amendment to Amended and Restated General Partnership Agreement éf Children’s
Hemophilia Services dated June 30, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2000).

10.20 — Hemophilia Therapy Business Management, Services and Sales Agreement, dated November 10,
1998 between Horizon Health Systems, Inc., a Tennessee corporation, and Children’s
Hemophilia Services, a California general partnership (The Company has obtained confidential
treatment with respect to certain portions of this Exhibit.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.63 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-62679)).
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10.21 — Amended and Restated Distribution and Services Agreement effective as of January 1, 2000 by
and between Biogen, Inc. and Nova Factor, Inc. (The Company has obtained confidential
treatment with respect to certain portions of this Exhibit.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2000).

10.22 — Additional Services Agreement dated January 1, 2000 by and between Biogen, Inc. and Nova
Factor, Inc. (The Company has obtained confidential treatment with respect to certain portions
of this Exhibit.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2000).

10.23 — Amendment to Amended and Restated Distribution and Services Agreement and Additional
Services Agreement dated as of May 1, 2001 between Biogen, Inc. and Nova Factor, Inc. (The
Company has obtained confidential treatment with respect to certain portions of this Exhibit.)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2001).

10.24 — Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement, dated January 1, 1998, by and between Nova
Factor, Inc. and Genzyme Corporation (The Company has obtained confidential treatment with
respect to certain portions of this Exhibit.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1999).

10.25 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of David Stevens dated May 31, 1996 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.46 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-
62679)).

10.26 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of Joel R. Kimbrough dated May 31, 1996 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.47 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-
62679)).

10.27 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of John R. Grow dated May 31, 1996 (incorporated by
. reference to Exhibit 10.48 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-
62679)).

10.28 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of Kyle Callahan dated September 3, 1997 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.49 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-
62679)).

10.29 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Patrick J. Welsh dated February 9, 1998
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
Number 333-62679)). '

10.30 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Ken Melkus dated February 9, 1998 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-
62679)).

10.31 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of Kyle Callahan dated February 9, 1998 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.52 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-
62679)).

10.32 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kenneth R. Masterson dated April 30, 1998
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
Number 333-62679)).

10.33 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of Thomas W. Bell, Jr. dated July 10, 1998 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.55 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File Number 333-
62679)).

10.34 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Patrick J. Welsh dated November 10, 1999

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 1999).
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10.35 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kenneth J. Melkus dated November 10, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 1999).

10.36 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kenneth R. Masterson dated November 10, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 1999).

10.37 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kevin L. Roberg dated November 10 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 1999).

10.38 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kevin L. Roberg dated November 18 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 1999). ‘

10.39 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Patrick J. Welsh- dated November 1 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Repor‘t on Form 10 Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2000). :

10.40 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kevin L. Roberg Dated November, 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2000). ‘

10.41 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kenneth J. Melkus dated November 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2000}.

10.42 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kenneth R. Masterson dated November 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 -Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2000). \

10.43 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Dick R. Gourley dated November 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2000).

10.44 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Dick R. Gourley dated November 16, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2000).

10.45 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Patrick J. Welsh dated November 1, 2001
{(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2001). ‘

10.46 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kevin L. Roberg dated November 1, 2001
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form ! 10 -Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2001). f

10.47 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kenneth J. Melkus Dated November 1, 2001
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form.10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2001). |

10.48 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kenneth R. Masterson dated November 1, 2001
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form; 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2001). !

10.49 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Dick R. Gourley dated November 1, 2001

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2001).
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10.50 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of David Stevens dated November 1, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2000).

10.51 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of John R. Grow dated November 1, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2000).

10.52 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of Joel R. Kimbrough dated November 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2000).

10.53 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of Thomas W. Bell, Jr. dated November 1, 2000
"~ (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2000).

10.54 — Incentive Stock Option Agreement of Kyle J. Callahan dated November 1, 2000 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
December 31, 2000)..

10.55 — Stock Option Agreement of David Stevens dated September 3, 2002 (incorporated by reference
"~ to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the fiscal quarter ended September
30, 2002).

10.56 — Stock Optlon Agreement of John R. Grow dated September'3 2002 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September
30, 2002).

10.57 — Stock Option Agreement of Joel R. Kimbrough dated September 3, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2002).

10.58 — Stock Option Agreement of Kyle J. Callahan dated Septembcr 3, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2002).

10.59 — Stock Option Agreement of Barbara H. Biehner dated June 24, 2002 ‘(incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September
30, 2002).

10.60 — Stock Option Agreement of Barbara H. Biehner dated September 3, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
September 30, 2002).

10.61 — Employment Agreement effective as of September 1, 2001 between Accredo Health,
Incorporated and David D. Stevens (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002).

10.62 — Employment Agreement effective as of Septenlber 1, 2002 between Accredo Health,
Incorporated and John R. Grow (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002).

10.63 — Employment Agreement effective as of September 1, 2001 between Accredo Health,
Incorporated and Joel R. Kimbrough (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002).

10.64 — Employment Agreement effective as of September 1, 2002 between Accredo Health,
Incorporated and Kyle J. Callahan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2002).
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10.65 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Nancy-Ann DeParle dated November 1, 2002
- (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2002).

10.66 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Nancy-Ann DeParle dated November 19, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2002).

10.67 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kevin L. Roberg dated November l 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2002).

10.68 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kenneth J. Melkus dated November 1, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form lO Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2002). )

10.69 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Kenneth R. Masterson dated November 1, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2002).

10.70 — Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Dick R. Gourley dated November 1 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2002). i

10.71 — Employment Agreement dated as of January 7, 2002 between Accredo Health Incorporated and
" Steve Fitzpatrick (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2002). |

10.72 — Employment Agreement dated as of January 21, 2002 between Accredo Health Incorporated
and Barbara H. Biehner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2002).

10.73 — Stock Option Agreement of Thomas W. Bell, Jr. dated September 3, 2002

10.74 — Employment Agreement eﬁectrve as of September 1, 2001 between Accredo Health
Incorporated and Thomas W. Bell, Jr. ‘

10.75 — Stock Option Agreement of Steve Fitzpatrick dated August 1, 2001.
10.76 — Stock Option Agreement of Steve Fitzpatrick dated January 7, 2002,
10.77 — Stock Option Agreement of Steve Fitzpatrick dated September 3, 2002.

16.1 — Letter from Ernst & Young LLP regarding change in certifying accountant (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 16.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A dated May 19 2003).

21.1 — Subsidiaries

23.1 — Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP ' ’ ’
23.2 — Consent of Ernst & Young LLP _ '
24.1 — Power of Attorney (contained on the signature pages of this report)

31.1 — Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Sectron 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 — Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Sectron 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ,1

32.1 — Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted-pursuant to section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 T

32.2 — Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to sectlon 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

'
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